051

## Report

## 'Leave no one behind' – five years into Agenda 2030

Guidelines for turning the concept into action

Emma Samman, José Manuel Roche, Moizza Binat Sarwar and Martin Evans

January 2021



Readers are encouraged to reproduce material for their own publications, as long as they are not being sold commercially. ODI requests due acknowledgement and a copy of the publication. For online use, we ask readers to link to the original resource on the ODI website. The views presented in this paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of ODI or our partners.

This work is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 4.0.

Cover photo: A young girl walks to school in Ghana.  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{O}}$  Arne Hoel / The World Bank

## Acknowledgements

We are grateful to our peer reviewers for their feedback and comments, which very much improved the paper: Francesca Bastagli (ODI), Vidya Diwakar (ODI), Pauline Rose (University of Cambridge) and Polly Vizard (LSE).

We also acknowledge Sabina Alkire (Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative (OPHI)) for her guidance on the Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI); Rachel Gisselquist (UNU WIDER) for sharing references on horizontal inequalities; Alexis Le Nestour and Justin Sandefur (Center for Global Development) for guidance on the DHS literacy indicator and making available their Stata do files; Besinati Mpepo (World Vision) for discussion of citizen-generated data on the Sustainable Development Goals; and Gastón Yalonetzky (University of Leeds) for methodological advice on the Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition.

We thank Oluseyi Okpaise and Jessica Rennoldson for coordinating the paper's production, Matthew Foley for editing, Sean Willmott for layout and graphic design and Katie Forsythe for proofreading.

The report was funded by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. Findings and conclusions are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the positions or policies of the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.

## **Contents**

Acknowledgements List of boxes, tables and figures			
11			
Ех	ecuti	ve summary	14
1	Intro	oduction	17
	1.1	The SDGs and the 'leave no one behind' agenda	17
	1.2	Left-behind groups and left-behind countries	18
	1.3	Importance of the LNOB agenda	18
	1.4	Structure of the report	19
2	'Leave no one behind' and the Sustainable Development Goals		21
	2.1	How LNOB became a guiding principle for the SDGs	21
	2.2	Key analytical elements of LNOB in MICs	24
	2.3	How has LNOB been interpreted and applied?	30
3	Identifying and profiling the 'left behind'		36
	3.1	Ending poverty in all its forms (SDG1)	37
	3.2	Inequalities in nutrition and health (SDG2 and SDG3)	46
	3.3	Intersecting inequalities in education (SDG4)	51
	3.4	How group-based disadvantage is reflected in access to services and their quality	60
	3.5	Shared prosperity and the incomes of the relatively poor (SDG10)	62
	3.6	Group-based income inequality (SDG10)	64
	3.7	Extending these results	66
4	How	r can the agenda be taken forward?	67
	4.1	Operationalising LNOB through national-level policies	67
	4.2	Ways forward on policy-making: national and international	74

References		89
4.5	Conclusions	86
4.4	Financing: levels, disparities and ways forward	81
4.3	Collection and use of data to further the LNOB agenda	76

## List of boxes, tables and figures

#### Boxes

Box 1	Key international development actors actively advancing an LNOB agenda	31
Box 2	Methodology highlights	38
Box 3	The UNDP/OPHI Multidimensional Poverty Index	43
Box 4	Overlapping deprivations and the intensity of poverty	45
Box 5	Monitoring group disparities throughout a distribution	50
Box 6	Issues with small samples in LNOB analysis	56
Box 7	The Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition	58
Box 8	Measuring disparities in service access: the Composite Coverage Index and concentration index	60
Box 9	Social movements and the reduction of group-based inequality	68
Box 10	A suggested template for reporting on LNOB in VNRs	75
Box 11	Challenges to collecting household survey data on left-behind groups	77
Box 12	Initiatives using available data to highlight group-based deprivation and commitment to LNOB	79
Box 13	The Inclusive Data Charter and its impact on official statistics	80
Box 14	Can aid reduce group-based inequalities? Evidence from Nigeria	86
Box 15	Leave no country behind	88

#### **Tables**

Table 1	Absolute difference in income poverty headcount between groups	40
Table 2	Trends in the Composite Coverage Index and in child mortality in Nepal, 2006–2016	63

#### **Figures**

Figure 1	Changes in income poverty headcount ratio by group, Brazil, 2002–2015	39
Figure 2	Average annual rate of income poverty reduction by group in Brazil, 2002–2015	40
Figure 3 line and th	Poverty trends by region and the national average in Brazil according to the \$5.50 PPP poverty line \$1.90 PPP poverty line in Brazil, 2002–2015	41
Figure 4 population	Poverty gaps and intensity for national average, Black and Mixed-Race and Indigenous is in Brazil, 2002–2015	42
Figure 5	Multidimensional poverty reduction by regions in Nepal and Nigeria	43
Figure 6	Multidimensional Poverty Index dimensional decomposition, Nepal 2013–2018	44
Figure 7 Nepal and	Absolute difference in stunting between most disadvantaged region and the average, Nigeria	47
Figure 8	Levels of stunting for each quintile and the national average in Nepal and Nigeria	48
<b>Figure 9</b> 10-year pe	Percentage contribution of each quintile to average decline in stunting among children over a eriod in Nepal and Nigeria	48
Figure 10	Changes in child malnutrition relative ratio by group in Nepal and Nigeria	49
Figure 11 the averag	Changes in the relative ratio of child mortality between disadvantaged population groups and je in Nepal and Nigeria	51
Figure 12	Lower secondary completion by gender in Nepal and Nigeria	52
Figure 13	Differential access to good-quality education	54
Figure 14	Intersecting inequality in education, Nigeria, 2008 and 2018	56
Figure 15	Share of between-group inequality in years of schooling, Brazil, 2002–2015	57
Figure 16	Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition changes in years of schooling, Brazil 2002/2015	59
Figure 17	Trends in Nepal by quintile for Composite Coverage Index and child mortality rate, 2006–2016	61
Figure 18 Nepal by s	Annual average rate of improvement in the Composite Coverage Index and child mortality in social and economic group, 2006/2011 and 2011/2016	62
<b>Figure 19</b> in Brazil, 2	Annual average rate of income growth of the bottom 40% and the national average 2002–2015	64

Figure 20	Growth Incidence Curve, Brazil, 2002–2015	64
Figure 21	Comparison of median income per capita between groups, Brazil, 2002 and 2015	65
Figure 22	Absolute increases in per capita income by quintile groups, Brazil, 2002–2015	66
Figure 23	Share of countries meeting prescribed spending targets and average spending on education	ation and
health as a	share of GDP	82

## Acronyms

B40	bottom 40%
CBMS	Community-Based Monitoring System
CCI	Composite Coverage Index
CPA	Comprehensive Peace Accord
CRII	Commitment to Reducing Inequality Index
CS0	civil society organisation
DFID	UK Department for International Development
DHS	Demographic Health Survey
DTP	diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis vaccination
EFA	Education for All
EFHC	Extended Essential Free Health Care
EU	European Union
FCD0	UK Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office
FCHV	female community health workers
FGT	Foster Greer Thorbecke
GDP	gross domestic product
GIZ	Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit
GNECC	Ghana National Education Campaign Coalition
GNI	gross national income
GPSDD	Global Partnership for Sustainable Development Data
GRID	Group-based Inequality Database
HCP	Human Capital Project
HIC	high-income country
HLP	UN High-Level Panel
HLPF	High Level Political Forum
HMIS	Health Management Information System
IEAG-SDGs	Inter-agency and Expert Group on the Sustainable Development Goal Indicators
ILO	International Labour Organization
LDC	least developed country
LIC	low-income country
LMIC	low-middle-income country
LNOB	leave no one behind
MDGs	Millennium Development Goals
MIC	middle-income country

MICS	Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey
MPI	Multidimensional Poverty Index
ODA	official development assistance
OWG	Open Working Group on the SDGs
PHCC	primary health care centre
PISA	Programme for International Student Assessment
PPP	purchasing power parity
PWD	person with disabilities
RMNCH	reproductive, maternal, newborn and child health
SADSAWU	The South African Domestic Service and Allied Workers Union
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
SHP	sub-health post
UBI	universal basic income
UHC	Universal Health Coverage
UMIC	upper-middle-income country
UNGA	United Nations General Assembly
UNFPA	UN Population Fund
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
VNR	Voluntary National Review
WHO	World Health Organization
WIDE	World Inequality Database of Education

## Glossary

Absolute: A value set independently and not in relation to other values (for instance, not relative to overall social standards or compared to others in society). 'Absolute poverty' is set according to a monetary value for household economic welfare (consumption, income or assets/wealth) associated with a minimum level of need. Antonym: relative.

**Bias:** In statistics, bias is used to describe a systematic distortion of a result due to a factor not originally allowed for when deriving the values. More widely in social sciences it is used to denote an unbalanced appreciation of or concentration on a particular subject (e.g. closed-minded, prejudicial or unfair), and, when used in socio-economic analysis, to capture prejudice for or against a person or group, especially when unjust or unfair.

**Composite Coverage Index (CCI):** World Health Organization (WHO) composite index made up of six indicators of reproductive, maternal, newborn and child health (RMNCH) that together make up the 'Continuum of Care', which includes integrated service delivery for mothers and children from pre-pregnancy to delivery, the immediate post-natal period, and childhood.

**Concentration index**: A measure of inequality often used in health equity analysis that considers the cumulative proportion of indicator of interest (e.g. child mortality) against the cumulative proportion of the population ranked by consumption, income or a proxy measure (Kakwani et al., 1997; Li et al., 2017).

**Difference:** The arithmetic result of comparing or subtracting one value from another. Difference can indicate potential inequality but is not equivalent.

**Discrimination:** An action or practice that excludes or results in unjust or prejudicial treatment of a person or group of people, for instance because of their race, age or sex. 'Positive discrimination' is then used to refer to a policy that positively appreciates those groups' differences to counter such negative treatment.

**Empirical**: Evidence-based when concerned with, or verified by, observation, measurement or experience, rather than theory or pure logic. Antonym: normative.

**Equity:** The quality of being fair and impartial, especially according to natural law or right, and specifically freedom from bias or favour. The term is often used imprecisely to encompass inequality, poverty and other social and economic approaches to social hierarchy. Unequal outcomes may be equitable where they reflect choices or effort; equity may require unequal treatment depending on needs.

**Inequality**: Inequality in mathematics is the state of difference between two or more values, but in social sciences the term is used to describe a wide range of socially mediated differences. Inequality is typically viewed in a population in which members have different commodities or achievements. Inequality is often measured according to income or consumption, but the concept is equally applicable to other dimensions of well-being, such as the level of education or the degree of malnutrition (McKay, 2002). Inequality can be measured through difference in size, degree, circumstances, etc., but measures usually compare to a counter-factual state of 'equality'.

The term 'inequality' should always be used together with a clear indicator that identifies the underlying variable and its distribution, e.g. 'income inequality' or 'inequality of life chances'. Social and economic inequality are the focus of Leave no one behind (LNOB), and consequently measurement can rely on several different measures and approaches appropriate to inform policies.

*Inequality of access*: Differences in ability to obtain a service – due to social, geographical, financial or other reasons.

*Inequality of treatment:* Differences in what is provided by a service: for instance, in quality of education through class size, school funding or other reasons.

*Inequality of opportunity/life chances*: Differences in opportunity that relate to 'fixed' structural differences at birth or during childhood that arise from determining parental characteristics and social (gender, race, location) discrimination.

*Inequality of outcome*: Differences in income, consumption, qualification level, health status or other summary measures of well-being.

**Intersectionality:** Interconnected social categorisations such as race, class and gender, as represented in a given individual or group. Can be either overlapping or related interdependent aspects of discrimination or disadvantage. Clear measurement approaches will need to take account of correlation of categorical components to assess overall cumulative impact.

**Multidimensional:** A composite approach that involves more than one dimension of activity or measurement. A multidimensional approach to poverty, for instance, considers well-being in a number of indicators that combine into a composite measure. A multidimensional policy response will provide a mix of services to match different aspects of need.

Normative: Relating to, or deriving from, an evaluative standard or norm, especially of behaviour; an ethical or legal framework. Antonym: absolute.

**Poverty:** A status defined by a lack of adequate material resources necessary to achieve a desired level of minimum well-being. Poverty status is defined in relation to a threshold below which people are 'poor', and above which they are 'not poor', making poverty a binary indicator in most analysis – although different thresholds can be set, for instance a lower poverty line for 'severe' or 'food' poverty alongside a higher line based on 'all needs', to include clothing, housing and other necessities. The setting of a threshold is a politically influenced statistical exercise that is rarely purely 'scientific'. Poverty over time is increasingly recognised as important – as 'chronic poverty' (long-term) or persistent and repeating episodes of poverty with an inability to 'escape' from the risk of falling back into poverty.

Quantiles: A set of values that divide a ranked frequency distribution into equal groups, each containing the same fraction of the total population. Percentile points in the distribution will be calculated for each 100th fraction. The most common approaches use decile groups that divide into 10 equal groups, or quintile groups into five.

**Relative:** Relative values are dependent on other numbers – for instance relative to an average or other standard, or relative to another sub-group of the population (e.g. garbage collectors are relatively poorer than the median worker, and especially so compared to bankers).

**Relative poverty:** This reflects the normative standards of society rather than an absolute minimum set of needs. In the European Union (EU) it is calculated as a percentage of national average or median. Per Townsend (1979), whose approach is widely accepted, people live in poverty when '[t]heir

resources are so seriously below those commanded by the average individual or family that they are, in effect, excluded from ordinary patterns, customs and activities'.

**Resilient:** Being able to withstand or recover quickly from difficult conditions, and thus often used as an antonym to 'vulnerable'.

**Social exclusion:** Used across poverty and inequality approaches to consider non-participation in (or active discriminatory exclusion from) social norms, such as being in employment, having a home and being part of social and economic networks and the political process. Also includes non-material dimensions of deprivation, taking into account identity and social relations that engender deprivation. There is no single agreed definition.

**Vulnerable**: The quality or state of being exposed to the possibility of detriment. Often used in relation to physical threat (being attacked or harmed, either physically or emotionally), the term has been deployed extensively in wider socio-economic usage. The term 'vulnerable groups' can be ambiguously unhelpful in empirical terms without a clearly stated object – vulnerable to what?

## **Executive summary**

The Covid-19 pandemic has stalled global progress on many of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), including ending extreme poverty by 2030. Inequality is rising and hard-won gains in poverty reduction are being reversed, in rich and poor countries alike. The pandemic has also shone new light on long-standing barriers to progress in reducing inequalities – notably the concentration of persisting deprivations in groups who share certain identities (e.g. age, race or ethnicity, having a disability), places of residence (e.g. remote areas) and/or experiences (e.g. forced migration).

The 'leave no one behind' (LNOB) agenda rose to prominence as the Millennium Development Goal (MDG) era closed. It was increasingly recognised that concentrating policy on outcomes defined by national averages concealed disparities affecting the poorest groups. The LNOB focus seeks to redress this failure by making progress for these poorest groups central to the realisation of the SDGs. Countries pledged through Agenda 2030 'that no one will be left behind ... we wish to see the Goals and targets met for all nations and peoples and for all segments of society. And we will endeavor to reach the furthest behind first'. This report discusses the interpretation of the principle to date, and how to advance the agenda.

Take-up of LNOB has been highest among international actors, notably within the UN system, and among bilateral donors and civil society organisations (CSOs). Among national governments, commitment varies. With some notable exceptions, our examination of the Voluntary National Reviews (VNRs) countries submit to the UN High Level Political Forum (HLPF) each July suggests weak overall engagement with LNOB and little prioritisation of domestic policy concerns to reflect it.

The LNOB agenda – policy, data and finance – differs between middle-income countries (MICs) and 'left-behind countries', where a majority of

people experience absolute deprivations. Three distinctive features of the agenda in MICs are its insistent focus on the poorest, its call to narrow the gaps between disadvantaged groups and the rest of society, and its prioritisation of those furthest behind in policy-makers' attention. In this report, we propose an evidence-based approach by constructing illustrative LNOB profiles using publicly available household surveys for three MICs: Brazil (2002-2015), Nepal (2006–2016) and Nigeria (2008–2018). We illustrate key concepts and methods selectively for several SDG indicators: monetary and multidimensional poverty; stunting and child mortality; educational attainment and learning; interventions to support maternal and child health; and income inequality.

The evidence from these countries shows how LNOB can be interpreted in very different national contexts: reasonably inclusive development progress in Brazil; rapid progress coupled with some evidence of narrowing disparities in Nepal; and stagnation amid growing disparities in life chances in Nigeria. Our analysis seeks to distinguish three interpretations of LNOB, ranging from weak to strong: 1) all groups make absolute progress and meet the SDG target; 2) in addition, disadvantaged groups progress at least as quickly as the national average; 3) in addition, absolute inequalities in life chances between the most and least disadvantaged groups close. When considering so-called 'basic capabilities' - including being nourished and surviving early childhood - we argue that eliminating absolute gaps is essential to equalise life chances, while reducing prevailing inequalities is integral for other capabilities.

LNOB profiles can be generated from currently available data by computing simple descriptive statistics that show average levels of attainment and rates of change among different groups, and how these evolve over time. We introduce summary measures of group inequality and a decomposition analysis that helps explain how group differences contribute to inequality levels and changes. In so doing, we consider the overlap in group-based differences, illustrating how belonging to more than one disadvantaged group can amplify poverty-related outcomes, and exploring more rigorously the impact of interactions among different aspects of identity.

Past policies on group-based inequality call attention to the need for inclusive human development, as well as policies that emphasise the needs of the most disadvantaged groups. We highlight three elements of such an approach:

- **Progressive universalism**, which reprioritises the poorest groups in both the allocation of policy resources and in the timeline for expansion of programmes to the whole population.
- Anti-discrimination measures, including positive discrimination in education, the labour market and political institutions.
- Recognition of intersectionality to ensure that government welfare policies cover all population groups; we contrast the possibilities offered by 'universal plus' strategies, such as universal basic income (UBI) alongside additional supports for disadvantaged groups, and those targeting the ultra-poor through a bundle of linked supports.

Data is often cited as a constraint to LNOB, but we demonstrate that there often exists considerable data that can be re-purposed for LNOB profiling, and that the data MICs routinely collect offers a reasonable foundation for an LNOB agenda that can be refined as statistical systems improve. Above all, the need for better data should not inhibit action. We highlight existing initiatives that collect and compile available data on left-behind groups, and potential 'quick wins' in terms of generating additional evidence.

Our financing discussion contrasts MICs' capacity to afford universal policy support with actual spending. Fiscal affordability is apparent through a review of several high-performing countries' investments in health and education, which exceed both international commitments and assessments of the costs of basic universal service provision. We outline guidelines for domestic resource mobilisation their experiences suggest. But we also discuss evident disparities: left-behind groups and areas often receive less than better-off communities, despite evidence of greater need and potentially higher returns from such investment.

#### **Recommendations**

Our recommendations span concepts, evidence, policy and future research.

#### **Concepts**

- Interrogate further the relevance and use of the LNOB approach as a means of bridging debates about vertical and horizonal inequalities and links between inequality and poverty.
- Clarify the insights that an LNOB focus adds to well-established debates around social exclusion, poverty dynamics and chronic poverty.

#### **Evidence**

- Bring together existing evidence and invest further in constructing:
  - A centralised repository that contains an inventory of datasets, indicators, methodological work and practitioners' knowledge and advisory notes, to advance the identification and measurement of LNOB.
  - An evaluation database and metaevaluations on 'what works, for whom, where?'.
  - A compilation of 'political resources', such as the human rights basis and foundations for LNOB for use by governments and CSOs; case studies on political economy; and evaluations of VNRs (inclusions and omissions, quality considerations, etc.).
- Invest in 'quick wins' to increase the evidence base on left-behind groups, particularly through making administrative data accessible and citizen-generated initiatives

that collect community-level data and use it to hold policy-makers to account.

• Raise awareness of what we already know about which groups are most at risk of being left behind in each region or country, or within each SDG goal area. This would ideally take the form of a recurrent UN-sponsored report that explores different approaches to applying the LNOB concept across the world, what effects it has had and what would be an 'acceptable' level of progress by 2030.

#### **Policy**

- Embed LNOB concerns in national and international policy processes:
  - Review tools and rankings intended to facilitate an assessment of the impact of fiscal systems on vertical and horizontal inequalities and poverty, to identify those best suited to evaluate the distributional impact of reform on the most disadvantaged groups or areas and to benchmark countries' policies relative to one another.
  - The HLPF process could support a track allowing countries to report on LNOB implementation through a dedicated VNR section and a corresponding HLPF session

that requires countries to identify left-behind groups, outline policy responses and acknowledge populations missing from data and programming.

• The HLPF could encourage countries to share assessments of left-behind groups among their own populations and CSOs, thereby sparking public deliberation that can drive change at national level.

#### **Further research needs**

- Additional analysis to identify groups most at risk of being left behind and where progress has been achieved; and dissemination to stimulate public deliberation and inform policy-making.
- Generate a richer understanding of the challenges and trade-offs inherent in the LNOB agenda.
- Interrogate how countries can make LNOB fundamental in 'building back better' from Covid-19.
- LNOB in left-behind countries low-income countries (LICs), least developed countries (LDCs), fragile and conflict-affected states) should be a new focus and priority for future work.

# **1** Introduction

## **1.1** The SDGs and the 'leave no one behind' agenda

Until the Covid-19 pandemic, global reductions in extreme income poverty were described as 'remarkable and unprecedented' (World Bank, 2019: 1). While poverty reduction slowed more recently (World Bank, 2018), the world was expected to continue to make progress towards achieving the first Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) target of ending extreme poverty (see Manuel et al., 2018a; 2020). Other core aspects of human development, such as child mortality and schooling, also recorded notable improvements in many countries.<sup>1</sup> The shock of the pandemic has been a huge structural brake on progress, leading to reversals in rich and poor countries alike (Furceri et al., 2020; Laborde et al., 2020; Lakner et al., 2020; Roberton et al., 2020; UN, 2020). However, preceding and underlying the pandemic shock are longer-standing barriers.

One huge barrier arises from entrenched vertical inequalities – for example, between 1998 and 2008 the absolute income gain among the top 1% of the population was 250 times that of the bottom decile (Milanovic and Lakner, 2013).<sup>2</sup> Since the early 1980s, the 'minimum consumption floor' has increased only negligibly: '[a]t this rate of progress, extreme poverty will not be eliminated until 2278' (Ravallion, 2018). Pockets of poverty persist globally despite rising average incomes (Sumner, 2012; Wignaraja et al., 2018). Redressing these inequalities is critical to achieving social justice and increased economic growth and health, and to reducing conflict and crime (see Stewart and Samman, 2013). Persistent deprivation is often concentrated in groups sharing certain personal characteristics (e.g. belonging to a marginalised racial or ethnic group, being lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender or queer (LGBTQ+) and/or having a disability); places of residence (e.g. rural areas); and/or life experiences (e.g. forced migration). These groups face barriers to progress resulting from the intersection of complex factors, including structural discrimination, unequal opportunities to accumulate assets and limited political capital. Unequal opportunity, in turn, may translate into acute group-based difference. For example, in middle- and high-income countries:

- Across 11 EU countries in 2012, fewer than one in three Roma had a job and 90% lived in poverty, while in central and south-eastern Europe, unemployment rates are five times the population average (VoA, 2017).
- In the United States, the mortality rate of Black infants is 2.3 times higher than white infants, and Black mothers are 2.3 times more likely than white mothers to receive late or no prenatal care (OMH, 2019).
- Racial inequality explained 50% to 70% of total inequality in South Africa in the mid-2000s, and 30% to 50% in Guatemala, Panama and Paraguay (Leibbrandt et al., 2012; Elbers et al., 2005; 2008, cited in UN, 2020).
- Spatial inequalities accounted for over 60% of total income inequality in Angola and Madagascar and about 40% in Zambia (Shimeles and Nabassaga, 2017; Beegle et al., 2016, both cited in UN, 2020).

<sup>1</sup> Globally, under-five mortality fell by nearly half between 2000 and 2019, from 76.4 to 38.6 deaths per 1,000 live births; the number of children out of school fell by about 40%, from 99.7 million to 59 million, despite population growth (World Bank, 2020a).

<sup>2</sup> They report that the incomes of the top 1% increased by \$25,000 purchasing power parity (PPP) (in 2005 PPP). The absolute gain at the global median was \$400 PPP, and at the bottom decile it was \$100 PPP (p. 31, Figure 1(d)).

• In India, in 2012, rural women had an average of 4.72 years of education, less than half the average for rural men, at 9.51 years (Varughese and Bairagya, 2020).

The LNOB agenda is concerned with those countries and groups of people who have not progressed equally or sufficiently in line with the dramatic global improvements between the 1990s and the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic. The agenda seeks to focus action on the poorest and most disadvantaged, and make their progress central to the realisation of the SDGs:

As we embark on this great collective journey, we pledge that no one will be left behind. Recognizing that the dignity of the human person is fundamental, we wish to see the Goals and targets met for all nations and peoples and for all segments of society. And we will endeavor to reach the furthest behind first (UNGA Resolution 70/1, 2015).

Resolution 70/1 goes on to outline those population groups that are likely to require specific support in most countries: 'Those whose needs are reflected in the Agenda include all children, youth, persons with disabilities (PWDs) (of whom more than 80 per cent live in poverty), people living with HIV/AIDS, older persons, indigenous peoples, refugees and internally displaced persons and migrants'. It also enjoins countries to define which group identities matter most in their specific contexts.

This report reviews the LNOB commitment and demonstrates how it can be taken forward to best effect.

## 1.2 Left-behind groups and left-behind countries

The LNOB concept has been applied in two main ways – to left-behind groups within countries where the majority is non-deprived in absolute terms; and to left-behind countries where a majority of the population faces absolute deprivations by global standards. Each category requires a distinctive approach to how deprivation is defined, identified and prioritised, and in terms of the policy, financing and data requirements that follow. Notably, LICs and LDCs require a structural, aid-focused emphasis that seeks to maximise Official Development Assistance (ODA) and ensure that it reaches countries where extreme poverty is highest (see Manuel et al., 2018a; 2020). The emphasis also calls for attention to addressing conflict and other forms of fragility that characterise the poorest contexts (OECD, 2020).<sup>3</sup> In high-income countries (HICs) and MICs, relative deprivations become more important and countries rely predominantly on their own economic resources.

Our focus in this report is on MICs because we believe the LNOB agenda carries distinct implications for countries where absolute poverty is no longer a sole arbiter of targeting and prioritisation. Their economic circumstances enable them to act both to cover the 'last mile' in terms of persisting absolute deprivations, but also to close relative gaps and, ideally, absolute inequalities. Our intended audience is policymakers and practitioners tasked with developing practical measures of LNOB that illustrate trends over time and ways of responding to persisting inequalities. While in HICs the 'social exclusion' approach has sought to address similar issues (Atkinson and Marlier, 2010; Silver, 2015), this concept has attracted less attention and political traction in MICs.

#### **1.3 Importance of the LNOB agenda**

Five years on from the signing of Agenda 2030, the intent to 'leave no one behind' has become institutionalised at a global level through the VNRs countries present at each year's HLPF.<sup>4</sup> It has also featured in the strategies of selected countries, international organisations and CSOs (see Section 2.2).

The year 2020 was intended to mark the beginning of a 'Decade of Action' meant to spur

<sup>3</sup> In 2020, fragile contexts were home to 23% of the world's population and 76.5% of those living in extreme poverty globally (OECD, 2020: 10).

<sup>4</sup> To date, 205 VNRs have been presented, including some countries that have presented twice (e.g. Turkey and Uganda) and some that have presented three times (e.g. Togo).

'deep transformative change' to deliver Agenda 2030. In December 2019, UN Deputy Secretary-General Amina Mohammed announced that 2020 would be 'the year we must change course', and that a first annual UN 'moment' would take place in September to take stock of the SDG process to date, five years into the agenda, and to determine how to accelerate change. The three specific needs she highlighted included the delivery of solutions '*for those most in need*, to catalyse progress on multiple SDGs at the same time' (IISD, 2020c; emphasis added).

This ambitious undertaking has been derailed by Covid-19, which has led to setbacks in many SDG goal areas. For the first time since the end of the 1990s, the number of extremely poor people is rising (World Bank 2020b). However, such reversals cannot be considered in isolation from entrenched inequalities, which are critical in understanding the impact of the pandemic and what comes next. Certain groups are bearing the brunt of Covid-19 in terms of exposure to the disease and its economic toll – including people who live and/or work in congregate facilities such as prisons or nursing homes, homeless people, marginalised ethnic and racial groups and poorer people. These groups face a much higher likelihood of contracting Covid-19, and of dying if they do. Low-skilled workers face job losses and diminished employment prospects (with knock-on impacts on those who depend on their income, for instance through remittances), while workers with advanced levels of education are scarcely affected (Adams-Prassl et al., 2020; Bottan et al., 2020; Furceri et al., 2020; Rothwell 2020; Sánchez-Ancochea, 2020; World Bank, 2020a). Studies have highlighted the disproportionate impacts on young workers in the United Kingdom (Blundell et al., 2020), on Black and Hispanic workers in the United States (Buckley and Barua, 2020) and on women and girls worldwide (World Bank, 2020c).

The Covid-19 pandemic heightens the need for dedicated attention to the LNOB agenda, to design appropriate responses to the shock and to galvanise progress for disadvantaged and marginalised groups in the recovery. It is widely hoped that this juncture will provide an opportunity for governments to 'build back better': to take steps that address pre-existing inequalities and construct more resilient and equitable societies.<sup>5</sup> Disruptions to the 'status quo' have historically been enablers of progressive change (McDonnell et al., 2019). Even before Covid-19, discussions of 'building back better' (from shocks) emphasised the importance of inclusivity: 'building back better means ... that the entire recovery process does not leave anyone behind — i.e. that even the poorest and most vulnerable receive the support they need to fully recover' (Hallegatte et al., 2018: 2; emphasis added). This argument assumes even greater importance in addressing the impacts of a global pandemic. Bringing LNOB to the fore in relief efforts is imperative to promote recovery and ensure that future pandemics do not have such devastatingly unequal effects.

#### **1.4 Structure of the report**

This report aims to highlight the importance of LNOB, and how it can be applied. It argues that LNOB has analytical possibilities that merit more rigorous scrutiny. We consider LNOB's empirical foundations; explain how it offers a profiling framework that can identify and quantify the situation of left-behind groups in diverse MIC contexts; and discuss the implications for policy and practice. We believe that making the inequalities associated with group identity visible and providing examples of how they can be addressed can empower policy-makers and others to act and to ensure their policy responses are informed by the empirical evidence.

Our analysis focuses on three MICs – Brazil, Nepal and Nigeria – and on their experiences of economic welfare, education and health. These three countries illustrate different inequality trajectories: reasonably inclusive development progress (Brazil); stagnation amid rising group inequalities (Nigeria); and rapid progress amid some narrowing of group inequalities (Nepal).

The report is organised as follows. Chapter 2 reviews the evidence on the LNOB concept to understand its emergence, its analytical value

<sup>5</sup> The phrase was first used with this meaning in 2006, during the 2014 Indian Ocean tsunami relief effort (Office of the UN Secretary General's Special Envoy for Tsunami Recovery, 2006).

and its potential to bring about transformative change. Chapter 3 turns to how the concept can be applied in practice. It seeks to illuminate group-based inequalities focusing on current levels of attainment and trends over time, drawing primarily on publicly available household surveys for Brazil, Nepal and Nigeria. Our primary aim is to present simple ways in which the approach can be operationalised focusing on progress in reducing absolute deprivations and in gaps in attainment between the most disadvantaged groups and others. Chapter 4 discusses implementation of the LNOB approach in policy and practice, with an emphasis on the national level. We focus on the policy elements that are likely to form part of a successful approach to addressing the LNOB agenda, ways to harness existing data and evidence and guidelines for financing that can potentially reduce group-based deprivation and foster greater equality.

# 2 'Leave no one behind' and the Sustainable Development Goals

LNOB addresses two related concerns: poverty and inequality. This translates into ending absolute poverty in all its forms, and ensuring that those who have been 'left behind' (in relative or absolute terms) 'catch up' with those who have experienced greater progress (Stuart and Samman, 2017). The phrase itself is not new; indeed, it has recurred throughout history in very different guises.<sup>6</sup> In its SDG embodiment, the normative discourse emphasises the moral imperative to reach everyone, no matter how difficult or costly, and adopts a group focus in its insistence on the need to identify which groups face the greatest disadvantages, and how policy can be designed to support them. It has much in common with earlier approaches to tackling concentrated disadvantage, focused on social exclusion. This chapter examines the LNOB concept to ask three main questions: what does LNOB mean?; how did it get into the SDGs?; and how has it been interpreted and measured?

## 2.1 How LNOB became a guiding principle for the SDGs

The Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) era drew to a close with increased recognition that goals and targets had concentrated on outcomes defined by national averages. These ignored within-country inequalities (Fukuda-Parr, 2010) and undervalued the reduction of global inequalities (Fehling et al., 2013). Critiques (e.g. Kabeer, 2010) centred on how policy could focus on those better off among the poor (often referred as 'low-hanging fruit'), allowing policy-makers to ignore those who were more disadvantaged in order to achieve goals. Evidence emerged on the disparity in results for the poorest relative to the average - e.g. in underfive child mortality (Reidpath et al., 2009) and maternal mortality (Wirth et al., 2008). As this evidence accumulated, it came to influence the post-2015 development agenda.

<sup>6</sup> Nemo resideo ('leave no one behind') has long informed the history of warfare, from Greek mythological heroes rescuing those captured by the enemy to modern militaries making core commitments to recovering fallen, missing or captured personnel (https://edition.cnn.com/2014/06/09/opinion/galdorisi-leave-no-man-behind/index.html). This perspective arguably resonates with the insistence that LNOB reaches every person, and invokes the trade-off that reaching the 'left behind' could compromise the well-being of others. In social policy, the concept came to prominence in the United States No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, which sought to provide all children with a fair, equal and significant opportunity to obtain a high-quality education.

LNOB's focus on inequality was heightened by growing global debates around the accumulation of gargantuan wealth by a tiny proportion of the world's richest. The 2008 financial crisis was followed in 2011 by protests in financial centres around the world, coinciding with discussions on the post-2015 development agenda. Seminal and widely cited work on inequality was published during the build-up to 2015's decisions on the SDGs, including *Capital in the twenty-first century* (Piketty, 2014), which focused on inequality *within* countries, and the Oxfam report *Even it up* (Seery and Castoir Arendar, 2014), which focused on global inequality.<sup>7</sup>

The inclusion of LNOB in the current UN 2030 Agenda and the associated SDGs emerged from two parallel processes: the 'Post-2015 Development Agenda' initiated by the UN Secretary-General to work on the overall development agenda, and the Open Working Group on the SDGs (OWG) of the UN General Assembly (UNGA). Both worked on goals for sustainable development, but had different political compositions. The Post-2015 group (as it came to be known) comprised Global North donors and the UN High-Level Panel (HLP) - a very visible and central component of the process - had the UK Prime Minister as its lead. Meanwhile, the OWG process was run by UN member states, with substantial room for input from large civil society groups and high-profile countries from the Global South, including Brazil and Colombia.

Both groups agreed that inequality – understood as the gap in resources and income between the rich and poor (Fukuda-Parr, 2010) – needed to be reflected in the new agenda, but were divided on how to do this. Opinion was split on whether it should be a stand-alone goal, and whether certain inequalities (e.g. between population sub-groups, or 'horizontal') were more important than others (e.g. differences in wealth, income or consumption, or 'vertical'), and on what terminology would be used for inequalities.

The OWG proposed a stand-alone goal, 'Reduce inequality within and among countries'. but this was contested. The G-77 and China defended the stand-alone goal while the Western bloc moved repeatedly to drop it (Fukuda-Parr and Hegstad, 2019). The United Kingdom, Australia, Canada, France, Germany and Switzerland all submitted written statements against a stand-alone goal and favoured focusing on inequality between social groups, i.e. horizontal inequality. Meanwhile, the HLP favoured an approach that prioritised inequality between groups and recommended mainstreaming such horizontal inequality as an objective throughout the goals, rather than having a stand-alone goal. The new agenda should 'leave no one behind', and noted ethnicity, gender, geography, disability, race or other status as markers of exclusion.8

A preliminary early mention of 'leave no one behind' – in the form that echoes the current conceptualisation of the agenda – is in the report *Ending poverty in our generation*, submitted by Save the Children (2012) to the post-2015 process, which highlighted how women and children were left behind by the MDGs, and built on the collective discussion by CSOs around the issue. In 2013, the HLP's report outlined the motivation behind the promise to 'leave no one behind' as finishing the job started by the MDGs (UN, 2013).

At the conclusion of the SDG process, negotiators opted for an attenuated version of inequality that emphasised group-based inequality across the goals, with the partial exception of Goal 10, a stand-alone goal on

<sup>7</sup> The report famously demonstrated, using Credit Suisse data, that the richest 85 people in the world owned more wealth than the poorest half of the world's population combined.

<sup>8</sup> Technical attempts to influence the agenda with alternative indicators for vertical inequality goals, such as the Palma ratio (Cobham and Sumner, 2013), changed little (Fukuda-Parr, 2019): OWG and the UN HLP's roles were considered political and not technical, while the decision on the technical specifications of targets was to be decided by the Interagency and Expert Group on the Sustainable Development Goal Indicators (IAEG-SDGs) once the new development agenda was approved.

inequality. While vertical inequality was the focus of target 10.1,<sup>9</sup> targets 10.2 and 10.3 interpreted inequality reduction as the social and political inclusion of disadvantaged groups, promotion of equal opportunity and elimination of discrimination (UNDP, 2020).<sup>10</sup> In addition, SDG 10 explicitly mentions both betweencountry and within-country inequalities (and, as we discuss in the next section, the two aims require different measurement and policy approaches).

The movement from a draft discussion document (General Assembly Resolution 68/6), where the negotiations recognised that 'No target will be considered met unless it is met for *all* economic and social groupings', to the final outcome document in 2015 (General Assembly Resolution 70/1), which instead focused on 'Goals and targets met for all nations and peoples and for all *segments of society*',<sup>11</sup> highlighted the decision to disentangle vertical from horizontal inequality.

The resulting Agenda 2030 document described 'leave no one behind' as a principle that covered *all goals*, but its focus was mainly on groups and people at the bottom of the distribution. The wider inequality between the bottom and top of the distribution only survived in education target 4.5.<sup>12</sup> Inequality of wealth was not present at all, even in discussions of funding and national taxation to achieve the SDGs.

As noted in Chapter 1, UNGA resolution 70/1 pledged to leave no one behind, which it interpreted as a commitment to ensure that the SDGs would be met for all people and all countries, and to prioritise the needs of the 'furthest behind'. The Agenda goes on to provide a list of categories of people that it considers need the most attention within Agenda 2030 – e.g. children, PWDs, refugees and internally displaced persons – but it also explicitly urges countries to determine which characteristics merit focused attention within their national contexts.

The outcome document thus guided signatory governments to 'an obligation to pay special attention to groups that are relatively disadvantaged' (UNICEF, 2020a: 22), narrowing the focus of the inequality agenda to group inequalities rather than expanding it to include a focus on measures directed at the top of the income distribution (Fukuda-Parr, 2010).<sup>13</sup> Moreover, as we show below, despite acknowledgement of the wider and more radical interpretations of the LNOB agenda and its links with vertical inequality, most international donors – who are active in implementing or advocating for the implementation of the 2030 agenda – highlight

- 10 Target 10.2: By 2030, empower and promote the social, economic and political inclusion of all, irrespective of age, sex, disability, race, ethnicity, origin, religion or economic or other status. Target 10.4: 'Adopt policies, especially fiscal, wage and social protection policies, and progressively achieve greater equality'.
- 11 Emphasis added.
- 12 Target 4.5 stipulates: 'By 2030, eliminate gender disparities in education and ensure equal access to all levels of education and vocational training for the vulnerable, including persons with disabilities, indigenous peoples and children in vulnerable situations'. This is measured by indicator 4.5.1: 'Parity indices (female/male, rural/urban, bottom/top wealth quintile and others such as disability status, indigenous peoples and conflict-affected, as data become available) for all education indicators on this list that can be disaggregated'. Note the comparison of bottom with top, rather than the bottom with the average or median.
- 13 It should be noted, however, that the language under Goal 10 does not prevent a more transformative approach to LNOB. Target 10.2, for instance, urges promotion of social, economic and political inclusion of all regardless of their status, and Target 10.4 urges adoption of progressive fiscal policies that will help achieve greater equality.

<sup>9</sup> The final OWG submission containing Goal 10 of the SDGs had as its core target 'achieve and sustain income growth of the bottom 40 per cent of the population that is higher than the national average', taken from the World Bank's definition of 'shared prosperity', a vertical inequality approach (Basu, 2013). This was adapted to form Target 10.1: 'By 2030, progressively achieve and sustain income growth of the bottom 40 per cent of the population at a rate higher than the national average'.

group targeting as the main means of achieving LNOB. For instance, UNDP (2018), in fleshing out the LNOB agenda, notes specifically that:

Practically, the pledge [to 'leave no one behind'] means all governments must chart a new course aimed specifically at curbing inequalities between people, groups and places; correcting for legacies of discrimination and exclusion both between and within countries; and prioritizing and fast-tracking progress among the furthest behind (p. 8).

While the LNOB concept could clearly be interpreted in myriad ways, in this report, which seeks to outline the contours of the LNOB debate five years into the SDGs, we aim to advance the focus on group-based inequality outlined in the UNGA resolution. In the remainder of this chapter, we first discuss the key elements of LNOB in MICs and how they translate into measurement, before moving on to showcase how key stakeholders have defined the LNOB approach over five years into the 2030 agenda.

## 2.2 Key analytical elements of LNOB in MICs

LNOB can be applied to inequalities between countries, as well as inequalities within countries. Indeed, SDG 10, focused on inequality, explicitly mentions both aspects. While in normative terms the SDGs regard both elements as equally important, they have very different conceptual, measurement and policy implications.

This report focuses on within-country inequality: on deprivation concentrated in certain groups within countries, and how these groups fare over time relative to others. We focus particularly on absolute and relative deprivations within MICs, which account for some 70% of the global population and 62% of extremely poor people globally (World Bank, 2019). The poverty profile and responses to poverty in MICs differ from those in LICs in several ways. In LICs the level of absolute poverty is so high that issues of inequality require a distinctive approach, mostly focusing on disparate SDG progress, inequality among the poor and reaching the ultra-poor. In contrast, many MICs have high levels of inequality but also house a large share of the global poor. We focus on the specificities of SDGs and within-country inequality in MICs for several reasons.

First, that 'substantial "pockets" of extreme and moderate poverty can persist' while:

remaining poverty is increasingly about socio-economic inequalities such as spatial and group/horizontal characteristics and – potentially – a structural outcome of specific patterns of growth and distribution and their interaction with sub-national/spatial inequalities and horizontal/group inequalities (Sumner et al., 2012: 2).

Second, the role of inequality. Although there is little empirical foundation for the popular view that relative inequality is higher and rising among countries that have transitioned to middle-income status (Hoy et al., 2016), where rising average income is accompanied by increasing inequality 'this may impede future and more extensive poverty reduction and shared prosperity. Furthermore, inequalities may play a particular role in the reproduction of chronic poverty' (Sumner et al., 2012: 4).

Third, because of the relative and culturally specific nature of poverty (Townsend, 1979) associated with high levels of inequality. The low threshold for absolute extreme global poverty of \$1.90 purchasing power parity (PPP) does not apply in the same way to MICs. Indeed, Chen and Ravallion (2012) argue that 'weakly relative' poverty measures that incorporate relative deprivations assume more importance as countries become richer, as context-specific social norms stipulate what poverty means, and to reflect differing costs of social inclusion. These should not replace absolute considerations as it is illogical to assume only relative consumption matters. Sen (1983: 6) summarises the danger succinctly: 'A sharp fall in general prosperity causing widespread starvation and hardship must be seen by any acceptable criterion of poverty as an intensification of poverty'. In MICs, the SDG absolute poverty perspective needs to

be complemented with a relative approach to poverty and broader issues of inequality.<sup>14</sup>

Fourth, the pace of poverty and deprivation reduction tends to slow as countries progress. Even under the MDGs, analysis of trajectories for a range of indicators demonstrates that progress was harder to achieve when levels of deprivation were low (Rodríguez Takeuchi and Samman, 2015).<sup>15</sup> Ravallion (2020: 4) provides a more recent illustration of this argument for income poverty, showing that:

for both East Asia as a whole and on average for the 18 countries that have been relatively successful against poverty over the longer-term, there has been a slowdown in the pace of progress for the last 3%. The poverty rate is falling more slowly and the floor is not rising much, if at all. This suggests that 'business as usual' – even by the standards of countries doing well against poverty – will not be sufficient to eliminate this form of extreme poverty.

Finally, middle-income status also affects the ability of countries to address poverty using national fiscal resources and borrowing (Sumner, 2011; 2013; 2016). According to Glenday et al. (2019) domestic revenue accounted for 30% of GDP in upper-middle-income countries (UMICs), on average, compared with 25% in LMICs and 15% in LICs. It follows that LICs are more reliant on ODA. For example, in 2010 overall tax revenue was around 157 times the amount of ODA in UMICs and 14 times the amount in LMICs; only in LICs is the pattern reversed, with ODA contributing 1.2 times the amount of tax revenue (Hanna and Olken, 2018).

For all these reasons, more inclusive 'propoorest' growth and redistributive social policies will be needed within MICs (Sumner, 2013; Ravallion, 2020).

The focus on deprivation associated with group-based inequalities that underpins LNOB predates the SDGs. Indeed, LNOB is best understood by building on and incorporating previous concepts and measurement approaches that have been used to categorise deprivation namely poverty and inequality, poverty dynamics, social capital/cohesion and social inclusion and exclusion. Highlighting the importance of group membership and of equity to these approaches adds value in a more nuanced and 'triangulated' understanding of deprivation and helps identify granular and appropriate policy responses. The need to mitigate group inequalities also aligns with the emphasis of welfare economics on maximising utility (or indeed capability<sup>16</sup>): horizontal inequalities are not justifiable on these grounds, though some vertical inequalities may be (Stewart, 2013). The literature on 'inequality of opportunity' provides a minimum understanding of which inequalities should be dismantled, through its insistence that differential achievements reflect people's choices and efforts, rather than characteristics such as parental background, place of birth or ethnicity (see Ferreira and Peragine, 2015).

Horizontal inequalities refer to inequalities between groups associated with aspects of identity, geography or experience (Stewart, 2005;

<sup>14</sup> The World Bank's societal poverty line encapsulates this logic in taking the absolute poverty line as a minimum threshold in the poorest countries and adjusting it upwards in line with each country's median consumption (or income). Applying this measure underlines how poverty differs in richer countries. The number of 'societally poor' people has remained largely constant since 1990 even as the number of extremely poor people has fallen markedly; whereas the global societal poverty rate of 45% was one-quarter higher than the extreme poverty rate in 1990, it is presently three times as high (the figures are 28% and 10%, respectively) (World Bank, 2018: 8–9).

<sup>15</sup> They showed that different functional forms used to measure progress embodied this assumption, including logarithmic and 'S-shaped' functions, which recognised that a change closer to the upper bound was harder to achieve than one in the lower part of the distribution (Hailu and Tsukada, 2012; Karver et al., 2012; Klasen and Lange, 2012, all cited in Rodríguez Takeuchi and Samman, 2015: 10).

<sup>16</sup> A capability is a person's opportunities to achieve 'functionings' (valued beings and doings).

2016; Langer et al., 2007; Stewart and Langer, 2008).<sup>17</sup> For example, recent analysis finds that rural areas house some 80% of the world's poor (World Bank, 2018: 38) and that children are more than twice as likely as adults to live in income-poor households (Newhouse et al., 2017). Horizontal inequalities can be challenging to measure and respond to. Stewart (2016: 3) hints at the complexity:

People can be categorized into groups in many ways: by ethnicity, religion, race, region, gender, or age-group, for example, with frequent overlaps in group membership ... Dimensions of inequality include economic elements (income, employment, wealth), social elements (access to education and health and social networks), political elements (notably power at many levels, central government and local government, the bureaucracy, the army and the police), and cultural elements (recognition and respect for language, religion, dress and mores). Given this range of identity groups and of dimensions of inequality, it is clearly possible for inequalities to be increasing between some groups but not others, and similarly for some dimensions but not others.

Overlapping group membership or so-called 'intersecting inequalities' identify the complex ways in which multiple forms of discrimination combine to influence welfare. The usual approach is to consider cumulative and amplified deprivation from intersections (Kabeer, 2010; Norton et al., 2014), but, of course, not all interactions will have such amplified effect, and the level of amplification will not be purely arithmetic (if an intersectional group has three underlying categories of group membership they may not be three times worse off than their three separately categorised peers). A growing number of empirical studies demonstrate how overlapping group characteristics matter. UNESCO (2020: 67) reports that, in at least 20 countries, 'hardly any poor, rural young woman completed upper secondary school'. In Bolivia, ethnicity and place of residence were found to explain around 25% of total inequality in women's educational outcomes, but close to 40% when taken together (Lenhardt and Samman, 2015). Similarly, Rao et al. (2019) document that being poor, living in a rural area and having limited education result in health outcomes far worse than groups with any of these characteristics considered independently.<sup>18</sup>

We identify key analytical elements of the LNOB approach. A first element is its emphasis on identifying and profiling 'the most vulnerable, the poorest, marginalised and disadvantage groups' (Di Francesco and McDonnell, 2018) as defined by monetary metrics and/or other dimensions of well-being. The aim is to redress the absolute and relative deprivations the most disadvantaged groups face by reducing inequality between them and others within society. This means prioritising these groups in the reform and financing of social policy: 'putting the furthest behind first' (Stuart and Samman, 2017; Di Francesco and McDonnell, 2018; Government of Ireland, 2019).

Other aspects particular to LNOB are its understanding of group-based inequalities and of how these connect to persisting deprivation. LNOB is relational in that groups or individuals are left behind in relation to others, driven by factors including unequal power relationships, active discrimination, a lack of action, disparities in resource allocation or inequality in access to services. Goals and measurements may focus on trends that compare the bottom with the national average, but differences result from established social relationships and interactions among the various social and economic groups within a society. Furthermore, LNOB is a dynamic state. Being 'left out' may

<sup>17</sup> Stewart and colleagues largely focus on how inequalities arising from ethnicity, race or religion increase the risk of conflict.

<sup>18</sup> Other recent studies of intersecting inequalities include Kabeer (2016), Kabeer and Santos (2017), WHO (2019) and Jones et al. (2020).

be a temporary or one-off phenomenon, but being 'left behind' reflects persistent or repeated disadvantage.<sup>19</sup> This dynamic state is identified over time by following the same population sub-group in trend data (e.g. repeated crosssectional national surveys) or from following people over time using longitudinal surveys or administrative or 'big data'. We focus on repeated nationally representative survey data in Chapter 3.

Operationalising the approach requires further discussion on how group inequalities have been understood, and the implications for measuring who is being left behind and how their status changes over time.

The measurement of group-based inequality relies on identifying and quantifying the 'difference' or 'gap' in well-being that a group has relative to the rest of society (or a reference group). Groups that are further away from a reference group, e.g. the national average, can be said to be left behind – thereby linking the emphasis the concept places on 'the poorest' and on horizontal inequality. One way to identify disparities in well-being is through absolute thresholds of what constitutes an acceptable level of well-being. Monetary well-being can be measured using income poverty lines, while poverty measures that assign extra 'weight' to the depth or intensity of poverty will be useful in profiling the poorest within the poor.<sup>20</sup> Multidimensional poverty approaches allow for a non-monetary approach and for the depth and intensity of poverty to be profiled, but also enable an assessment of the extent to which people or households are experiencing overlapping deprivations.<sup>21</sup>

The size of the left behind group should be shown in both absolute numbers (population size) and as a proportion of the population (e.g. the headcount of people below a poverty line or the average income shortfall of the total population from the poverty line). The number of people is not necessarily central to the concept of being left behind, but demographic trends in fertility and life expectancy may alter the absolute number of people at risk (e.g. high fertility may increase the number of poor children even if the proportion who are poor is stable or falling). This has occurred in Nigeria, where the number of multidimensionally poor people has risen as their proportion falls (see Section 3.1).

Once disadvantaged groups have been identified, the trends and trajectories that inform LNOB can be discerned. These are mainly relative: groups can be identified as left behind in relation to a comparative reference group that demonstrates 'inclusive progress'. This reference group is typically considered to be the average or median within a society (though not exclusively; see footnote 12 on SDG target 4.5 on education). Because of LNOB's focus on the 'poorest' or 'most disadvantaged', it is most consistent and logical to compare the groups at the bottom of the distribution (when considering vertical inequality) and the 'most disadvantaged' groups (when considering horizontal inequality) to the national average (mean or median or modal group).

Ravallion (2016; 2018) illustrates this focus with reference to the consumption floor experienced by 'the poorest stratum of society' – approximately \$1 in 2011 PPP.<sup>22</sup> He finds

- 19 This aspect draws on a large body of literature focused on chronic poverty and poverty dynamics (e.g. see Baulch and Hoddinott (2000), Carter and Barrett (2006), CPRC (2014), Diwakar and Shepherd (2018)).
- 20 For example, the FGT-1 (depth) and FGT-2 (severity) measures in monetary poverty (see Foster et al., 1984) and the 'intensity' component of the Alkire and Foster (2011) adjusted multidimensional poverty metric.
- 21 Multidimensional indices include the OPHI Multidimensional Poverty Index (Alkire and Santos, 2014), the World Bank Multidimensional Poverty Index (World Bank, 2018) and the Individual Deprivation Measure (Bessell, 2015), as well as many national multidimensional poverty indices: https://mppn.org/.
- 22 Technically, this is 'a weighted mean of consumption or income below a threshold no less than \$1.90 a day, with highest weight on the poorest. If poverty has been eliminated, then the floor will have reached \$1.90 a day' (Ravallion, 2020: 4). The \$1 floor aligns with Lindgren's (2015) estimate of the 'biological floor' (p. 6).

that this has changed only modestly since 1980, despite sharp rises in average consumption, and that, at this very slow rate of progress, extreme poverty would not be eliminated until 2278:

The reason is clear: the developing world is not making enough progress in reaching the poorest – well below the \$1.90 line. Numbers of poor (by this frugal standard) are falling, which is undeniably good news. But the progress is not being shared enough by the developing world's poorest. They are not exactly being 'left behind' but pretty close to it (Ravallion, 2018: np).

This analysis highlights key elements of the LNOB approach – a focus on the poorest members in a society and their absolute progress, as well as how that progress compares to average consumption growth.

There is a risk of over-reliance on relative progress if reductions in absolute states (monetary well-being or deprivations) are not also observed, and they are likely to be insufficient to reduce absolute inequalities (Hoy, 2015).<sup>23</sup> It is therefore important to highlight the implications of a given trajectory in relative and absolute terms so that governments can make the most appropriate choices.<sup>24</sup> Take the example of income poverty among Afro-Brazilian and white populations in Brazil (Rodríguez Takeuchi and Mariotti, 2016). Between 2004 and 2012, while the probability of being poor fell for both groups, Afro-Brazilians were still 1.6 times more likely to be poor than the white population.

It follows, as we illustrate in Chapter 3, that the goal of closing gaps is compatible with multiple addictive criteria, which we list in ascending order of stringency:

- 1. All groups make absolute progress and meet the SDG target, even if inequalities increase.
- 2. Disadvantaged groups do not fall further behind: they progress at least at the same rate as the national average; if they progress at a higher rate, they may 'catch up' with the national average, reducing relative inequality.
- 3. Absolute inequalities close between the most and least disadvantaged groups: as the most disadvantaged groups progress at a higher relative and absolute rate than the most advantaged groups.

To some extent, the appropriate goal will depend on the indicator being considered. We underline that, for so-called basic capabilities<sup>25</sup> – including being nourished and surviving early childhood – eliminating absolute gaps (the strictest condition) is essential for realising basic human rights and the promise of equal life chances.

LNOB is perhaps most similar to the concepts of social inclusion and exclusion, which are concerned with the situation of disadvantaged individuals in relative and absolute terms, but we argue that LNOB's dynamic character adds an explicit concern with trends and pathways into inclusion. However, LNOB, as it has been interpreted to focus on group inequalities relative to the average, is not exempt from criticism. From an analytical perspective, these criticisms address the tendency to focus on the bottom of the distribution relative to the average and thereby overlook the broader inequalities within countries, how they are created and how they persist. In this, LNOB may be akin to social exclusion, which has been criticised for 'deflecting attention from ever-increasing income inequality and class conflict ... [and whereby] analytically separating the included and excluded

<sup>23</sup> Per Hoy (2015), reducing absolute inequalities within a society would require that the incomes of the bottom 40% grow at twice the country average.

<sup>24</sup> As noted above, Ravallion and Chen's 'weakly relative' poverty measure, which incorporates absolute and relative poverty, weighting the former for poorer countries, is one example.

<sup>25</sup> According to the Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (2016), a basic capability is 'the ability to satisfy certain elementary and critically important functionings up to certain levels' (Sen, 1992: 45, fn. 19), or in other words 'the freedom to do some basic things considered necessary for survival and to avoid or escape poverty or other serious deprivations'.

may disguise the conflict between them' (Daly and Silver, 2008: 554).

The compromises inherent to the consensus in forming the LNOB agenda, discussed earlier, meant that many of the more progressive interpretations were not incorporated into the SDGs. The concept remains controversial to many who suggest it is at best ineffectual, and at worse damaging to a progressive agenda.

The most substantive critique of LNOB is that it is insufficiently transformative. It can be argued that, from its inception in Agenda 2030, the aspiration to 'leave no one behind' was detached from a radical basis in systemic inequality and divorced from any discussion of trade-offs, power relations and challenges that might need to be overcome. One implication is that LNOB enables a side-step away from substantive action (Kharas et al., 2019: 2):

despite the growing resonance around the LNOB phrasing, it is not yet clear the world is implementing relevant policies with corresponding seriousness ... there are still too few signs of decisive gains in addressing the concerns of people feeling marginalized or left behind.

The criticism that LNOB is selective and unambitious follows: it encourages countries to opt for inclusion 'at the margins', within the existing system, while leaving intact structural inequalities that drive disparate outcomes, and ignores 'the dynamics, policies and practices that push many behind' (Adams et al., 2020; see also Elson, 2018). Per Labonte (2004: 117):

how does one go about including individuals and groups in a set of structured social relationships responsible for excluding them in the first place? Or, put another way, to what extent do efforts at social inclusion accommodate people to relative powerlessness rather than challenge the hierarchies that create it? 'Rich countries and corporations are pushing everyone else behind ... "leave no one behind" is SDG-washing' (Byanyima, in Adams et al., 2020).

The LNOB approach has antecedents in human rights conventions, where the term 'progressive realization' is used in the context of prioritising the access of poor, marginalised and disadvantaged populations to basic economic, social and cultural rights under national and international agreements (OHCHR, 2008, cited in Stuart and Samman, 2017). Human rights advocates have mapped how certain SDG goals match specific international human rights standards, and highlighted that non-discrimination and equality are overarching human rights principles that relate to these standards (OHCHR, 2018). Nevertheless, this motivation – which might serve to increase the agenda's political traction - is often insufficiently acknowledged.

In SDG documents, the framing of LNOB leaves a focus on the political economy of exclusion to country governments' discretion when implementing inclusive policies. Taking the agenda seriously may require measures such as positive discrimination (which we discuss in Chapter 4), or different forms of distributive justice, which seek to remedy the structural discrimination facing marginalised or disadvantaged groups. Excluded groups by definition often have little political capital, giving rational political actors little incentive to champion their cause. Some political parties may seek to build their political capital through explicitly discriminatory policy, 'prototyping minorities as a burden to the mainstream society and as a cause of societal problems' (Ciaian and Kancs, 2016: 21). In both scenarios, political leaders may resist the types of measures an LNOB agenda advocates. A final set of critiques relates to the complexity of LNOB - that it is difficult to articulate clearly, complicated to implement and costly – and that there is ambiguity around how to operationalise and monitor an LNOB agenda. In this, critiques also chime with thinking around social exclusion, which has been described as a term 'that is so evocative, ambiguous, multidimensional, and elastic that it can be defined in many different ways' (Silver, 1994: 536).

Countering this criticism is the focus of the remainder of this report: how can LNOB be technically optimised through measurement and policy, even if it is politically imperfect in approach and implementation?

Our central claim is that LNOB has the potential to bring about transformative changes for disadvantaged groups and is feasible to implement, but it needs to be welloperationalised. Watkins (2013: 1) asserted that LNOB offered the potential to 'put social justice and equity at the heart of the wider agenda for eradicating extreme poverty by 2030'. Irrespective of being able to upend fundamental structural factors that marginalise some groups, we argue that it is possible to take steps to improve their circumstances and ensure greater equity in the short term, and these smaller impacts can accumulate over time. Moreover, its limitations notwithstanding, the international architecture designed to advance LNOB has fostered monitoring and accountability. We now explore ways in which LNOB has been applied at the international and national levels.

## 2.3 How has LNOB been interpreted and applied?

#### 2.3.1 International community

International organisations' conceptions of LNOB recognise the importance of horizontal group inequalities, as well as the role of different drivers of inequality and a range of policy responses. Box 1 sets out core features of a selection of international agencies' and donors' definitions and interpretations of LNOB. The organisations selected have been active and visible in publishing on the LNOB agenda. In line with the approach of the UN outcome document, the cited stakeholders define the LNOB agenda as one that focuses on group inequalities and discrimination against disadvantaged groups. The language that they use reveals consensus around the three elements of the approach highlighted above:

- 1. The focus on the poorest and most disadvantaged and characteristics that define this status (e.g. age, gender, ethnicity, race, religion).
- 2. The re-prioritisation of these groups ahead of others.
- 3. An implicit concern with reducing groupbased inequalities, with the exception of UNDP (2018) where this is stated as an explicit intention.

In the documents that inform Box 1, most donors recognise that groups they work with – characterised by gender, location, religion or ethnicity – tend to be towards the bottom of the income distribution. However, very few donors or international non-governmental organisations (INGOs) specifically make commitments that address income inequality as a primary factor, although the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) (2018: 26) suggests that progressive taxation and inclusive growth that focuses on women in the workforce would reduce inequality across countries.

Donors, such as USAID (2019), do not specifically mention LNOB but, as Hayes and Caria (2019) discuss, the organisation follows the spirit of the mandate in its focus on inclusion as one of its seven core principles.<sup>26</sup> While the World Bank is partially aligned with the LNOB agenda through its focus on ending extreme poverty and boosting shared prosperity (World Bank, 2016), the commitment does not specifically cover group-based inequalities and discrimination, two key features of LNOB (Lucci et al., 2019).

In discussions of how programme-level work was aligning with LNOB objectives, project staff from donor organisations highlighted that LNOB commitments were considered – at the management level in a programme – to be met by

26 The seven core principles are passion for mission, excellence, integrity, respect, empowerment, inclusion and commitment to learning.

#### Box 1 Key international development actors actively advancing an LNOB agenda

#### United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) (2018)

- Definition: 'The pledge to "leave no one behind" is a commitment to end extreme poverty in all its forms and to act explicitly to ensure that those who have been left behind can catch up to those who have experienced greater progress. Practically, the pledge means all governments must chart a new course aimed specifically at curbing inequalities between people, groups and places; correcting for legacies of discrimination and exclusion both between and within countries; and prioritizing and fast-tracking progress among the furthest behind' (p. 8).
- Drivers/causes of being left behind: Geography, discrimination, vulnerability to shocks, governance, socio-economic status.
- Policy responses:
  - 1. Examine: disaggregated and people driven data and information;
  - 2. Empower: civic engagement and voice; and
  - 3. Enact: integrated, equity-focused SDG policies, interventions and budgets.

#### UK Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Office (FCDO) (Herbert, 2019)<sup>i</sup>

- Definition: FCDO understands LNOB to mean that:
  - 1. Every person counts and needs to be counted.
  - 2. Every person should have a fair opportunity in life no matter who or where they are.
  - 3. The people who are furthest behind, have least opportunity and are the most excluded must be prioritised.
- Drivers: Disability, gender, infrastructure, markets, trade, and supply chains, nutrition and digital development.
- Policy responses: FCDO articulated three pillars:
  - 1. Understand for action. Strengthen understanding and analysis of who, where, and why people are being left behind. Improve data capacity and use of disaggregated data to inform decisions and continue to build evidence of what works in different contexts (as a minimum expectation for all ODA spend).
  - 2. Empower for change. Empower those people who are furthest behind to be agents of change. Enable their voices to be heard and acted upon and work with others to challenge discrimination and harmful social norms and promote opportunities to hold governments and implementers to account.
  - 3. Include for opportunity. Support inclusive growth, institutions, and services. Include the furthest behind in development and growth processes, and deliver targeted programmes and services to particularly hard to reach populations.

#### Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GMZ/BMZ) (2019)

- Definition: GIZ/BMZ deploys the UN's definition from the SDG outcome document.
- Drivers: Uneven distribution of power and resources, as well as equal opportunities and discrimination including gender-specific discrimination and social stigmatisation
- Policy responses:
  - 1. Overcoming discrimination and promoting empowerment.
  - 2. Provide access to services and justice for all.
  - 3. Creating an enabling environment.

i FCDO has no publicly available material on LNOB. Herbert was commissioned by the UK Department for International Development (DFID) (before it merged with the UK Foreign and Commonwealth Office to become FCDO) to write a report based on interactions with then-DFID personnel.

#### Box 1 Key international development actors actively advancing an LNOB agenda (continued)

Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation (SDC) (2019)

- Definition: The SDC considers as 'left behind' those individuals or groups who are excluded from sustainable development or who do not enjoy minimum standards of living.
- Drivers: Multidimensional poverty and exclusion (religion, race, disability, economic status, ethnicity, origin, age, sex and gender, other exclusions).
- Policy responses:
  - 1. Anchor 'leave no one behind' in all its strategic documents, programmes and partnerships including multilateral organisations.
  - 2. Actively support efforts to identify those who are (or are at risk of) being left behind using multidimensional measures that include the perspective of the poor.
  - 3. Prioritise and formulate appropriate objectives. This depends on the context and on the strategic choices.

#### Norad (Greenhill and Engen, 2018)

- Definition: Two populations are especially at risk of being left behind: members of specific vulnerable groups such as women, children, indigenous people or people with disabilities (PWDs); and individuals living in fragile countries and/or who are extremely poor.
- Drivers: Exclusion from health care and education.
- Policy responses: Norway addresses 'leave no one behind' in key sectors including education, health, business development, the environment and humanitarian aid.

#### Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2018)

- Definition: As defined in the UN outcomes document.
- Drivers: Individual countries choose their own.
- Policy responses: OECD determines a general trend towards focusing on:
  - 1. Geography countries most in need (e.g. least developed countries, fragile contexts and small island developing states) and targeted programmes in middle-income developing countries, notably to poorer regions and marginalised people.
  - 2. People and groups with a strong emphasis on eradicating poverty, reducing inequality, promoting social and economic inclusion and respect for human rights.

#### Gates Foundation (2019)

- Definition: Draws on UNDP (2018) definition of LNOB.
- Drivers: Geography and gender.
- Policy responses: Human capital investments should be designed to reach girls and prioritise those countries and districts that are furthest behind. For health, the priority needs to be primary care. In education, the priority is to make sure that all schools provide a high-quality education.

#### Government of Ireland (2019)

- Definition: Draws on Agenda 2030 to define LNOB as 'those that have been left furthest behind and people who are at risk of becoming ever more marginalised'.
- Drivers: Gender, humanitarian crises, climactic shocks, abuse of human rights.
- Policy responses: Prioritising gender equality, reducing humanitarian need, climate action and strengthening governance are key strategies for directing our development cooperation to the furthest behind first.

reframing existing priorities to benefit traditional categories of marginalised groups (Sarwar, forthcoming). Given the constraints imposed by budgets as well as on scale and value for money, approaches remained reliant on targeting specific population sub-groups (women and girls; children and youth; people and children with disabilities) alongside the assessment of household income level – increasingly done through 'proxy means tests'. Prioritisation within categorical population groups rarely considered intersectional status (e.g. poor people with a living with disability, the poorest among ethnic/religious minorities) within these population groups.

Project staff within development agencies acknowledge the unique challenges of operationalising the LNOB approach, and have identified constraints that are likely to exclude those who are most deprived – from the lack of capacity within a programme to identify people facing intersectional deprivation; lack of time allocated in the project cycle for investing in the area/community of intervention; and the pressure to scale an intervention, therefore reaching those who would most easily and readily access the intervention (Sarwar, forthcoming).<sup>27</sup>

However, donor organisations such as SDC (SDC, 2019; Guha and Itty, 2018) and GIZ (Bennett, 2018) are notable in their creation of separate departments to integrate the LNOB agenda across their organisational processes. Five years on from the SDGs, both organisations are investing in mainstreaming the concept of LNOB through project activities by developing practitioner guidelines across the project cycle.

#### 2.3.2 National governments

National governments present their interpretation and implementation of the SDGs, and LNOB in particular, through VNRs at the HLPF in July every year. So far, 209 countries have volunteered to present a VNR, with some presenting multiple times.<sup>28</sup>

VNRs are supposed to present country progress on all 17 SDGs and are meant to highlight both successes and failures, together with diagnostics. They are also meant to reflect national-level consultation with civil society and other stakeholders. In practice, most describe success and countries do not engage meaningfully in documenting the challenges (IISD, 2020a; 2020b). Civil society groups have noted that VNRs remain a cursory attempt to look at SDG implementation, with little accountability through stakeholder consultation and involvement (in particular by disadvantaged people). They also question how feedback from the forum would be integrated into national implementation efforts (WEDO, 2017; Viana and Perera, 2018).

Prior to 2019, VNRs expressed high-level political commitments to the SDGs but there was little evidence of how the LNOB agenda was being institutionalised or tackled (Fukuda-Parr et al., 2018). Countries largely focused on a narrow range of groups: women and girls, children and people in rural areas (Sarwar and Nicolai, 2018). Since 2019, greater attention has been paid to the principle of LNOB (the number of countries mentioning it grew) because of UN DESA guidelines to improve consistency in reporting (UN DESA, 2020). Overall, profiles of LNOB remain weak (Adams et al., 2020) on both the underlying drivers of LNOB, and on a sufficient range of disadvantaged population sub-groups.

Countries showcase LNOB in the preparation of VNRs, in evidence of prevalence of the term and in policies and their implementation (Sarwar and Nicolai, 2018). Most countries document a stakeholder dialogue involving civil society, but details on these processes are often vague (ibid.), with attendance perceived as tokenistic and reserved for traditional CSO partners who already work with government (Centre for

<sup>27</sup> For example, those living in geographic proximity to an infrastructure programmes or those already literate in training/ livelihood programmes.

<sup>28</sup> As of 2020, 23 countries had conducted a VNR at least twice: Argentina, Armenia, Bangladesh, Belize, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Estonia, Finland, Georgia, Honduras, India, Jordan, Kenya, Morocco, Nepal, Niger, Nigeria, Panama, Peru, Samoa, Slovenia, Uganda and Zimbabwe.

Economic and Social Rights, 2018; Treers, 2018; Madiz, 2019).

Furthermore, when VNRs do report on policies and actions undertaken to improve the well-being of vulnerable groups (typically women, girls, children and rural people), countries often mention interventions that had been initiated or were already underway before 2015, rather than live progress and outcomes, or direct links to the LNOB agenda. It is noticeable that, for the most part, countries have steered clear of mentioning ethnic or religious minorities or the poorest income poor, perhaps reflecting domestic political sensitivity to these types of inequality.

An overview of the 2020 VNRs shows that they included efforts to collect data (e.g. violence against women and girls in Malawi, forms of poverty in Nepal); measures to promote social inclusion (in public services in Papua New Guinea) and social protection (for the elderly in Uganda, on employment in Slovenia); and policies, programmes and efforts that address the needs of vulnerable groups (on gender equality in Austria, laws for PWDs in Bangladesh, and measures for the elderly in Bulgaria). However, commentators on the 2020 HLPF, Winnie Byanyima and Sakiko Fukuda-Parr, highlighted that this greater emphasis on LNOB still did not engage with the causal dynamics of exclusion (Adams et al., 2020).

Overall, the empirical impact of concepts and practices associated with LNOB remains largely opaque at a national level. Evidence on how LNOB has been operationalised and evaluated relative to national programmes that address poverty, inequality and social exclusion/inclusion remains extremely patchy and inconsistent. While the ability to rhetorically interpret LNOB to match national contexts is one strength of the concept and underlies its acceptance as an international approach to inequality, the resulting empirical and applied policy vagueness lies behind key weaknesses in understanding how policy 'on the ground' has changed, and to what effect. We return to this in our conclusions (Section 4.5).

#### 2.3.3 Civil society organisations

At the international level, CSOs held dialogues around the LNOB agenda in the post-2015 process (Senit, 2020) and at national level, and many have actively shaped its interpretation, as in Ghana.<sup>29</sup> The Leave No One Behind Partnership - including CIVICUS, Development Initiatives, Project Everyone and partners from the Action for Sustainable Development platform<sup>30</sup> – organised stakeholder dialogues in over 30 countries during 2016 and 2017 (Bhushan et al., 2018). Since then, international CSOs and think tanks have played a considerable role in advancing the definition and operationalisation of the concept (e.g. Save the Children, 2012; Stuart and Samman, 2017; Munroe, 2018; PAL Network, 2019; Southern Voice, 2020) and advocating successfully for its adoption by donors in countries including the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, Ireland and Germany.

As noted above, in theory local CSOs are meant to be key stakeholders with national governments in the production of VNRs. However, in practice the degree of engagement has varied across countries (TAP Network, 2019). Successful examples include Costa Rica, where the government carried out consultations with older persons, LGBTQ+ persons, PWDs and indigenous peoples; Costa Rica's VNR includes a section under each SDG on the challenges these groups identified, with outreach including seminars, workshops, bilateral discussions and online channels (ibid.). Broadly, though, national-level CSOs are hampered in their engagement by 'low levels of awareness of the agenda by the public, civil society

<sup>29 &#</sup>x27;The highlight of the VNR process was the effective collaboration between civil society and government prior to and during the presentation of the voluntary national report' (Ghana National Education Campaign Coalition (GNECC), cited in Mangenot, 2019).

<sup>30</sup> This is a global platform supporting civil society and citizen action for delivery of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and the Paris Agreement on Climate Change: https://action4sd.org/.

and government, limited finance, insufficient participation and lack of government alignment' (Kindornay, 2019: 69).

Clearly, LNOB could be given greater traction in international processes in various ways. Our

aim is to establish some clear measurement and policy approaches that can help to operationalise the concept at the international and national levels and promote an optimal if not perfect approach to reducing inequalities.

# 3 Identifying and profiling the 'left behind'

Chapter 2 identified three core concerns of the LNOB agenda: 1) the poorest and most disadvantaged; 2) closing gaps in life chances; and 3) putting the 'furthest behind' first. We highlighted the importance of group characteristics and intersections among them in explaining persisting deprivation. This chapter presents simple ways to find and profile the 'left behind' to inform the LNOB approach, using straightforward metrics that help to identify who is left behind, to what extent and how this is changing over time. To highlight the possibilities available to most countries to advance an LNOB agenda, we base our analysis on commonly available data and group characteristics associated with inequality in many countries: gender, race, ethnicity, geography and socio-economic status (and, data permitting, age). We focus on key SDG indicators: monetary and multidimensional poverty (SDG1), stunting (SDG2), child mortality (SDG3), school attendance, attainment and literacy (SDG4) and income inequality (SDG10).

Throughout the analysis, we use evidence to consider illustrative LNOB profiles in Brazil (2002–2015), Nepal (2006–2016) and Nigeria (2008-2018). Brazil is a UMIC (its 2019 per capita gross national income (GNI) was \$14,890 in 2011 PPP), while Nigeria and Nepal are LMICs (with incomes of \$5,190 and \$3,610 respectively). The latest poverty headcounts according to the \$1.90 PPP extreme poverty line are 4.4%, 39.1% and 15.0% respectively (World Bank, 2020d). The three countries all have pronounced group-based inequalities (Kabeer, 2016: 56). Focusing on these three countries helps to ground the analysis and highlights important contrasts between them: Brazil shows reasonably inclusive development

progress; Nepal shows rapid progress coupled with some narrowing of group-based disparities; and Nigeria shows stagnation amid growing disparities in life chances.

The approach responds to four core questions:

- Which groups are at risk of being 'left behind'? We present ways to identify the poorest subgroups within a population, moving beyond profiles based on national averages.
- How are gaps in opportunities and life chances changing? We analyse trends in poverty and inequality to assess whether the disparities that disadvantaged groups face are widening or narrowing.
- How do overlapping group disadvantages affect gaps and trends? We evaluate how being disadvantaged in two or more areas affects inequality and poverty, the extent to which 'intersectional' inequalities compound and how far they influence progress.
- How does service access and quality influence inequality? We explore how access to services affects outcomes for disadvantaged groups, relative to others, and how their quality and broader circumstances mediate the relationship between access and outcomes.

Our approach to these questions examines relative and absolute differences between groups, on average, and in some cases by comparing the distribution of an attribute between groups. We also look at progress experienced at different levels of the welfare distribution to assess the performance of the poorest and most disadvantaged. We propose several criteria to determine whether a group is being left behind. In examining trends, our foremost concern is whether the most deprived groups are
experiencing improvements in absolute terms (i.e. are their incomes growing or malnutrition rates falling, on average?). This is an essential precondition for not being left behind. Second, we explore how disadvantaged groups are progressing relative to the national average, or in some cases relative to more advantaged groups; an equal or higher rate of progress is a second condition for not being left behind. Third, we focus on absolute inequalities – again, between disadvantaged groups and the average, or in some cases more advantaged groups. For so-called basic capabilities – having adequate nutrition, surviving early childhood and attaining a basic level of education - the eventual aim is for the absolute differences between groups to close entirely over time, indicating greater equality in life chances. For income this is not fully feasible, or necessarily desirable; trends in absolute differences are nonetheless useful in designing policies that avoid extremes of inequality.

As discussed in Chapter 2, there are various possible interpretations of what it would mean to fulfill the LNOB agenda by 2030, under increasingly strict conditions.<sup>31</sup> We revisit the three criteria, outlining how we will measure them:

1. All groups make absolute progress and meet the SDG target: Under this scenario, though all groups will meet a given SDG target, inequality may increase if more advantaged groups progress more. Metric: Distance or shortfall between group

performance and the target.

2. Disadvantaged groups progress at least as quickly as the national average: Under this criterion, there are two possible trajectories: disadvantaged groups progress at the same pace as the national average, in which case the absolute or relative gap may not close; or disadvantaged groups progress at a higher rate than the national average, such that the relative gap (and potentially the absolute gap) closes. Additional metric: Difference in the average rate of progress for and in attainments of the most disadvantaged subpopulation compared to national average.

 Absolute inequalities in life chances between the most and least disadvantaged groups close: Gaps between the most and least disadvantaged groups close. The expectation is movement towards parity, especially in life chances in the so-called basic capabilities (health and education).
 Additional metric: Difference in the attainments of the most disadvantaged subpopulation compared to the most advantaged subpopulation. Summary measures of group inequality.

Our analysis focuses on publicly available household surveys: the National Household Sample Survey (PNAD) for Brazil, and Demographic Health Surveys for Nepal and Nigeria (Box 2). We also use public data on income poverty from the World Bank and multidimensional poverty data from Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative (OPHI)/UNDP. Where we depart from the use of descriptive statistics to construct summary indicators of inequality or undertake more complex multivariate analysis, we aim to explain the analysis in intuitive terms, and relegate the technical detail to an annex, published separately alongside this report.

## 3.1 Ending poverty in all its forms (SDG1)

Persisting deprivation amid widespread progress renders it imperative to identify and craft appropriate strategies for communities and areas that are 'left behind'. Many analyses focusing on left-behind groups begin with an assessment of monetary poverty (Kabeer and Santos, 2017; Ravallion, 2016) or multidimensional poverty (Alkire et al., 2017). To begin creating our LNOB profile, we analyse income poverty from Brazil, in order to then focus on multidimensional poverty in Nepal and Nigeria.

<sup>31</sup> These conditions may be independent of one another: e.g. even though relative gaps narrow, groups can move apart in absolute terms; relative progress can slow as absolute gaps close.

#### Box 2 Methodology highlights

**Countries:** Brazil, Nepal and Nigeria are illustrative rather than representative of a small number of MICs with available data over a relevant period.<sup>i</sup> For each, we use three nationally representative surveys covering a period of roughly 10 years, ending in or after 2015. Data quality was an important criterion together with coverage of core areas on education, health and economic welfare. For Brazil we use the National Household Sample Survey (PNAD) for 2002, 2008 and 2015.<sup>ii</sup> For Nepal and Nigeria we use Demographic Health Surveys (DHS).<sup>iii</sup> Nepal covers 2006, 2011 and 2016. Nigeria covers the years 2008, 2013 and 2018.

**Capturing disadvantaged population sub-groups:** All surveys allow us to identify gender and age, and urban and rural areas and subnational regions/provinces that will differ between countries (and possibly over time). We also include national ethnic and racial population sub-groups. Income data is only available for Brazil. For Nepal and Nigeria, the DHS provides a socio-economic ranking based on an asset index.<sup>iv</sup> These indicators allow us to look across household socio-economic status and other markers of group identify to explain gaps and trends. Other groups of interest to the agenda are not included in these surveys (e.g. LGBTQ+, PWDs).

**SDG-related outcomes:** We choose indicators that directly or indirectly map onto the SDG framework: 1) income poverty; 2) multidimensional poverty; 3) stunting among under-fives; 4) under-five mortality; 5) school completion at primary and lower secondary levels; 6) the Composite Coverage Index of RMNCH services; and 7) income inequality. Given data limitations, it is impossible to compute all measures in all three countries. Rather, we use country examples selectively to illustrate the techniques we propose.

**Measuring inequality:** In the SDG framework, being 'left behind' is commonly interpreted as a static or growing gap between the relatively poor and the average. In contrast, Goal 4 aims at parity between the most and least advantaged groups, e.g. girls and boys, urban and rural residents, households in the top and bottom asset quintile. We apply simple and popular inequality measures: an indicator of relative inequality, the ratio between groups; and an indicator of absolute inequality, the difference between groups. Where useful, we incorporate summary measures of inequality between groups; in our discussion of inequality in education, we introduce a decomposition technique to better understand group-based difference.

i Access to longitudinal survey or administrative data is recommended. Long-term trends are more likely to be practicable from existing cross-sectional data sets than panel surveys and their larger sample sizes may also increase possibilities for disaggregation.

ii Kabeer and Santos (2017) and Rodríguez Takeuchi and Mariotti (2016) use the same dataset to analyse groupbased inequality in Brazil. Access the PNAD via: www.ibge.gov.br/en/statistics/social/justice-and-security/20293supplements-pnad4.html?=&t=o-que-e.

iii DHS is a key data source for SDG monitoring. For a list of SDG indicators derived from this data, see https://dhsprogram.com/Topics/upload/SDGs%20in%20DHS%2016Apr2019.pdf. Access the DHS via: https://dhsprogram.com/.

iv The asset index is a metric used in the DHS (and UNICEF's MICS) to classify households into quintiles according to their relative socio-economic status. It is commonly referred as a 'wealth index' even though it captures ownership of basic goods (e.g. a television, refrigerator, telephone, water source, sanitation facility or housing materials). This indicator is much simpler to collect than an income or consumption profile, leaving more room to focus on the health outcomes that are the primary concern of DHS (Alkire and Samman, 2014).

## 3.1.1 Income poverty and group-based inequality

To understand who is being left behind and to what extent, we seek to identify the groups where poverty is most severe (Figure 1). As noted, Brazil is the only one of the three countries for which we have access to household income or consumption data. The absolute income poverty headcount refers to the share of individuals who do not command sufficient resources to afford a minimum basket of goods and services deemed essential within a society. We adopt a poverty line of \$5.50 PPP per capita per day (in 2011 PPP), following the World Bank's proposal for UMICs (World Bank, 2018).<sup>32</sup>

Groups with the highest poverty rates include those in rural areas and the North and North East regions, as well as Black, Mixed-Race and Indigenous people, and children (Figure 1). Inequalities are sizeable. In the North-East, in 2015 the poverty headcount was 41%, compared with 11% in the South, a 30-point gap. The headcount rate among the white and 'Amarelo' (East Asian-descent) population is 15%, while it is above 30% among the Black and Mixed-Race population and over 40% among Indigenous people. In 2015 the headcount rate was 2.5 times higher in rural than in urban areas, and about twice the level among children as adults.

Between 2002 and 2015, the national poverty rate fell by half, from 46% to 23%. Poverty fell for all the groups we focus on, albeit unevenly. The most deprived groups, namely Indigenous people, those in the North and in rural areas and children under 15 experienced belowaverage poverty reduction, as did female-headed households (Figure 2).

As noted above, absolute differences provide another perspective on change. Indeed, although several disadvantaged groups experienced belowaverage rates of poverty reduction between 2002 and 2015, the absolute change in their poverty was typically higher than the change in the national average (Table 1). Even though poverty among better-off groups was reducing faster, the fact that it did so from a lower base translated into incrementally lower reductions in their poverty headcount. As a result, the absolute gap narrows



Figure 1 Changes in income poverty headcount ratio by group, Brazil, 2002–2015

Note: \$5.50 PPP poverty line. Source: Author computation of PNAD data.

<sup>32</sup> The \$1.90 PPP poverty line (which results in headcounts of 13% in 2002 and 4% in 2015) is too low for countries such as Brazil. It does not capture the extent of income deprivation in the country and provides little possibility for disaggregation across relevant population groups. While our analysis stresses the \$5.50 PPP poverty line, we complement this with some analysis of the \$1.90 poverty line and the depth and intensity of poverty at each poverty line. Because our measures reflect income rather than consumption, they may not reflect intrahousehold differences in consumption associated with gender and age. See World Bank (2019: Chapter 5) for gender- and age-sensitive poverty profiles for selected countries.

	Absolute difference in poverty headcounts (%)							
	Gender	Race	Urban/rural	Region	Age group			
2002	1	28	34	37	25			
2015	3	27	26	30	22			

## Table 1 Absolute difference in income poverty headcount between groups

Note: Figures refer to the gap between the best and worst performing group in each category. Source: Author computation of PNAD data.

(see Table 1). This metric therefore reveals partial progress, though an optimal situation would involve a higher rate of poverty reduction as well as the reduction of absolute differences.

## 3.1.2 Poverty depth and intensity

Falls in the income poverty headcount may reflect improvements in the welfare of people close to the poverty line rather than those who are more intensely deprived. Measurement approaches that consider poverty as a binary variable overlook inequality in its distribution and therefore obscure a focus on the poorest population. This shortcoming can be addressed in various ways. The simplest way is to monitor the income poverty headcount according to different poverty lines – e.g. changes in poverty over the 2002– 2015 period in Brazil according to the \$1.90 PPP extreme poverty line and the \$5.50 PPP UMIC poverty line (Figure 3). The poverty headcount falls more sharply, at least in the 2002–2008 period, when measured by the lower poverty line. This is because poverty is more extreme in the country's North East region, and it falls more quickly there than in other regions, even though this region remains significantly poorer than the rest of Brazil.

A second approach is to retain our original poverty line (\$5.50 PPP) and focus on the





Source: Author computation of PNAD data.





Source: Author computation of PNAD data.

distribution of poverty beneath it. In addition to permitting a more nuanced understanding of poverty, this approach – which draws on the Foster-Greer-Thorbecke (FGT) suite of poverty measures (Foster et al., 1984) - has attractive technical properties.<sup>33</sup> The 'poverty gap' expresses the average income level of the poor as a proportion of the poverty line. While it provides some information about the 'depth' of poverty within a population, it continues to obscure the situation of any very poor members, as it is concerned with the average income of poor people. The 'poverty intensity' indicator, in contrast, incorporates the income gaps among the poor by 'weighting' each income of a poor person depending on its distance from the poverty line, so that the incomes of the poorest matter most.

These measures conform with the normative imperative that LNOB focus on the poorest and most disadvantaged, and each provides distinct insights. In Brazil, the headcount, gap and intensity declined between 2002 and 2015 for the whole population and the Black and Mixed-Race population: not only were there fewer poor people in 2015, but poor people and the poorest people were less poor (Figure 4). The decline was particularly pronounced for Black and Mixed-Race people when measured by the poverty gap and intensity. All three measures show that, although this population still had above-average poverty in 2015, the gap with the population average had narrowed. For Indigenous people, the poverty headcount, gap and intensity declined between 2002 and 2008, while changes between 2008 and 2015 were not statistically significant. Interestingly, in 2002 the poverty headcount among the Black and Mixed-Race population was higher than the headcount for the Indigenous population, but the intensity of poverty was lower. In other words, while a smaller share of Indigenous people lived in poverty, the poorest were poorer, on average, than Afro-Brazilians.

## 3.1.3 A focus on multidimensional poverty

Under SDG 1, each country is encouraged to develop its own multidimensional poverty measure to monitor progress in reducing poverty 'in all its dimensions' (indicator 1.2.2). This section profiles left-behind groups using the Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) based on the Alkire-Foster methodology (Alkire and

<sup>33</sup> In particular: 1) the FGT1 and FGT2 measures permit statistical disaggregation of the incomes of people beneath the poverty line owing to the larger samples that result from the higher poverty line; and 2) the intensity measure can be applied consistently across monetary and multidimensional poverty; the Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) is a version of this intensity approach for multidimensional poverty.



## Figure 4 Poverty gaps and intensity for national average, Black and Mixed-Race and Indigenous populations in Brazil, 2002–2015

Note: Brazil PNAD has a large sample size (380,000, 387,000 and 355,000 respondents respectively in 2002, 2008 and 2015). The share of Black and Mixed-Race respondents is sizeable, constituting 50%, 54% and 57% of the successive surveys. The number of Indigenous respondents is smaller but sufficient for statistical analysis; they numbered 822, 1,212 and 1,632 respondents in 2002, 2008 and 2015 respectively. Source: Author computation of PNAD data.

Foster, 2011; Alkire et al., 2015; see Box 3). The 'global MPI' is a composite measure of acute deprivations in living standards, health and education at the household level (Alkire and Santos, 2014; Alkire et al., 2020).

Using the MPI, we contrast trends among regions in Nepal and Nigeria over a five-year period.<sup>34</sup> In Nepal, the MPI fell from 0.207 in 2011 to 0.130 in 2016, an 8.9% relative annual reduction, and the share of MPI poor people fell from 43% to 30%. In contrast, Nigeria's MPI fell from 0.287 in 2013 to 0.254 in 2018, a 2.4% relative annual reduction, and the headcount fell slightly, from 51% to 46%. Falling rates of poverty can hide the impact of growing populations: in fact, Nigeria's small reduction in the MPI headcount resulted in a rise in the absolute number of MPI poor, from 88 million in 2013 to 91 million in 2018. In Nepal, by contrast, the absolute number of MPI poor people fell from 12 million to eight million over an equal period. In summary, Nepal is showing rapid MPI poverty

reduction, while Nigeria is reducing poverty much more slowly, and at a pace insufficient to keep up with its population rise.

Beneath these national trends, we consider regional variations within both countries. This analysis shows that Nepal not only experienced rapid poverty reduction, but also did this inclusively: the poorest regions, including the Far and Mid-West, achieved faster poverty reduction, and the gap between the poorest regions and the rest of the country narrowed (Figure 5a). In Nigeria, any poverty reduction occurred only in the least poor regions, so that the gap between these regions and the others widened (Figure 5b). In short, regions in Nepal are moving towards convergence, while in Nigeria the most populous and poorest regions are diverging from the rest.

As noted, the MPI combines the poverty headcount and the intensity of poverty among the poor. As with monetary poverty, changes in the intensity of poverty provide an indication of the circumstances of the poorest, and whether

<sup>34</sup> We follow a similar methodology to Alkire at al. (2017) using 2020 data from PI table 6 'Changes over Time (incl. subnational, rural/urban and age disaggregation)', available at: https://ophi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Table-6-Change-over-Time-2020-vs2.xlsx. For Nigeria, OPHI publishes MPI figures for all 31 states. We group these into larger regions and compute the MPI as a state-weighted average using their MPI headcount. Brazil's PNAD survey does not provide data on nutrition, so it is not included in the OPHI MPI figures.

#### Box 3 The UNDP/OPHI Multidimensional Poverty Index

The MPI measures the joint deprivations experienced by individuals simultaneously. It is the product of the poverty headcount – the proportion of people within a population identified as poor based on the multiple deprivations they experience, adjusted by the intensity of that poverty – i.e. the average proportion of deprivations they experience. The MPI provides a summary indicator of how many people and which groups are poorest within a society, and how that poverty is changing. It can be decomposed by indicator and dimension and for sub-groups within a population, to show what share of poverty each contributes (and changes over time).

The global MPI consists of 10 indicators that are widely available in internationally comparable household surveys, grouped into three equally weighted dimensions: education, health and living standards.<sup>i</sup> A person is identified as MPI poor if they are deprived in at least one-third of the (weighted) indicators. This indicator has been computed for over 100 LICs and MICs and is presented annually in UNDP's Human Development Reports.

Source: Alkire et al. (2020)

i The MPI includes data on education access (school attendance) for children and years of schooling for adults. The SDG framework includes both access and learning, but multi-topic household surveys do not yet include information on both.



#### Figure 5 Multidimensional poverty reduction by regions in Nepal and Nigeria

Note: The size of the bubble is proportional to the number of poor people in the first year of the comparison. For Nigeria, OPHI published the MPI figures for all 31 states in Nigeria. We group these into larger regions and compute the MPI figures as a weighted average across states using their MPI headcount.

Source: OPHI/UNDP (2020). We have made some adaptations and produce comparable graphs using a similar approach to Alkire et al. (2017)

some were left behind (Box 4). In Nepal, the most intense poverty was observed in the Central region, where poor people experienced, on average, 49% of the weighted dimensions in 2011, a proportion that fell to 45% in 2016. Far-Western and Eastern regions had a similar intensity of poverty in 2011, 47% of the weighted dimensions, but respective poverty headcounts of 54% and 37%. By 2016, poverty headcounts in these two regions had converged (reaching 30% and 28% respectively), while poverty intensity had fallen to 41% and 43% respectively. In other words, although multidimensional poverty reduction was relatively inclusive in Nepal, the populations experiencing more intense multidimensional poverty, especially in the Central and Eastern regions, were being 'left behind'.

Breaking down the MPI by dimensions enables us to assess the type of deprivations affecting the poor in different regions, and the specific areas that require policy intervention. For example, in Nigeria deprivations in education contribute more to MPI poverty in the North, while deprivations in living standards contribute more in the southern regions (Figure 6). Child mortality has increased its contribution in all regions, while deprivations in years of schooling are falling in the southern regions.

Multidimensional poverty can be recalibrated by changing the thresholds of its constituent indicators to reflect the circumstances of the poorest people within a society, or 'destitute' people, in MPI terminology (Alkire et al., 2014). Repeating our analysis for Nepal and Nigeria using this measure shows similar national differences to the MPI. In Nepal, the destitution headcount fell from 19.3% in 2011 to 8.5% in 2016 (an annualised relative change of 15%). This drop is faster than the MPI fall over the same period, indicating a narrowing gap between the poorest and the rest of the population. This difference was not seen in Nigeria, partly because the country reduced multidimensional poverty less in this period.<sup>35</sup>



Figure 6 Multidimensional Poverty Index dimensional decomposition, Nepal 2013–2018

Note: MPI, Multidimensional Poverty Index. For Nigeria, OPHI published the MPI figures for all 31 states. We group these into larger regions and compute the MPI as a weighted average across states using their MPI headcount. Source: OPHI/UNDP (2020).

<sup>35</sup> Results of these and other non-reported analysis can be obtained from jomaroche@gmail.com.

## Box 4 Overlapping deprivations and the intensity of poverty

Poverty reduction may result from improvements in the living conditions of poor people who are deprived in only a few dimensions, leaving behind those experiencing multiple deprivations at once. We illustrate this possibility by comparing the joint distribution of deprivations in child mortality, malnutrition and primary school attendance in the Central and Far-Western regions of Nepal. Under a 'union' approach that adds deprivations across the three dimensions, the regions had fairly similar headcounts: 32% in the Central region and 28% in the Far-Western region. However, the joint distribution is quite different. In the Central region, about 5% are deprived in at least two dimensions simultaneously, compared with only 2% in the Far-Western region. In other words, the poor in the Central region experienced a higher intensity of poverty.



#### Overlapping deprivations among the Hill Dalit and Terrai Dalit in Nepal, 2016

Note: The graph shows the percentage of people living in households that have experienced under-five child mortality in the last five years, that have a malnourished child, and/or where children of primary school age are not attending school. Source: Author computation of DHS data.

Spider web diagrams are an alternative data visualisation technique as they can include three or more dimensions and multiple points in time, and are easy to interpret. In the figure below, these provide information regarding the three indicators considered above. Spider web diagrams are less demanding than Venn diagrams, so can also compile data from various data sources and triangulate across profiles as they do not show the joint distribution of deprivations.<sup>i</sup>

i For example, the DHS does not provide information on learning outcomes among children, which is one of the SDG indicators for education. This information is provided by other data sources.

#### Box 4 Overlapping deprivations and the intensity of poverty (continued)



A dashboard approach to depicting multiple deprivations among Hill Dalit and Terrai Dalit in Nepal, 2011 and 2016

## 3.2 Inequalities in nutrition and health (SDG2 and SDG3)

On occasions, policy-makers will opt for an LNOB approach focused on a specific dimension. For example, assessing the impact of health policies or the performance of a health system is likely to require understanding differential progress in outcomes linked to SDG3. In addition, an LNOB assessment in different dimensions of well-being may yield insights into the causes of deprivation and how these vary by outcome, with implications for the design and targeting of policy.

Our LNOB profiles proceed with some illustrations based on levels of child malnutrition (stunting) and child survival (under-five mortality) in Nepal and Nigeria, and trends over time. Again, we identify disadvantaged groups and measure: 1) whether they are progressing (measured by mean levels of deprivation for each group); 2) their rate of progress relative to the average; and 3) whether the absolute gap between the most disadvantaged and the average is closing.

In analysing non-monetary deprivations, we take a further step to understand better how outcomes correlate with household levels of economic resources. This is important in crafting more effective policy, for at least two reasons. First, stunting and child mortality are individuallevel variables, whereas measures of monetary welfare are typically based on household income or consumption, translated into per capita terms. Therefore, understanding variation in stunting and child mortality within economically similar households can provide insights into intrahousehold resource allocation and the extent to which incomes translate into service access, and place-based health risks that may affect poor and non-poor households alike (Brown et al., 2017). Second, targeted policies are often allocated based on household economic characteristics e.g. income or proxy means tests. Understanding the effectiveness of such policies in tackling non-monetary deprivations requires knowing the extent to which household-level variables correlate with non-monetary deprivations.

The disconnect between income and nonincome measures can be sizeable, notably for women and children. For example, across 30 sub-Saharan African countries, Brown et al. (2017) find that around three-quarters of underweight women and undernourished children were not found in the poorest quintile of households, while about half were not found in the poorest two quintiles. They conclude: 'To reach undernourished women and children, policy interventions will require either much more individualized information or broader coverage than policies finely targeted to poor households'.

## 3.2.1 Being left behind: convergence and divergence

Between 2006 and 2016, stunting prevalence in Nepal fell by 13 percentage points, from 49% to 36%. In contrast in Nigeria, following a small reduction between 2008 and 2013 (from 41% to 36%), progress stagnated. Overall, over a 10-year period, the reduction in Nigeria averaged 1.1% annually, compared to 3.1% in Nepal. These contrasting figures notwithstanding, in both countries national averages hide unequal trends – most notably, slower progress among the most disadvantaged groups in Nigeria.

In Nepal, regional differences are evident. The Mountain zone had the highest level of child malnutrition in 2006: 61%, compared to a national average of 49%, a ratio of 1.2. By 2016, child malnutrition in the Mountain zone had fallen to 47%, an average fall of 2.7% a year, while the national average fell to 36%, an average fall of 3.1% a year. As a result, the relative ratio between the Mountain region and the national average increased from 1.2 to 1.3. However, the absolute prevalence of stunting fell, while the absolute gap between the Mountain zone and the average remained steady over time (Figure 7a).

In Nigeria regional differences widened. In 2008, the North East region had the highest incidence of malnutrition in the country at 51%, 1.3 times greater than the national average. By 2018 the ratio had increased to 1.6 and the prevalence of stunting in the North East region had risen to 57%. The life chances of children in the North East region fell in absolute and relative terms. They have a greater absolute chance of being malnourished compared to the situation in 2008, and are progressing more slowly than the average. The absolute difference between children in the North East and the average is also rising – it was 10 points in 2008 and 21 points in 2018 (Figure 7b).

## 3.2.2 Stunting by asset index quintiles: trends in Nigeria and Nepal

Our earlier analysis of stunting examined differences between population sub-groups compared to the average. We now explore how trends map onto household socio-economic status. In Nepal, children across the distribution are experiencing a decline in stunting, particularly those in households in the second and third wealth quintiles. Children from these

Figure 7 Absolute difference in stunting between most disadvantaged region and the average, Nepal and Nigeria



Source: Author computation of DHS data.



Figure 8 Levels of stunting for each quintile and the national average in Nepal and Nigeria

Note: The figures in the legend indicate the compound rate of change for each quintile over the 10-year period. Source: Author computation of DHS data.

## Figure 9 Percentage contribution of each quintile to average decline in stunting among children over a 10-year period in Nepal and Nigeria



Source: Author computation of DHS data.

households caught up with households in the top two quintiles in absolute terms (respectively, their levels of child malnutrition fell by 17 and 14 points, compared with declines of seven and 12 points for the two richest quintiles). However, in relative terms, they were outpaced by households in the top quintile. Again, based on lower initial levels, stunting declined at 5.7% a year, a much higher rate of reduction than for any other quintile (Figure 8). In Nigeria, in contrast, stunting appears to be rising among children at the bottom of the distribution, while declining in its upper reaches. The stunting rate among children in the poorest quintile rose from 50% to 55%.<sup>36</sup> The absolute difference between the top and bottom quintile in 2008 was 25 points, whereas by 2018 it had grown to 39 points, driven by absolute declines among the poorest quintile and absolute increases among the richest.

<sup>36</sup> Changes for the second quintile were not statistically significant over the decade: stunting fell three points in the first period (from 48% in 2008 to 45% in 2013), then climbed four points in the second period (to 49% in 2018).

This demonstrates an inherent characteristic of LNOB: that a focus on 'the poorest' does not necessarily consider what is happening to the richest, and growing inequalities in life chances between the top and bottom of the distribution. In Nepal, the gap between poor and average, and between poor and rich, remained relatively unchanged, because the poor reduced stunting at least as well as the average. In Nigeria, inequality between socioeconomic quintiles widened over the period.

Another way to represent changes in stunting in the two countries is to apportion overall national-level change by the contribution that each quintile group makes to it (Figure 9). If each quintile were contributing equally, its contribution to change would be 20%. This presentation of the data makes clear that Nepal's decrease in stunting overall was based more heavily in the second and third quintiles, that the fourth quintile contributed least, and that the richest and poorest quintiles made equal contributions. In Nigeria, a decomposition of the modest overall decline is very clearly skewed because the prevalence of stunting actually increased in the poorest two quintiles, while the third, fourth and richest quintile groups had monotonically rising contributions to the decline.

## 3.2.3 Relative inequality in life chances

We now look more widely at changes in inequality in life chances for disadvantaged groups within the population, focusing on the relative ratio of the bottom to the national average for a range of social and economic groups. We first examine changes in the relative ratio in Nepal and Nigeria for groups with above-average child malnutrition (Figure 10). The diagonal line shows the points along which the relative ratio between both years remain unchanged. Groups above the line moved further away from the national average, while those below are converging. Most of the 'poorest' groups in both countries diverged from the national average, either because they are progressing more slowly or because malnutrition is increasing at a faster pace. In other words, the relative gap in life chances is increasing.

In Nigeria, the most disadvantaged children are in households in the poorest quintile, those living in the North West region and/or Hausa people. In 2018, children in each of these groups were about 1.5 times as likely to be malnourished as the national average, up from about 1.25 in 2008. Moreover, in all three groups the incidence of child malnutrition increased in absolute terms. This finding affirms a wealth of literature documenting marked horizontal inequality in Nigeria, with ethnic minorities from the north of the country particularly lagging



#### Figure 10 Changes in child malnutrition relative ratio by group in Nepal and Nigeria

Note: Diagonal line represents no change in relative ratio, dots above the line increased relative ratio and dots below the line reduced the relative ratio.

Source: Author computation of DHS data.

#### Box 5 Monitoring group disparities throughout a distribution

The monitoring of group disparities can be enhanced by looking beyond group averages to compare the entire distribution of a characteristic. We demonstrate the difference this makes by considering the distribution of height-for-age in two regions of Nigeria, and how this changed between 2008 and 2018. The curves clearly overlap, but the most deprived region (the North West) is skewed towards the left, while the most advantaged region (the South East) is skewed towards the right. The vertical line indicates the stunting threshold (less than 2 standard deviations). In 2008, in the South East, the incidence of stunting is lower than in the North West (23% compared to 51%), and inequality widened thereafter. The incidence of stunting decreased from 23% to 18% in the South East, while it rose from 51% to 57% in the North West. While one distribution shifted to the right, the other moved to the left. Children in the North West were clearly left behind.



Distribution of stunting between the South East and North West regions of Nigeria, 2008 and 2018

Note: Y-axis values denote the probability density function for the kernel density estimation (probability per unit of the stunting score). Source: Author computation of DHS data.

(Langer and Stewart, 2015; Lynch et al., 2016; Archibong, 2018; Uzochukwu et al., 2020).

In Nepal, fewer groups are diverging from the average: children in households in the poorest wealth quintile, those living in the Mountain Zone, and Terai Dalit. Two disadvantaged groups are closing the gap: children in the second-poorest quintile and Muslims. The contrast with Nigeria is clear – and is echoed in the broader literature on group-based inequalities in Nepal which, depending on the group and indicator, shows both progress (Mehata et al., 2017; Acharya et al., 2019) and regression (Angdembe et al., 2019, Nepali et al., 2019, Conway et al., 2020).

## 3.2.4 Inequality in life chances – child mortality

What about child mortality? Nepal and Nigeria both belong to the group of 81 Countdown countries that jointly account for more than 90% of child deaths and 95% of maternal deaths.<sup>37</sup> However, the two countries had very different mortality profiles at the start of the period. The under-five mortality rate was 79 deaths per 1,000 live births in Nepal and over twice that in Nigeria, at 171 deaths per 1,000 live births. Over the following 10 years, the mortality rate fell by an average of 5.3% per year in Nepal, compared with 2.8% in Nigeria. As a result, the difference between the countries

<sup>37</sup> See www.countdown2030.org/about. The multi-institutional Countdown to 2015 and Countdown to 2030 initiatives have undertaken research and capacity-building aimed at galvanising improvements in maternal, newborn and child health.

grew: by the late 2010s, the under-five mortality rates were 46 and 129 per 1,000 live births for Nepal and Nigeria, respectively.

Examining mortality rates among disadvantaged populations reveals different trends in the two countries. Nepal shows much less dispersion in sub-national child mortality rates than Nigeria, with both negative and positive stories (Figure 11). Terai Dalit people stand out as an under-performing group given practically invariant levels of child mortality. Accordingly, a Terai Dalit child had a nearly equal chance of survival as the average Nepalese child in 2006, but was 1.8 times less likely to survive their fifth birthday in 2016. In contrast, the Hill Dalit people experienced above-average progress – a 7% annualised average reduction, compared to the 5.3% national average. This meant that the relative ratio for this group fell from 1.2 to parity over the 10-year period.

Children in the Far Western region and the poorest quintile also experienced below-average progress. In 2006, a child from the Far West was 1.3 times less likely to survive their fifth birthday than the average, a gap that increased to 1.5 by the end of the period. In contrast, in the Mountain zone and Mid-Western region, rapid progress was accompanied by greater equality in life chances. In 2006, a child from the Mid-Western region was 1.5 times less likely to .survive their fifth birthday than the average, a gap that disappeared by 2016.

Nigeria shows a contrasting pattern where the most deprived groups made slower progress and inequality in life chances widened (see Box 5). Consider the North West region and Hausa ethnic group, which experienced the highest child mortality, 217 and 227 per 1,000 live births, respectively. Mortality reduced by 1.5% yearly in the North West and 2% yearly among the Hausa, compared to the 2.8% national average. As a result, the relative ratio climbed from 1.27 to 1.46 for the North West, and from 1.32 to 1.43 for Hausa. The bottom two quintiles also experienced below-average progress. The positive story is that the North East region made fast progress, closing the gap in life chances. The North East had a child mortality rate of 222 per 1,000 live births in 2008, but progressed at an average rate of 4.9% annually. As a result, the relative ratio with the national average closed from 1.3 to nearly parity by the end of the period.

## 3.3 Intersecting inequalities in education (SDG4)

We consider next inequalities in education. SDG4 emphasises the reduction in gender inequalities in education, while also stating clearly the ambition to reduce inequalities affecting other vulnerable



Figure 11 Changes in the relative ratio of child mortality between disadvantaged population groups and the average in Nepal and Nigeria

Note: Diagonal line represents no change in relative ratio. Dots above the line increased relative ratio. Dots below the line reduced relative ratio.

Source: Author computation of DHS data.

groups (e.g. poor children, children with disabilities, geographically remote populations, PWDs, Indigenous communities, populations affected by conflict). Second, as discussed in Chapter 2, target 4.5 moves beyond an exclusive focus on how the bottom of the distribution compares to the national average to consider explicitly disparities between the worst-off and best-off groups. Moreover, SDG4 moves beyond service coverage (enrolment, attendance or school completion) to also assess the quality of education or minimum expected learning outcomes. This section illustrates the meaning of these emphases for monitoring the LNOB commitment.

We first examine changes in gender inequality with data from Nigeria and Nepal; in both countries, the attainment of boys and girls converges over the 10-year period. We then show variation in quality education across economic groups or geographies in these countries, emphasising how quality matters to an LNOBcentred analysis. So far, we have considered inequalities associated with membership of individual groups; we now examine how group-based inequalities may overlap in ways that multiply disadvantage. Finally, we show how simple multivariate analysis can help to disentangle the overlapping effects of multiple group identities. Decomposition analysis helps to identify the share of educational attainment

that can be attributed to changes in observable group-based differences such as gender, race and ethnicity, and which inequalities are more and less important in explaining changes in outcomes. We interrogate how different aspects of group identity interact and their cumulative effect using the Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition.

## **3.3.1 Educational attainment and gender inequality**

Indicator 4.5.1 refers to parity indices for the top/bottom of the distribution on all indicators in SDG4. This is similar to the approach used in Section 3.2 for child mortality and nutrition, but instead of computing the relative ratio between the most disadvantaged groups and the national average, we compute it between the least and most advantaged groups: e.g. girls/boys, bottom/ top wealth quintile, urban/rural zone and other relevant pairings. We use this disparate approach both to conform to the spirit of the targets within each SDG goal area, and to illustrate the two methods.

We first consider gender inequality in Nepal and Nigeria. Nepal shows rapid progress: primary school completion rose 15 percentage points over the 2006/16 period, to reach 88% in 2016, while lower secondary completion rose 20 points to 57% (Figure 12a). The gender gap closed for both primary and lower secondary completion:



Figure 12 Lower secondary completion by gender in Nepal and Nigeria

Source: Author computation of DHS data.

for the latter by more than half, from 13 points in 2006 to six points in 2016.<sup>38</sup> In 2006, boys were 1.4 times more likely to complete lower secondary education, a ratio that reached nearparity by 2016.<sup>39</sup> In contrast, primary and lower secondary school completion stagnated in Nigeria between 2008 and 2018, except for girls in lower secondary school, among whom it rose from 44% to 53% (Figure 12b).<sup>40</sup> Here too, the gender gap in lower secondary completion narrowed. Boys were over 1.4 times more likely to complete secondary education in 2008, a ratio that declined to less than 1.2 in 2018.

Gender is, of course, just one category associated with disparate educational outcomes in some countries; indeed, while gender parity has been reached worldwide in pre-primary through secondary education enrolment, significant gaps remain.<sup>41</sup> Alongside gender, numerous other factors condition outcomes and merit this type of analysis – including parents' education, household geographical location, socio-economic status, ethnic or racial identity and/or religion.

## **3.3.2 Differential access to good-quality education**

SDG4 is also innovative in its focus on the quality of education and learning outcomes. Indeed, completing primary or even secondary

education may mean little if quality is poor. A core problem is that quality is often sacrificed when coverage is expanded. Quality of education may differ among more and less privileged groups. In this section, we explore this issue in Nepal and Nigeria.

An additional point to stress is the possibility of using data that is available in new ways to provide additional insights into who is being left behind; in this case, following Pritchett and Sandefur (2020), we use DHS data on schooling attainment and literacy to give some insights into the quality of education, in the absence of more sophisticated measures of learning outcomes.<sup>42</sup> Again, we argue that a lack of data is not a sufficient reason to postpone analysis and action on this important agenda.

Presently, indicators of school quality remain extremely limited, especially for LICs and LMICs. Learning outcomes are measured principally through national school assessments or household-based learning assessments (such as UNICEF's Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey or the citizen-led initiatives that comprise the PAL Network).<sup>43</sup> We proxy education quality using the primary school completion rate, adjusted for whether respondents who have completed this level of schooling can read a short sentence. The picture varies across

38 The increases in female primary and lower-secondary completion are statistically significant at a 95% significance level.

- 39 The increases in male primary and lower-secondary completion are statistically significant at a 95% level. By 2016, the gender gap in lower secondary completion was no longer statistically significant.
- 40 Nigeria has a high primary completion rate, above 90% for boys and about 87% for girls. The small fluctuations over the whole period are not statistically significant. The quality of education also varies significantly compared with Nepal: after adjusting the 2018 completion rate by whether children were able to read short sentences, primary school completion decreases to less than 70% for both girls and boys.
- 41 For example, according to UNESCO (2020: 256), 'in one-quarter of low-income countries, for every 100 males, fewer than 87 females are enrolled in primary education and fewer than 60 in upper secondary, at which level only 25% of countries have achieved parity'.
- 42 Important initiatives are seeking to produce comparative data on learning outcomes. UNESCO's 2013/2014 Global Monitoring Report initially used the DHS direct assessment to study literacy among young women across West Africa, but did not combine this indicator with completion rates. The World Inequality Database of Education (WIDE) from UNESCO provides a set of indicators on learning achievements disaggregated by population sub-groups, but only for countries that are part of the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA). UNESCO and the World Bank have produced a dataset harmonising scores from major international and regional testing programmes as part of the Human Capital Project (HCP), but this data is not disaggregated by population sub-group.
- 43 https://palnetwork.org/what-we-do/.

countries, highlighting wide disparities in educational quality, which reproduce inequalities in opportunities and life chances.

In Nigeria (2018), the average primary completion rate drops 20 points after adjusting by quality, from 88% to 68%. The adjustment is larger for households in the poorest quintile than for those in the top quintile (Figure 13a). In the poorest quintile, primary completion drops by 31 points, from 47% to 17%, while for households in the richest quintile, it falls only nine percentage points, from 99% to 90%. As a result, inequality among wealth quintiles increases once education quality is accounted for: the gap between the poorest and richest wealth quintile climbs from 52 percentage points to 74. Expressed in terms of the parity index, children from the richest quintile are more than twice as likely to complete primary school than those from the poorest quintile; after adjusting



Figure 13 Differential access to good-quality education





Source: Author computation of DHS data.

the data for quality, the parity index increases to 5.4. The comparison against the national average is also striking. The poor were 1.9 times less likely to complete primary school before the adjustment, and 4.1 times less likely afterwards. In short, disparities in the quality of education are exacerbating inequalities in coverage between economic groups.

The situation in Nepal is different in that the adjustment for quality has much smaller effects (Figure 13b). The national primary completion rate declines only eight points, from 88% to 80%, post-adjustment. Inequality increases slightly between the most advantaged Far-Western region and the most disadvantaged Central region, from 15 points to 22 points, and the parity index increased slightly, from 1.2 to 1.3. In short, the quality of education is higher in Nepal than Nigeria, and it exhibits less groupbased inequality in this indicator.

#### 3.3.3 Intersectionality in education

As discussed in Chapter 2, accumulating evidence suggests that group-based inequalities may overlap in ways that multiply disadvantage for left-behind groups. For example, Lenhardt and Samman (2015) show that not only do factors such as race, ethnicity, socioeconomic status and rural residence contribute to inequalities in educational and health outcomes for women in 16 LICs and MICs, but that each intersection of these characteristics also contributes to unequal outcomes. In Ghana in 2008, they find that the average woman had six years of education compared with less than one year for the poorest women from the Gruma ethnic group. More broadly, UNESCO's World Inequality Database on Education (WIDE) presents a comprehensive mapping of inequalities in education indicators relating to wealth, gender, ethnicity and location, and combinations thereof.44

In Nigeria, economic status, geography and gender jointly shape average years of schooling in 2008 and 2018 (Figure 14). People from the North West region have fewer years of schooling than those from the South South (or Niger Delta) region, but this geographical difference is much less pronounced among the rich. Gender inequality is also higher in the North West, especially among people from the top quintile.

The positive story is that gender gaps fell between 2008 and 2018. This was especially pronounced in the poorest quintile in the South South region, where the parity ratio fell from 1.5 to 1.2, but also evident in the top quintile in the North West, where it fell from 1.3 to 1.2. In contrast, the gender gap among the poorest in the North West increased slightly. However, perhaps more notable is the persistence of inequality between households in the richest and the poorest quintiles, and between the two regions.

For illustrative purposes, the previous analysis only displays two regions and two quintiles in Nigeria. The diagrams would of course become much more complex if further groups – and interactions between them – were included, and small sample sizes would become problematic (Box 6).<sup>45</sup> A different approach to assessing the extent to which group membership and intersections among them matter is to use multivariate statistical analysis.

A signal benefit of multivariate analysis is that it addresses the high correlation or overlaps between group affiliations (for example, in Nigeria most people of the Igbo ethnicity live in the South East region, while Hausa live in the North, making it difficult to disentangle how ethnicity and region separately influence wellbeing). The problem is that simple arithmetic differences can overstate the effect of each individual difference if there is a large effect from correlation. This means that policy-makers may want to know the 'net effect' from differences by category to help design programmes and fund them efficiently. Hence, any assessment of 'net differences' between categories should assess how far they overlap as well as differ (intersectionality), to increase disadvantage.

<sup>44</sup> www.education-inequalities.org/.

<sup>45</sup> Kabeer and Santos (2017) provide detailed analysis on intersectionality for Brazil through a series of tables and graphs focusing on the intersections that matter most.



## Figure 14 Intersecting inequality in education, Nigeria, 2008 and 2018

Note: Sample sizes become smaller when computing intersections. We conducted t-tests to assess gender disparities in each year and differences over time. Gender disparities were all statistically significant at 99% level, except among the richest quintile in South South and the poorest quintile in 2018 (for whom it is significant only at 97.5% level). Changes in gender inequality are significant at 99% level for people from the poorest quintile in North West (where the gender gap increased), and significant at the 97% level among households in the richest quintile in North West (where the gender gap declined). Differences are significant for the poorest quintile in South South (where the gender gap declined) at only an 87% level. There is practically no gender inequality among the richest quintile in South South region; differences are only significant at a 70% level. Source: Author computation of DHS data.

#### Box 6 Issues with small samples in LNOB analysis

A commitment to data disaggregation underpins the LNOB agenda, given wide disparities within countries that national averages hide. However, the number of respondents in household surveys belonging to particular subpopulations may be small – e.g. where the interest is in identifying the experience of overlapping disadvantages (see Box 4) and/or challenges that typically affect relatively few people, such as living with a disability.

The statistical analysis of data for small groups can pose technical challenges. The more data is disaggregated to consider small population groups, the less precise the resulting estimates will be. It is good practice to report standard error and confidence intervals to ascertain the level of uncertainty associated with various estimations. More importantly, it is advisable to conduct hypothesis tests to evaluate the statistical significance of any observed differences.

## 3.3.4 Within and between group inequality

How can we assess how much inequality is attributable to differences between groups in the population? Some inequality measures decompose inequality into 'within-group' and 'between-group' components. We use the Theil index (Theil, 1967; Cowell, 2003; Foster et al., 2013) to demonstrate how to identify the proportion of inequality attributable to differences between groups in Brazil, and how these have changed between 2002 and 2015. It should be noted from the outset that policy should respond not only to the degree of inequality between and within groups, but also to the social weight accorded to each; betweengroup inequality may be a higher priority for this reason, even if it is a small share of the total (Kanbur, 2006).

Between-group inequality is in part a function of how many groups there are – it tends to be higher where the number of groups is larger. In Brazil, differences between income groups (quintiles and poor-non poor) accounted for relatively more inequality than difference between groups defined by race or geography (Figure 15). At one extreme, between-group inequality across income quintiles accounted for 17.5% of total inequality in 2002; at the other, differences between men and women accounted for less than 1% of the total. Where inequality is considered jointly across two or more groups, the share of inequality accounted for by between-group difference rises. At most, 25% of the index is explained by between-group inequality (in 2002, when analysing the joint effects of urban/rural, quintiles and race). The joint effect of gender, race and geography, in contrast, accounted for 9% of overall inequality in 2002, and 7% in 2015.

The Theil index indicates a reduction in inequality in years of schooling (it was 0.146 in 2002, 0.127 in 2008 and 0.104 in 2015). Moreover, the share of inequality attributable to differences between groups fell for all groups and time periods with the sole exception of differences between poor and non-poor people between 2002 and 2008, during which period the poor were left behind with respect to schooling. Inequality between groups defined by race, region and urban/rural zones also declined at a lower rate than inequality between income groups, but from lower initial levels.





Note: B40, bottom 40%. The analysis is based on decomposition of the Theil generalised entropy inequality measure. Decomposition analyses are computed separately for each variable or combination of variables. Source: Author computation of DHS data.

#### 3.3.5 Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition

The ability to decompose inequality between groups can be extended to consider how group-based inequalities interact with vertical inequalities (e.g. for the poor or by quintile group). Such a decomposition can help policymakers determine the weight that needs to be given to programmes targeted in different ways to respond to inequalities. This approach to decomposing differences between groups and over time can help. Decomposition exercises enable assessment of which factors contribute to inequality in income, health or education, and the extent of their contributions. The aim is to identify the factors that generate the inequality while controlling for overlapping factors – such as race, geography and poverty. The Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition (Blinder, 1973; Oaxaca, 1973) is helpful in studying group inequality (e.g. Finn and Leibbrandt, 2018; Oh, 2019; Vu and Yamada, 2018) because it can assess the net effect of group membership (independent of other or overlapping groups) and control for other drivers of difference, such as poverty. In this way it is possible to decompose factors that lie across vertical and horizontal differences in group-based inequality. This regressionbased technique breaks down the difference (in the mean averages of a dependent variable, typically wages or incomes) between groups into two parts: the contribution of differences from group characteristics, often referred to as 'endowment effect', and the difference in the unexplained factors associated with those characteristics, referred to as the 'coefficient effect'. The difference in returns is unobserved and could reflect unequal service access and/or discrimination (Baulch et al., 2009).

We adopt this method to show its value in assessing changes over time, focusing on years of schooling in Brazil. The model decomposes differences between 2002 and 2015, showing how much of the difference in attainment can be explained by group characteristics (gender, urban/rural zone, region, race, ethnicity or poverty status). In the absence of group-based inequality, the only difference will be the change in average years of schooling over time independently of group characteristics (Box 7).<sup>46</sup>

What did we find? Mean years of schooling improved by 1.6 years, from 6.4 in 2002 to 8.3 in 2015. Nearly one-quarter (23%) of this difference can be explained by changes in group inequality. Improvements among income-poor

#### Box 7 The Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition

In its traditional form, the Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition explains the change in the gap in an outcome variable (in our case, average years of education) between two or more groups (e.g. poor and nonpoor, females and males). This change is attributed either to group differences in the magnitudes of variables associated with the outcome, or group differences in the effects of the associated variables. An 'unexplained' component contains the contribution of those factors not included in the model, and the change in the outcome of interest independently of group characteristics.

Our model explains instead changes in average years of education between 2002 and 2015 where group affiliations are the independent variables associated with the outcome. So, we explain how much of the overall change is due to changes in the magnitude of a particular group, or changes in the effect of the group.

We use a two-fold model that distributes the variance of the interaction term between the explained and unexplained component. We restrict years of education to the lower secondary level (11 years) to focus on individuals situated nearer the bottom of the distribution, and our analysis to the 20 to 49 age group, to capture more recent experiences of education.

<sup>46</sup> Note this is not a traditional application of the Blinder-Oaxaca method. It is more common to decompose wages or income between two groups (i.e. men and women), given a set of endowments. We consider multiple groups and their intersections (to identify the relative risk of being left behind) and assess changes over time.

people made the greatest contribution (Figure 16, 'Group characteristics' column). Indeed, their average years of schooling increased by 1.8, from 5.2 to 7.0, an average annual improvement of 2.3%, compared to 1.6% for Brazil as a whole. The second part of the graph ('Coefficient' column) indicates the unobserved effect associated with each characteristic on years of schooling. It shows that the higher income resulting from increased years of education for poor people grows in importance over time.

The second largest contributor to changes over time is race (relative to white and Amarelo). We know that race and poverty overlap considerably – 15% of the white and Amarelo population were poor in 2015, compared with 31% of the Black and Mixed-Race population – as do race and geography. The Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition considers then the multivariate effect. Still, a large proportion is explained by race. Indeed, the Black and Mixed-Race population improved at a relative annual rate of 2.2%, compared to 1.3% for the white and Amarelo population. As a result, the gap between these two groups fell from 1.26 to 1.13 over the 13-year period.

The third largest contributor is geographical region (relative to the South). Again, region of residence and poverty correlate highly; the North East and North have poverty headcounts of 42% and 38%, compared to less than 15% in all other regions. There is also a racial geographical distinction: more than 70% of the population in the North and North East are Black or Mixed-Race, while 80% of the population in the South are white. The decomposition indicates that improvements in years of schooling across regions contributes less to overall improvement than progress among the poor or racial groups. The gap between the most and least deprived regions fell from 1.28 in 2002 to 1.16 in 2015.

So how does this analysis contribute to our understanding? Policy-makers will want to know how much inequality is attributable to groupbased difference, the extent to which this share changes over time, and whether any changes are attributable to shifting group membership and/or the gains related to those memberships. Having this information could help to highlight policy drivers and priorities – for example, changes in returns to lower-income workers may result from a declining skills premium, as has been the case in Latin America over the last decade, and/or a minimum wage policy. Understanding better whether and how poverty and race and ethnicity contribute independently and jointly to outcomes could therefore inform



Figure 16 Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition changes in years of schooling, Brazil 2002/2015

Source: Author computation of DHS data.

the design and targeting of remedial policy and help clearly evaluate policies that address general and group-based disadvantage.

## **3.4 How group-based** disadvantage is reflected in access to services and their quality

How can inequalities in treatment by services be assessed? Access to services is a necessary but insufficient guarantee of a reduction in inequalities between groups. This final section explores how absolute and relative disadvantage are reflected in both service access and quality. Service access may not translate into the expected outcomes (i.e. health clinic attendance and reduced child mortality), either because of quality deficits, discrimination at the point of service and/or other forms of structural discrimination (e.g. children from poor households will have a higher mortality risk if they are stunted, even if exposed to the same health interventions as rich households). Information on interventions alone – e.g. skilled birth attendance or immunisation – therefore provides only partial information on whether people are being left behind. This section seeks to better understand group-based inequalities in access to various health services, how these changed over time and how they map onto inequalities in child mortality.

We focus on inequalities in child mortality and on interventions intended to reduce their incidence in Nepal (see Box 8). A recent analysis of child health inequalities in 88 Countdown and non-Countdown countries between 2000 and 2014 pointed to several stylised facts:

1. Children in the poorest households were three times as likely to die before age five than those in the richest households, a trend that worsened in most countries over the MDG period.

#### Box 8 Measuring disparities in service access: the Composite Coverage Index and concentration index

**Interventions indicator:** WHO's Composite Coverage Index (CCI) (Wehrmeister et al., 2016) is 'the weighted average of the percentage coverage of eight interventions along four stages of the continuum of care: reproductive care; maternal care; childhood immunization; and management of childhood illness'. The interventions are: (1) family planning coverage (SDG 3.7.1); (2) skilled birth attendant (3.2.1); (3) at least one antenatal care visit by a skilled provider (3.8.1); (4) bacille Calmette–Guérin (BCG) vaccination (3.b.1); (5) three diphtheria–tetanus–pertussis (DTP3) vaccinations (3.b.1); (6) measles vaccination (3.b.1); (7) oral rehydration therapy for infant diarrhea (proxy for 3.8.1); and (8) care-seeking for childhood pneumonia (3.8.1).<sup>i</sup>

**Concentration index**: This measures the extent to which health outcomes or interventions differ by individuals' socio-economic status; it is generated from a concentration curve, similar to Lorenz curves in inequality analysis, plotting the cumulative proportion of the health variable (e.g. child mortality) against the cumulative proportion of the population ranked by wealth (Kakwani et al., 1997; Li et al., 2017). The measure is analogous to the Gini coefficient except that individuals are ranked by the household's score on the wealth index, rather than by the health indicator (Wagstaff et al., 2014: 142). The index ranges from minus 100 to 100 with zero representing perfect equality. For negative indicators (e.g. child mortality), a higher negative value indicates that poor health outcomes are more prevalent among the poor; for positive indicators (e.g. the CCI), a higher value suggests more inequality.

i The CCI is designed to cover four intervention areas with different service delivery strategies: contraception, antenatal and delivery care, child immunisation and case management for common child illnesses (Wehrmeister et al., 2016). Analysing the distribution of these individual indicators would also be a useful exercise for targeting efforts to address any particular weaknesses, but this is beyond the scope of this report.



Figure 17 Trends in Nepal by quintile for Composite Coverage Index and child mortality rate, 2006–2016

Source: Author computation of CCI from WHO Global Health Observatory database and child mortality from DHS.

- 2. Although child health and the coverage of interventions improved for almost all wealth quintiles, progress in reducing child health inequalities differs greatly by country.
- 3. The deterioration in inequality among socioeconomic groups was 'heavily concentrated' in Countdown countries (Li et al., 2017).

We explore trends by wealth quintile, given that 'socioeconomic status is an essential factor associated with child health' (ibid.). Indeed, Countdown analysis indicates: 'child health interventions tend to reach the wealthiest children first in the absence of policy instruments for addressing inequality' (Boerma et al., 2008). In Nepal, the child mortality rate is lower the higher the wealth quintile, and it fell for all wealth quintiles over the period 2006–2016 (Figure 17). The decline in inequality in Nepal bucks the trend for Countdown countries – more than 90% of countries with deteriorating inequality in the coverage of child health outcomes were Countdown countries (Li et al., 2017).

We examine the annual relative rate of improvement in the CCI and in child mortality for a range of social and economic groups (Figure 18). The near-universal improvements in both indicators are notable – with puzzling exceptions that include a rise in child mortality in 2006/2011 among mothers with a secondary education, and in 2011/2016 a decline in the

CCI among the top quintile and urban residents. In Chapter 4, we describe how a huge pro-poor and pro-rural push in health service expansion in Nepal may have compromised the health status of the urban poor. The pattern shown here appears to corroborate that account. The variation in the relative rate of improvement across groups also deserves comment. In the first half of the decade, the increase in the CCI seems to have occurred at an equal rate in urban and rural areas (though presumably, in the latter, from a lower base), and at a higher rate for the poorest quintile compared to the remainder of the population. In the second half of the decade, rural areas seem to have gained relative to urban areas, and the rate of increase across quintiles is highly progressive. However, for improvements in child mortality, between 2006 and 2011 the population with no formal education and rural residents appear to have experienced the largest improvements, as well as (counter-intuitively) those in the third and richest quintile. In the second period, people with a primary education appear to have experienced the greatest relative improvement in child mortality, changes in urban and rural areas were quite similar, and the fourth and fifth quintiles benefitted at a disproportionately high rate.

The concentration indices for both the CCI and under-five mortality show a reduction in inequality among the quintiles over time, reaching

## Figure 18 Annual average rate of improvement in the Composite Coverage Index and child mortality in Nepal by social and economic group, 2006/2011 and 2011/2016



Annual relative rate of improvement 2006/2011

Annual relative rate of improvement 2011/2016

Note: Reductions in child mortality are plotted on a positive scale for ready comparison with improvements in the CCI. Confidence intervals are approximated, conservatively assuming 10% error, given that our group CCI estimates are from WHO (rather than computed directly from the microdata).

Source: Author computation of data on the CCI from WHO Global Health Observatory database and child mortality from DHS.

near-parity, especially in CCI (Table 2).<sup>47</sup> For the CCI, this decline in inequality is also reflected in the ratio of child mortality between the top and bottom wealth quintiles, and between the bottom quintile and the median (in both cases reaching nearly parity). For under-five mortality, the ratios tell a different story. The ratios between the top and bottom wealth quintile, and the median and the bottom, increase over time. This is mostly because the poor were making slower progress than the national average or progress among the rich. It is positive that child mortality was reducing among poor children, but relative inequalities between groups increased.

Tracing progress among the poorest 40% relative to the richest 60% of the population across 64 countries, for the period 1990–2011, Wagstaff et al. (2014) find that relative inequality in the intervention indicators fell, while in nearly half of the countries relative inequalities in outcomes grew.<sup>48</sup> In addition, in one-quarter of

these countries, the poorest 40% regressed in absolute terms on both the interventions and the outcomes. Wagstaff et al. (ibid.) posit that the disconnect between interventions and outcomes could be due to poorer-quality health care for lower socioeconomic groups or to widening inequalities in health interventions delivered outside the home. We would add to this the possibility that the social gradient in health may mediate between interventions and outcomes.

## 3.5 Shared prosperity and the incomes of the relatively poor (SDG10)

SDG10 introduces a different perspective to our discussion of LNOB because it is concerned with income growth and income inequality, rather than eliminating deprivation. We focus on the concept of 'shared prosperity'. This was proposed by the World Bank (2015)

47 The index for child mortality in 2011 is very low because of a swap between the second and third quintile.

<sup>48</sup> Wagstaff et al. (2014) explore inequalities in seven interventions and five outcomes. The interventions are antenatal care (more than four visits), skilled birth attendance, DTP (diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis vaccination), measles vaccination, use of insecticide-treated bednets, condom use in risky intercourse and contraceptive prevalence. The outcomes they explore are under-five mortality, stunting, infant mortality, underweight and HIV.

	Composite Coverage Index				Under-five child mortality		
	Concentration Index	Ratio Top–Bottom	Ratio Bottom–Median	Concentration Index	Ratio Top–Bottom	Ratio Bottom–Median	
2006	0.0188	1.36	1.70	-0.2583	2.1	1.1	
2011	0.0173	1.20	1.53	-0.0154	2.1	1.2	
2016	0.0084	1.06	1.13	-0.1455	2.6	1.3	

 Table 2
 Trends in the Composite Coverage Index and in child mortality in Nepal, 2006–2016

Source: Author computation of data on the CCI from WHO Global Health Observatory database and child mortality from DHS.

and is at the core of SDG target 10.1, which seeks to ensure that the bottom 40% within societies experience income growth 'at a rate higher than the national average'.<sup>49</sup> In this discussion, we revisit Brazil to take advantage of the information it offers on income and its distribution. Our analysis considers a broad range of groups.

## 3.5.1 Shared prosperity and the bottom 40%

In Brazil, as of 2015, the median income among the top 60% of the population was 3.36 times higher than that of the bottom 40% (B40). At least half of B40 are considered poor according to the \$5.50 a day (2011 PPP) poverty line.<sup>50</sup> In line with the World Bank's principle of 'promoting shared prosperity', we compare growth in the median income of the bottom 40% of the income/consumption distribution with the national average (Figure 19). National incomes grew by 4.8% annually between 2002 and 2015. A first question we pose is how the income of the poorer population (B40) fared relative to the population average – i.e. whether it increased at the same rate, or more quickly or slowly. Figure 19 compares the rate of real (CPI inflation adjusted) household income growth for B40 relative to the national average over the three survey years: 2002, 2008 and 2015. Over the whole 2002–2015 period, the growth rate of B40 income is somewhat higher than the average (5.4% and 4.8% respectively per year). However, the earlier 2002/2008 period saw much higher income growth for the poor compared to the average (7.7% against 6.6%), such that the gap between the poor and the rest of the population narrowed much more quickly during that period, which also had the overall higher rate of real income growth. A period of lower income growth since 2008 has seen the growth rates of B40 and the average equalise. The growth incidence curve confirms that B40 performed above the national median, indicating a solid decline in inequality (Figure 20). This pro-poor growth in the early 2000s accords with the broader evidence on Luiz Inácio Lula da Silva's presidency from 2003, propelled by its flagship Fome Zero (Zero Hunger) policy (e.g. Hall, 2006; Love and Baer, 2009; Neri, 2014). The gains are primarily attributable to minimum wage rises alongside the expansion of social assistance transfers (Lustig et al., 2012; Barrientos, 2013). Evidence indicates a similar equalising pattern in Latin America in the 2013–2018 period, whereby the relative income growth of households at the bottom of the income distribution was in most countries significantly higher than those at the top.<sup>51</sup>

<sup>49</sup> For antecedents and technical discussions on measuring shared prosperity, see also Ferreira et al. (2018) and Rosenblatt and McGavock (2013).

<sup>50</sup> The poverty line of \$5.50 a day (2011 PPP) in 2015 was 360 (local currency), which is just above the limit of the bottom quintile (316.67). The median income of the bottom 40% is 139 (local currency), 38.5% the value of the poverty line.

<sup>51</sup> See figures from SEDLAC: www.worldbank.org/en/topic/poverty/lac-equity-lab1/economic-growth/growth-incidence-curve.





Annual average rate of growth in real household income per capita

Note: CPI inflation adjusted (CPI = 2002). Source: Author computation of PNAD data.





Note: CPI inflation adjusted (CPI = 2002); 95% winsorisation. Source: Author computation of PNAD data.

## 3.6 Group-based income inequality (SDG10)

We see that growth in household incomes has been relatively pro-poor in Brazil. But what lies beneath these aggregates? How have the incomes of a wider range of disadvantaged groups changed relative to the average? What are the absolute gains, and how are they distributed? First, we consider absolute changes between 2002 and 2015. All the groups we identify have improved in absolute terms in that their real incomes have risen.

The comparison of per capita incomes between 2002 and 2015 for disadvantaged groups suggests a mixed picture (Figure 21; see also Rodríguez Takeuchi and Mariotti 2016; Kabeer and Santos, 2017). Some relatively deprived groups are improving at a faster rate than the national average, in particular people who are in B40, those in rural areas, in the North East region, and those who identify as Black

or Mixed-Race. However, other groups are clearly underperforming and therefore being 'left behind', notably Indigenous people, those living in the North and female-headed households.

Moreover, despite rapid overall progress, absolute inequalities between many groups are rising even where relative inequalities are declining. For example, in the North East region, the median real income more than doubled over the 13-year period, while in the South the median real income rose only 1.7 times. However, this 'pro-poor' growth notwithstanding, the average real income in the South rose by 170 real compared with 102 real in the North-East (Figure 21). Identifying who is left behind, therefore, depends on the approach adopted.<sup>52</sup> In the strictest interpretation of the LNOB principle, the most deprived region would need to make faster progress in both relative and absolute terms to fully close the life chances gap (see the three intepretations at the beginning of this chapter).

Finally, we compare actual income growth over the 2002–2015 period with a proportionate (inequality-preserving) change and an absolute change in which consumption within each quintile increases by the same amount (following

Atkinson and Brandolini, 2010; Atkinson and Lugo, 2010). The measure highlights that inequality-neutral growth may not be sufficient to combat poverty. For Tanzania, Atkinson and Lugo (2010) report: 'when considering the contribution of growth to reducing absolute poverty, it seems natural to measure inequality also on an absolute basis, and this highlights the fact that the poorest have benefited much less in absolute terms. The distribution of the absolute gains was far from neutral'. This tendency is also evident for Brazil (Figure 22). Indeed, the actual income gains were lower than a neutral rise in income (in which all incomes grew the same amount as the national average) would dictate for the poorest two quintiles, about equal for the third and higher for the fourth and fifth quintiles. In other words, growth led to an increase in the absolute gap between rich and poor. However, in relative terms, the actual change for all quintiles (and particularly the top two quintiles) was lower than would be dictated by a distribution-neutral shift in which all incomes grew at the same rate as the national average. The conclusion is that income growth was pro-poor with a reduction in relative inequality (indeed, the Gini index fell

Figure 21 Comparison of median income per capita between groups, Brazil, 2002 and 2015



Note: CPI inflation adjusted (CPI = 2002). 95% winsorisation. Source: Author computation of PNAD data

52 Median incomes in 2002 and 2015 by group are very highly correlated: r(s)=.9522, p=.0000.



Figure 22 Absolute increases in per capita income by quintile groups, Brazil, 2002–2015

Note: CPI inflation adjusted (CPI = 2002). Source: Author computation of PNAD data.

from .58 to .51 between 2002 and 2015), but absolute inequality in incomes increased. In other words, the first two of our LNOB criteria are met (absolute progress for all groups and relatively higher progress for the more disadvantaged groups; but the third – which requires absolute inequalities to close – did not.

## 3.7 Extending these results

This chapter considered how LNOB populations can be identified and profiled. We gave illustrative examples of a range of approaches that can be used across different SDG targets and goals. These examples are purely that: they demonstrate how fairly simple statistical profiling can tell a clear story of trends in differences between groups, and between the poorest and others. The methods we show are not fixed to the SDG targets we use - the analysis of trends over time, shown for poverty, can be used for any indicator. Similarly, the most complex approach we use, the Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition, can be used for differences at a point in time for any indicator, as well as decomposing changes in difference over time. Readers should consider how to use these approaches to develop clear empirical trends in LNOB that match the SDG goals they are focusing on. What approach best demonstrates the trends in difference for the most disadvantaged groups, for which services and programmes?

# 4 How can the agenda be taken forward?

What do we know about how policy can respond to LNOB? What does the evidence say? We have set out a theory of the approach and how this leads to the measurement and identification of trends in inequality and their composition. These provide the material for an evidence-based policy response to inequality under the SDG agenda to 'leave no one behind'. In this chapter, we address what this response could look like: the options available to countries to formulate or refine their policy to address persisting group-based and vertical inequalities, and the implications for data and financing. We do not attempt to review the large literature on applied evaluation of programmes that have had impacts on inequality and poverty reduction, and which can demonstrate proven applied responses to LNOB. This is an area needing systematic review and analysis, but this is beyond the scope of this report. Instead, we highlight selected policy principles and give some examples of their operationalisation.

## 4.1 Operationalising LNOB through national-level policies

In this report, we have noted that different interpretations of LNOB call for different approaches to measurement and policy design. For example, an approach that views power imbalances as the structural basis for the marginalisation of some groups will necessarily lead to an emphasis on power struggles prompting legislative and political shifts to explain change at the national and local levels (Box 9).

Given this report's focus on how LNOB can be implemented within existing international and national policy architectures, this section will highlight principles and examples of promising policies that have been shown to reduce groupbased disparities. Since 2015, INGOs and CSOs (and to a lesser degree country VNRs) have attempted to delineate the shape of the LNOB agenda.<sup>53</sup> Our observations on ways forward articulated by organisations and think tanks (see Chapter 2, Box 1) show that their recommendations often advocate for progressive universalism, addressing discrimination (through positive discrimination and anti-discrimination measures) and recognising intersectionality.<sup>54</sup> These approaches are also reflected in the scholarly literature on the reduction of group inequalities (Stewart, 2000; Stewart et al., 2010; Hankivsky and Cormier, 2011; UNDP, 2012; 2019; Anttonen and Sipilä, 2014; Carey and Crammond, 2017). We underline the need for further research to embed these principles within a broader array of policy approaches that includes both structural and incremental reforms.

First is **progressive universalism**. Undifferentiated universal policies typically give less weight to the needs of the most

<sup>53</sup> We echo the limitation of Chapter 2, namely that the scope of this report precluded a review of national development plans or sector strategies within the 193 UN member states to note the degree to which domestic policy-making since September 2015 reflects the LNOB agenda. We relied on VNRs to assess how national governments are focusing on LNOB and to identify the policy options discussed in this chapter.

<sup>54</sup> These range from specific social protection instruments (Blampied et al., 2016; UNDP, 2018) to policies aimed at specific populations, e.g. women's economic empowerment programmes (UN Women, 2017; GIZ, 2019; Government of Ireland, 2019), to sector-specific mandates e.g. in education by The International Commission on Financing Global Education Opportunity (2016).

#### Box 9 Social movements and the reduction of group-based inequality

We highlight selected cases in which social movements have been pivotal in reducing groupbased disparities:

**Rural women in Bolivia and Brazil:** Strong national-level rural women's movements were the main advocates behind women's land rights in both countries. Reforms were most effective in Brazil, under Lula, in part because of a 20-year period in which organised rural women demanded land rights with increasing intensity. In Bolivia, under Morales, reforms also benefited significant numbers of rural women, primarily through the joint titling of land to couples, the main demand of the autonomous rural women's moment. In Venezuela and Ecuador, in contrast, 'the lack of a strong and autonomous rural women's movement in an overall context in which the rural social movements are either relatively weak or divided has produced less tangible results' (Deere 2017: 259–260).

**Domestic workers in South Africa:** The South African Domestic Service and Allied Workers Union (SADSAWU), a long-standing union of current and former domestic workers, has lobbied for fair treatment. In March 2012, 22 SADSAWU leaders camped outside parliament overnight to press for South Africa to ratify the International Labour Organization (ILO) Domestic Workers Convention (C189) – the first international labour standard to guarantee domestic workers the same basic rights as those available to other workers. The Union held a candlelit vigil and publicly presented a letter of demands to the President's office, a cumulation of efforts that attracted significant media coverage and led to a pivotal meeting with the labour minister, helping to pave the way for the cabinet's approval of C189 in 2013. The Union continues to work to ensure the convention's terms (limits on hours of work, weekly days off, minimum wage, payment of overtime, social security and clear terms and conditions of employment) are implemented and enforced (HRW, 2013; Howard and Witbooi, 2018).

**Marginalised groups in Nepal:** In Nepal, Janajatis, Dalits, Madhesis and women have been at the forefront of social movements demanding equal rights for their historically marginalised members. These groups were central in the First People's Movement of 1990, which reinstated democracy and created a space for organised collective action, with strategies ranging from nationwide strikes to negotiations. The Second People's Movement in 2006 was crucial in bringing the different movements together to end the civil war and the monarchy. Consequently, the Comprehensive Peace Accord (CPA) and the Interim Constitution affirmed a restructure of the state to end all forms of discrimination based on caste, ethnicity, gender and region, and began the process of inclusion in state policies and laws (adapted from Tamang, 2017).

disadvantaged populations. There is also evidence on Universal Health Coverage (UHC) (Victora et al., 2000; Nicholson et al., 2015) showing that, typically, the better-off benefit the most in the short term, for instance through the 'inverse care law' that says that those with highest needs often do not optimise their access to services. Accordingly, the principle of progressive universalism seeks to provide a service for all, *along with* targeted attempts to include the most disadvantaged and/or direct higher benefits to them. The social policy literature describes different methods of extending such support to disadvantaged groups. For some (Brewer et al., 2002; Wilby, 2007; Gugushvili and Hirsch, 2014; Hillman, 2018), progressive universalism connotes making a basic/low-level provision for all (either a specific population e.g. all children or all women, or all citizens in a country), but with an emphasis on additional support for groups deemed to need it. This type of progressive universalism echoes the principle of 'selectivity within universalism' (Skocpol, 1991; Jacques and Noël, 2020), which, through recognition of the specific needs of selected groups and a 'bending' of universal programmes, gives additional weight to the needs of the most disadvantaged.<sup>55</sup>

A second variant of progressive universalism (Townsend, 2009; Gwaktkin and Ergo, 2010; Bastagli et al., 2020) offers a different sequencing: policies reach specific groups first and are then gradually – over time – expanded to the larger group or to the wider citizenry in either/both scope and adequacy.

Such a phased roll-out aims to prioritise the neediest first, e.g. Mexico's Popular Insurance and Brazil's Family Health Program (Gwatkin and Ergo, 2010),<sup>56</sup> or child benefit programmes that progressively increase the age threshold of the recipient children and/or number of target children in a household (Bastagli et al., 2020).

Country decisions over which sequencing to use to channel benefits towards the poorest and most disadvantaged groups will often depend on both the existing system and breadth of policies, as well as financial capacity at a given time.<sup>57</sup> In both variants, policy interventions will rely on a degree of targeting – whether within or without a system of universal provision. For targeting to conform to the principle of equality and nondiscrimination (in line with the LNOB agenda), the selection of recipients

must be justified on objective and reasonable fact (e.g. when evidence suggests that a particular group is poorer than the rest of the population) and pursue a legitimate aim under human rights law (e.g. trying to benefit political supporters would not be considered legitimate) (Bastagli et al., 2020: 62).

Moreover, targeting is ideally used as one step towards achieving the goal of universal provision.

As an illustration, we will look at Nepal, one of our focus countries in this report but also a country where there is comparatively rich evidence on the link between policies and reduction of group inequalities. Nepali policy demonstrates how a 'pro-poor' programmatic approach has adopted the principles of progressive universalism in health. The 2006 national Free Health Care Policy Program marked the start of policy-makers' focus on a gradual shift towards UHC. The Program began by providing free emergency and inpatient services at district hospitals and primary health care centres (PHCCs) for set categories of people: the ultra-poor, the poor, <sup>58</sup> the elderly, the destitute, PWDs and female community health workers (FCHVs). The Extended Essential Free Health Care (EFHC) programme, introduced in 2008, expanded the Program to cover all users at all health posts and sub-health posts (SHPs). In 2009, free essential health care services were offered through all district-level facilities (Witter et al., 2011; Blampied et al., 2016), accompanied by the Free Delivery Policy (2009), which provided women with cash incentives and transport subsidies to deliver babies in health facilities. All citizens are now entitled to access

- 55 The idea harks back to the larger tradition espoused by Enlightenment thinkers, and most clearly seen in the work of Habermas (Abraham, 1994), in the formulation that differences such as race, class and gender need specific and special attention in the creation of a universal community where every person is equal.
- 56 However, evidence from Mexico suggests that, while the measures have done well in reducing vertical inequality the country's Healthcare Access and Quality Index (Barber et al., 2017) rating rose from 49.2 in 1990 to 62.6 in 2015 they have not been as effective in combatting horizontal inequalities. OECD (2016) has noted that, despite being considered universal, 'Most critically, Mexico's "health system" persists as a cluster of distinct sub-systems, each offering different levels of care, to different groups, at different prices, with different outcomes'. The study notes lower quality of services and outcomes in Oaxaca and Chiapas, which have the highest concentration of Indigenous populations.
- 57 Stuart et al. (2016) lay out how countries at different income levels can use distinct policies to move ahead an LNOB agenda. For instance, while LICs can pilot approaches to provide discriminated groups with labour market opportunities, MICs and HICs are better placed to expand minimum wage guarantees and employment quotas across industries for marginalised groups.
- 58 The ultra-poor were defined as citizens able to provide adequate food for less than six months a year, while the poor were defined as able to provide adequate food for between six and 12 months (Prasai, 2013).

PHCCs, SHPs, health posts and district hospitals for free outpatient, in-patient and emergency services, as well as free medication from a list of essential drugs (Conway et al., 2020).

Strategies to improve services and their uptake by remote populations concentrated on expanding the capacity of frontline grassroots FCHVs to support maternal and child health. The focus on FCHVs sat alongside the establishment of health posts in every village, as well as substantial investment in advocacy, especially for maternal health (Regmi et al., 2013; Engel et al., 2013; Blampied et al., 2016). Together, these policies had a strong positive impact on health outcomes in rural areas, particularly for the poorest wealth quintile over the period 2009–2012 (Prasai, 2013).

Progressive universalism, in this interpretation, requires moving from a focus solely on the poorest and most disadvantaged groups to their prioritisation within a universal model. Otherwise, countries risk creating new pockets of deprivation. For example, Nepal's concentration on rural primary health care was, until 2015, at the expense of the urban health service, particularly in poor urban areas (Blampied et al., 2016). Indeed, our analysis in Chapter 3 (Figure 18) shows the Composite Coverage Index (which measures interventions to support maternal and child health) declining in urban areas between 2011 and 2016, while expanding in rural areas. As such, we would argue that, where feasible, it is preferable to provide a minimum universal provision for all, with extra support for the most marginalised, rather than targeting the poorest first then moving towards universalism. As the case of Nepal shows, this latter interpretation risks creating new vulnerable populations, as well as increasing social tensions.

More recently there is evidence of countries adopting similar policies which show promise, although evaluations are not yet available to help us determine whether these have been successful in reducing group disparities. In education, Indonesia promotes a model whereby children with special needs can choose to attend a mainstream school, special education unit or special school (UNESCO, 2020). The country has been investing in increasing the inclusiveness of its mainstream education system from preprimary through tertiary education for students with disabilities (ibid.). Meanwhile, Kenya's approach to universalism in health is focused on geography: in December 2018, the country launched a programme as the first step in its goal to achieve UHC by 2022. The programme, known as Afya Care – Eema Wa Mkenya, began with coverage in four target counties – Kisumu, Nyeri, Isiolo and Machakos, counties with heavy disease burdens (Ministry of Health, 2018).

A second policy response to LNOB is addressing discrimination through positive discrimination (also known as affirmative action) and anti-discrimination measures.59 Efforts to promote equity need to address horizontal inequalities between population groups. However, inequalities cannot be ended merely by providing equal opportunities, since the ability to utilise those opportunities is conditioned by structural disadvantages and historical discrimination, as well as different needs. For this reason, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities understands that the 'denial of reasonable accommodation' to account for different needs itself discriminates against those with higher needs. Therefore, achieving equity requires that extra resources be directed toward certain groups. In other words, positive discrimination also embodies the principle of targeting those most disadvantaged and the poorest. This is partly why, legally and conceptually, positive discrimination has been contested by those who see it as a challenge to the principle of equality.<sup>60</sup>

In policy design, positive discrimination takes the form of quantifiable targets for access to

<sup>59</sup> Also known as positive and negative discrimination; positive discrimination seeks to advantage people based on their identity/characteristics/background, while negative discrimination seeks to protect people from being disadvantaged or treated poorly on these bases.

<sup>60</sup> For instance, in the UK, positive discrimination is illegal under the Equality Act of 2010, whereby an employer/ company cannot hire a person based on a protected characteristic alone. The Act provides legal recognition of protected characteristics, i.e. age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation.

and treatment by programmes, for instance in education, the labour market and political institutions. For example, under a programme that awarded bonus points to applicants from public high schools, Estevan et al. (2019) found that the admission probability of targeted applicants significantly increased at UNICAMP, a large and highly ranked Brazilian university. The policy was also associated with a shift towards admitting students from lower socioeconomic backgrounds.

While positive discrimination allows resources to be targeted to a particular group, 'this type of policy unavoidably increases the salience of identity difference, since individuals receive benefits because of their membership of particular groups' (Stewart, 2016: 6). The case of Nepal highlights the positive outcomes of the use of quotas as well as their limitations in translating into meaningful participation and in fueling competition between members of minority groups.

In Nepal, the 2017 local elections ushered in 41% female representation in local governments, a considerable improvement from the 20% in the previous election in 1997. The country's gender quotas mandate at least 33% female representation at the ward level, including a separate seat for a woman from the Dalit caste. In the 2017 elections, 47% of female local representatives were Dalits and 23% Khas Aryas, the dominant caste (Paswan, 2017). Despite this progress, men from the Khas Arya population continued to dominate decision-making posts: despite being only 16% of the total population, they made up 48% of mayors, 44% of chairpersons and 44% of ward chairs. Dalit men's representation stood at just 2.6%, and Dalit women at 18.7% of the total (ibid.). These:

stark differences collectively reaffirm existing research findings that show how quotas increase inclusion of women but mostly at the cost of minority group men, not majority group men. Hence, it cannot be assumed that women's political inclusion directly translates into reconfiguration of existing power structures, in fact it may even reproduce and reinforce other forms of marginalisation (Limbu, 2018).

While quotas have opened up legislatures in Nepal to women and minority social groups, translating symbolic representation into meaningful participation requires substantial work. Political parties relied on personal and political connections to identify female candidates, which meant that 'women who were situated in close proximity to men with political power benefited the most' (Limbu, 2018). Moreover, women were not able to command the same resources as many male candidates, and in office women face discrimination in their attempts to carry out their electoral mandates or simply in being recognised as legitimate by other elected politicians from dominant castes (Uehara, 2019). Creating meaningful participation through quotas therefore, in Nepal as elsewhere, requires interventions to directly address inequality in labour market access for women and control over assets, and challenging networks of personal and political connections that hamper access to politics (see OECD, 2015; 2017).

Meaningful inclusion also requires moving beyond conflating all minorities as one. In Nepal, the quota system has been criticised for changing the civil service in a manner that pits one minority group against another. In 2019, a proposed amendment of the Federal Civil Servants Bill included two new reservation clusters - Tharu and Muslim - while reducing the reservation for Adiwasi/Janajati and Madhesi clusters (Panday, 2019). Similarly, quotas for women in politics recognise Dalit women as a separate and specific category that was historically excluded from leadership positions. However, there is no recognition for other women, who are largely placed within the monolithic category of 'women in Nepal', which has had the indirect effect of women from Janajatis, Madheshis and Muslims competing against each other for the same seats, reinforcing social tension in areas where there is no Dalit candidate (Huber, 2017).

A second and accompanying method of addressing discrimination is criminalising

discriminatory conduct through legislation. However, while anti-discrimination legislation is a significant entry point to tackle group inequalities, it is only enforced in areas where the institutional environment is supportive (Marcus et al., 2016). For example, in Tanzania the HIV/AIDS Prevention and Control Act of 2008 protects against discrimination in the provision of health services. The Act has been used successfully to challenge stigma, but this success has depended on awareness of the Act and its implementation, access to resources to file a claim and a local court environment that has facilitated the application of the Act (Mdee et al., 2012). The presence of legislation itself in isolation from institutional supports is unlikely to be significant - as in Quezon City in the Philippines, where in 2019 a transwoman was attacked in the queue for the women's toilets and incarcerated by the police despite the passage of a local Gender-Fair Ordinance in 2014, which prohibits discrimination against LGBTQ+ members (Rappler.com, 2019).

Anti-discrimination measures can also take the form of public and communication campaigns that seek to dismantle discriminatory attitudes and erode discriminatory practices. For example, between 2003 and 2006, the Hey Girls, Let's Go to School campaign in Turkey used mass media and community-based mobilisation by volunteers and professionals targeting parents and households in a bid to boost girls' enrolment. The programme was credited with encouraging the enrolment of 350,000 out-of-school girls (UNICEF, 2014).

As described in Chapter 3, evidence from LNOB profiles also enables policy to move beyond simple definitions of groups to allow intersectionality in programme design and outreach. Intersectionality has been used to recognise that individuals face multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination, which can reinforce their disadvantage. Within policy design, the focus on each marker of disadvantage separately has been shown to cause populations to slip through the cracks of social protection. For example, Mangubhai and Capraro (2015) found that, in India, Dalit women are often excluded from work and higher education because there are two separate quotas they could be eligible for: a quota for women and a quota for Dalits. However, their attempts to access either quota are frustrated as they are directed to apply for the women's quota when they try to access the scheduled caste quota, and vice versa, and there is no particular category that specifically recognises a Dalit woman.

Intersectional policies can provide an opportunity to recognise the combination of vertical and horizontal inequalities – e.g. geography and ethnicity and/or gender and age. However it is clear that focusing on one single identity as the only means of providing services/ support to the poorest is unlikely to be enough for those facing multiple disadvantages.

How the principle of intersectionality transfers to policy design and implementation successfully is an understudied area. As Bhardwaj (2018) states: 'Perhaps the most significant challenge is that, in its purest form, intersectionality theory focuses on unique individual experiences', and thus defies umbrella characterisations of the recipient populations in policies or programmes. Similarly, in international development, intersectional thought introduces caution regarding any 'one-size-fits-all' approach (Chaplin et al., 2019).

However, we argue that a single broad approach has the potential to be intersectional when it simultaneously addresses the many root causes of multiple deprivations. It is also likely to be less stigmatising than an approach that requires poor individuals to sign up for separate programmes catering to one or more dimensions of deprivation. Additionally, such an approach can then be streamlined to ensure that, within groups, the most marginalised have adequate support to access the full benefits of the programme, thus incorporating principles of progressive universalism and positive discrimination. In policy design, both ultra-poor and 'universal plus' basic income supports are examples of
LNOB-sensitive programming in that their design recognises intersectional deprivations.<sup>61</sup>

Ultra-poor graduation programmes are designed to address the overlapping disadvantages and needs of the poorest by targeting the multiple deprivations they face, thereby illustrating one approach to intersectional programming. Ultra-poor people have been typically defined as:

those poorest section [sic] among the population with a few or no asset base, highly vulnerable to any shocks and mainly depending on wage labour. The main causes of their poverty, especially in the rural areas, are poverty inheritance, loss of income earner and ill health (Halder and Mosely, 2004).

The ultra-poor 'graduation approach' focuses on shifting the position of the poorest from economic insecurity to a sustainable livelihood. In six countries – Ethiopia, Ghana, Honduras, India, Pakistan and Peru – an ultra-poor graduation intervention aiming to address multiple causes of poverty provided households with an asset to enable self-employment, accompanied by other supportive interventions (including food security and health care).<sup>62</sup> Three years after receiving the assets and a year after the programme ended, evaluations found that, across the six countries:

program participants on average had significantly more assets and savings, spent more time working, went hungry on fewer days, and experienced lower levels of stress and improved physical health compared to those who did not receive the program. The program was also cost effective, with positive returns in five of six countries, ranging from 133 percent in Ghana to 433 percent in India. In other words, for every dollar spent on the program in India, ultrapoor households had \$4.33 in longterm benefit (IPA, 2020).

Proposals for universal programmes avoid the stigma of focusing on group characteristics (e.g. by using the label 'ultra-poor'). For example, by providing 'cash, unconditionally, and to everyone' (Gentilini et al. 2020: 3), UBI programmes can guarantee the income security of the poorest. They can also minimise the administrative cost of applying for, meeting and gaining eligibility to multiple programmes, as well as being more affordable to administer for a government compared to multiple targeted programmes (Painter and Thoung, 2015; McLean, 2016). However, a policy such as a UBI will find it difficult to match the needs of the disadvantaged to a simple 'universal' transfer design. The level of such transfers will still be insufficient to meet the extra needs of some populations, and thus will have to be supplemented with additional monetary and other support (e.g. people with different abilities who cannot go about their daily life without support). The potential for UBI to subsidise low-paid work in the absence of controls on labour regulation and decent, context-specific minimum wage thresholds (Bastagli, 2020) is also a problem - particularly for low-skilled, 'own account' workers, who form large proportions of the workforce in developing countries. A UBI-plus approach, on the other hand, provides additional

<sup>61</sup> Of course, the design of the programme itself is not a guarantee that it will be equitable and effective. The transfer amount and how it is financed are crucial considerations. For example, if financing is diverted from sectors such as health or education, then the overall impact of transfers can be affected by a dip in the supply of these services. Additionally, governance structures and relationships between national and sub-national levels, and governments' ability to implement the policy and disburse transfers will be crucial to programme success.

<sup>62</sup> Households randomly assigned to participate in the programme received multiple types of support at once: an asset (e.g. livestock or goods) to spur income generation; training on how to manage the asset; basic food or cash support to stabilise households and reduce the need to sell the new asset in an emergency; frequent (usually weekly) coaching visits to reinforce skills, build confidence and help participants handle any challenges; health education or access to health care to stay healthy and able to work; and a savings account to help people put away money to invest or use in a future emergency (IPA, 2020).

payments and support to reflect the extra costs and needs not met by a basic income (Warren 2016, cited in Bidadanure 2019; Richardson and Duffy, 2020). Under such a scheme, all individuals would receive a basic income, but an additional amount would be allocated to disadvantaged groups. Broadly, such an approach would conform to progressive universalism (by addressing the needs of specific disadvantaged groups as distinct from those of the general population), incorporate positive discrimination (by identifying groups of people who require additional support) and recognise intersectionality (in providing income and non-income supports to people experiencing multiple deprivations).

Most countries are likely to have in place a range of policies that target or provide direct/ indirect benefits to different groups through different mechanisms. A system-wide approach, in the final analysis, is essential to understand the sum total of support that a particular group is getting, e.g. providing cash transfers to mothers for childcare or provision of childcare in the absence of paid maternal leave is likely to undermine long-term engagement of mothers in the workforce. As such, an LNOB approach benefits from a study of the overall system of policies, looking at the mix of targeting and universalism and the net benefits/support that accrue to marginalised groups.

### 4.2 Ways forward on policymaking: national and international

Stakeholders seeking to improve accountability of governments to the LNOB policy agenda have two options. The first is to work towards and advocate for a recognition of the distributional impacts of any proposed policy or reform on the poorest and most disadvantaged members of society. The second is to urge that the HLPF and VNRs lay out how countries can systematically report on the evidence of LNOB and of the effectiveness of policy responses to it. In this section we propose first-order shifts that can be made to increase the sensitivity of policies and programming to LNOB. A comprehensive approach to move the LNOB agenda forward – particularly at the national level – will need to consider other factors (e.g. its financing and administration) and second-order effects such as its potential political consequences and any behavioural implications.

Within the **national context**, one proposal to advance this aim would be to develop tools that analyse, at the policy planning and design stage, the distributional impact of a reform on the wellbeing of the poorest and most disadvantaged groups in a country (or sub-national context). We highlight the need for a review of the tools and rankings intended to facilitate an assessment of the impact of fiscal systems on vertical and horizontal inequalities, and poverty, to identify those best suited to evaluate the distributional impact of reform on the most disadvantaged groups or areas and to benchmark localities' policies relative to one another. 63 This review should help make explicit the assumptions in the design of a policy and the pathways of influence on different populations, as well as highlighting possible unintended consequences.

Second, at the international level, the HLPF process would benefit from a track where countries can report specifically on how they are implementing the LNOB agenda. UN DESA's guidelines could be supplemented with specific examples of good VNRs, showcasing how countries can report on the agenda. To that end, we propose a dedicated section in the VNR (see Box 10) and a corresponding session at the HLPF that requires countries to identify those left behind in their contexts, as well as policies and programmes being implemented to reach these groups, and acknowledgment of populations missing from the data and programme outreach. For countries that are going to be submitting a VNR more than once, this would provide an opportunity to report on progress made from the previous VNR, rather than only reporting on policies and programmes begun recently.

However, it is likely that some country governments will have different incentives in

<sup>63</sup> For example, see analyses produced by the Commitment to Equity Institute (Lustig, 2018) and TaxDev (www.taxdev. org/about), as well as DFI and Oxfam (2018). Older approaches include OECD (2007) and Independent Evaluation Group (2010).

### Box 10 A suggested template for reporting on LNOB in VNRs

Who are the most marginalised populations in the country along the dimensions most relevant to the country context (e.g. income poverty; food security; health outcomes; educational outcomes; decent work; access to water; decent housing; vulnerability to natural disasters; vulnerability to climatic change)?

Population name (consider intersectionality when relevant)	Key dimension(s) of deprivation	Intersecting dimensions of deprivation	

What programmes are currently in operation, or how have they been adjusted, to meet the currently unfulfilled needs of the populations highlighted above or tackle the barriers that lead to their exclusion? These programmes or policies can include those that are general but have benefited vulnerable groups disproportionately and/or those specifically targeted to vulnerable groups. Please submit the name of the programme, the year of inception, the coverage of the programme and any data on outcomes. If the country is submitting a VNR for an additional time, please indicate in the last column on changes in programme from the time of the first report.

Title of programme/ policy	Target population	Year of programme inception	Total enrolment in programme/ uptake of policy	Available data on trend of outcomes	Changes observed since last report on the same programme

How did the populations identified above engage in the preparation of the VNR in-country?

Population name	Mechanism of inclusion	Number of participants	Agreed mechanism of feedback from HLPF VNR

How has the report and in particular analysis on LNOB been disseminated/shared/published?

Dissemination mechanism	Description	Audience reach	Feedback received

Please indicate if the country has published a shadow civil society report of the VNR.

Yes	No

reporting on those most left behind, e.g. focusing on the most left behind may go against validating the needs of the other disadvantaged groups that have political importance, while country governments actively marginalising or repressing these groups are unlikely to report on these groups in their VNRs. For example, as of 2020 Myanmar has yet to submit a VNR, and in 2017 the UN withdrew a report on food insecurity among the Rohingya population at the behest of the government (Holmes, 2017). Meanwhile, Pakistan's 2019 VNR, despite its focus on the LNOB agenda, does not mention treatment of religious minorities. To the degree that the 2030 Agenda depends on countries' goodwill, the LNOB agenda is likely to lack real power. A potential opportunity lies in international and national CSOs exploring the degree to which the 2030 Agenda and its commitment on LNOB can be made legally binding, identical to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights.

## 4.3 Collection and use of data to further the LNOB agenda

To direct attention to left-behind groups, governments must first identify them and understand their situation. This can be complicated. Per Atkinson and Marlier (2010: 18–19), 'the circumstances of those suffering poverty or social exclusion (for example, those at the bottom of the income distribution, the unemployed, those living in institutions and the homeless) are among the most difficult to measure statistically'. A need for better information to monitor the SDGs motivated the call of the High-Level Panel on the Post-2015 Agenda for a 'data revolution' to bring together advances in information technology and official statistics. The Panel emphasised disaggregated data on 'the neediest ... to ensure that no group is being left behind' (United Nations, 2013).64

Although inadequate data may explain a weak evidence base on LNOB, there often

exists considerable data that can be repurposed to profile current positions and trends – as we demonstrated in Chapter 3, using household surveys. Challenges notwithstanding (see Box 11), we propose that the data routinely collected in most MICs (from national household surveys, administrative records and informal sources) offers a reasonable foundation on which to launch an LNOB agenda that can be refined as statistical systems further improve and more information becomes available. Indeed, around three-quarters of MICs (74%), covering 96% of the MICs population, have had a nationally representative household survey within the last five years.65 While perfect data will never exist, it is indisputable that data can be improved. Nonetheless, waiting for better data before making any attempts to analyse LNOB comprehensively is inexcusable. Moreover, optimising what is currently available is an essential and necessary step towards a better understanding of the improvements that are needed. Indeed, several existing initiatives have sought to compile and present this data in a way that sheds light upon the circumstances of the poorest (Box 12).

Various initiatives seek to improve the data ecosystem and availability of frequent, highresolution information on disadvantaged groups that can inform an LNOB agenda – the Inclusive Data Charter is one such promising international effort (Box 13). Here, we outline five simple steps policy-makers can take to maximise the evidence base to inform an LNOB-focused agenda.

Combine data and survey sources to expand sample sizes to provide a better understanding of the characteristics of left-behind groups. Some methods of combining data sources require technical sophistication – e.g. experiments to link administrative registries with unit-level data from household surveys (see Jenkins et al., 2008 on the United Kingdom). However, there are other low-tech means of supplementing the existing evidence base – e.g. policy-makers

<sup>64</sup> Its report observed: 'Data must also enable us to reach the neediest, and find out whether they are receiving essential services. This means that data gathered will need to be disaggregated by gender, geography, income, disability, and other categories, to make sure that no group is being left behind' (United Nations, 2013: 23).

<sup>65</sup> For LMICs, the figures are 78% and 94%. For UMICs, they are 70% and 97% respectively. Author computation on the basis of data on survey coverage provided in the OPHI Global MPI database and World Bank PovcalNet database.

### Box 11 Challenges to collecting household survey data on left-behind groups

The SDG indicator framework specifies that the indicators be disaggregated 'where relevant, by income, sex, age, race, ethnicity, migratory status, disability and geographic location, or other characteristics, in accordance with the Fundamental Principles of Official Statistics'.<sup>1</sup> Improving the availability of disaggregated data requires attention to the administrative data, household surveys and national censuses that are the bedrock of SDG monitoring.<sup>11</sup> Given our emphasis on the use of readily available cross-national household surveys to create LNOB profiles, we focus on the challenges they raise.

The exclusion or under-counting of at-risk groups.<sup>iii,iv</sup> By design, household surveys generally omit populations living outside private households: 'those living in institutions, such as students and the military, and those living in hostels, shelters or reception centres ... the elderly living in residential accommodation and children taken into care by public authorities, as well as those living on the streets ... [in addition to] non-nationals, or those living on boats or in caravans' (Atkinson and Marlier, 2010: 21). In practice, surveys under-represent people in urban slums (because of difficulties in identifying and interviewing), dangerous places and fragile or transient households and within households, older women in Sahelian countries and 'servants (slaves) in rich households' (Carr-Hill, 2013; 2017).

Some empirical analyses estimate the extent of this undercounting and its potential impact:

- Globally, Carr-Hill (2013) estimates that up to 350 million people are not covered by household surveys, which may result in as many as a quarter more people living on less than \$1.25 a day than contemporary estimates suggested.
- Carr-Hill (2017) estimates that 14% of urban dwellers are missing from the DHS in Kampala, and by implication at least 369 million people in urban areas may be missing from the sampling frames of standardised household surveys.
- For Belgium, Schokaert et al. (2012) (cited in Bajgar et al., 2018: 4) find that the poverty rate in EU-SILC data was 72% for people without a home or residence and 96% for undocumented people, in contrast with an overall poverty headcount ratio of 15%.
- https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/indicators/Global%20Indicator%20Framework%20after%20200%20review\_Eng.pdf. The explicit requirement to disaggregate occurs most frequently for sex and age, followed by rural/urban location and disability status. Indigenous status, 'population group', conflict status, socio-economic class and migrant status are also mentioned. Some indicators apply to some groups by design, such as maternal and child mortality; among these indicators too, sex and age specificity dominate. Population group (under target 16.7) is described as follows: 'Nationally relevant population groups (groups with a distinct ethnicity, language, religion, indigenous status, nationality or other characteristics): The population of a country is a mosaic of different population groups that can be identified according to racial, ethnic, language, indigenous or migration status, religious affiliation, or sexual orientation, amongst other characteristics. For the purpose of this indicator, particular focus is placed on minorities' (https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/metadata/files/Metadata-16-07-02.pdf, p. 8).
- ii Administrative sources and household surveys provide 33% and 26% of SDG data, respectively (Espey et al., 2015).
- iii Carr-Hill (2013; 2017) argues that biased sampling frames underpin many household surveys: censuses undercount migrants without documentation and non-household groups (e.g. the homeless, pastoralists, street children); and intercensal population estimates in most LICs and MICs may be inaccurate, given incomplete civil vital registration systems.
- iv '[N]one of the four main standardized household surveys the DHS, the LFS, the LSMS, and the MICS had anything to say about the coverage of the homeless, institutional populations, the mobile and/or any special arrangements to cover slum areas' (Carr-Hill, 2017: 2).

#### Box 11 Challenges to collecting household survey data on left-behind groups (continued)

Selective non-response, particularly among stigmatised groups (e.g. PWDs in some settings (Groce and Mont, 2017)), and those fearing prosecution (e.g. sexual minorities, gender-non-conforming people, undocumented migrants). This means 'fewer available cases, and therefore less efficient sample-based estimates, but more important is the possible underrepresentation of precisely those groups of citizens who are particularly at risk of poverty and social exclusion' (Atkinson and Marlier, 2010: 22).

Difficulties in producing representative estimates for small groups. Oversampling groups known to be at risk may be an option, but the larger the sample, the more costly and difficult it becomes to secure high-quality data (Chavez-Villegas and Samman, 2015).

Limited questionnaire space and risk of respondent fatigue. Proxy reporting raises concerns around data accuracy (Bardasi et al., 2011). Moreover, some questions that are important for sub-populations are not typically asked in multi-purpose household surveys (e.g. the intrahousehold distribution of income or consumption in LSMS, or older women's experiences of domestic violence in DHS/MICs).

While surveys can undoubtedly be improved, there are limits to what each can accommodate. Ensuring that LNOB is profiled across different surveys through an audited set of consistent and cross-validated modules and instruments can allow efficiency in profiling both across groups and across sectors of interest (e.g. education, health, employment). Any individual survey should avoid becoming too overloaded: data becomes costly to collect and its quality suffers.

might approach institutions such as correctional facilities, nursing homes and homeless shelters to seek their cooperation in data-gathering, and use this information alongside data from household surveys. For health and education, triangulation between administrative records and household survey data may be fruitful – e.g. see Sandefur and Glassman (2015), who find 'systematic biases in administrative data systems' arising from 'incentives of data producers to overstate development progress'.

Ensure governments publish administrative data in a timely manner. In their study of subnational financing patterns, Manuel et al. (2019: 9) report that 'data on how finance is allocated at the subnational level is extraordinarily lacking ... Simple improvements could be made. While technical and political challenges undermine the production of comprehensive, sufficiently detailed and timely subnational information, much would be gained by just publishing the data that is already gathered'. Along similar lines, ODI's research on data systems for health in Nepal found that, while the Health Management Information System (HMIS) data quality is generally good, it is less clear that the available data feeds into policy and planning efficiently. Partly, this reflects a lag between availability of data and widespread publication: although the Ministry of Health produces an annual report using HMIS data, it is published with an 18-month lag, meaning that stakeholders are typically unable to act on timely information. This is disappointing, as frontline health workers spend substantial time collecting data and compiling it into reports (Blampied et al., 2016).

Use well-known and tried and tested approaches to estimating small populations – e.g. poverty mapping techniques which draw on relationships estimated from household surveys to predict variables in census data. For example, this technique seeks to 'explain' income poverty in household surveys using a set of basic indicators that are also available in the census; the resulting model is then applied to estimate poverty at any spatially disaggregated level within the census (see Molina et al., 2019).

### Box 12 Initiatives using available data to highlight group-based deprivation and commitment to LNOB

Data innovations that rely predominantly on the disaggregation of data in DHS and MICs to illustrate group-based deprivations (e.g. relating to geography, ethnicity or race, age, disability or migration status) include:

- OPHI's MPI and destitution index, described in Chapter 3, is available disaggregated by population sub-group,<sup>i</sup> and by dimension (health, education and living standards).
- UNESCO World Inequality Database of Education (WIDE) Data on key indicators of education and learning outcomes disaggregated by wealth, gender, ethnicity and location.<sup>ii</sup>
- WHO Health Equity Monitor Disaggregated data on more than 30 reproductive, maternal, newborn and child health indicators.<sup>iii</sup>
- UNICEF's online data system contains a comprehensive set of indicators on children's rights and well-being, including disaggregated data from its Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey (MICS).<sup>iv</sup>
- The DHS STAT Compiler allows for building tables, charts and maps from thousands of indicators across 90 countries. Indicators may be disaggregated by age, sex, wealth quintile, urban/rural zone, region, education level and other criteria, such as marital status or 'mother's age at birth'.<sup>v</sup>
- Save the Children's Group-based Inequality Database (GRID) provides disaggregated data for key child SDG indicators, including survival and nutrition, child protection and education.<sup>vi</sup>
- WHO/UNICEF Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) Data on inequalities in drinking water access, sanitation and hygiene disaggregated by sub-national region, rural/urban zone and wealth quintile, with future intentions to disaggregate for informal urban settlements, the affordability of WASH services and intrahousehold inequalities such as age and sex.<sup>vii</sup>
- ILOSTAT disaggregated labour force statistics by sex, age and rural/urban zone.viii
- Development Initiative's P20 index. Aims to identify (to the extent publicly available data permits) the poorest 20% of people in the world through an innovative methodology combining distributional data on poverty (from the World Bank PovCalNet database) coupled with DHS/MICS and other household surveys (Development Initiatives, 2017).

Other initiatives depart from the analysis of inequalities through use of disaggregated data to measure other aspects of the LNOB commitment, or the extent to which different groups are left behind.

• ODI's Leave No One Behind index. Measures the LNOB readiness of governments in 159 countries, based on data, policy (focusing on women's access to land and employment, and universal access to health) and finance (Manuel et al., 2018b; Chattopadhyay and Manea, 2019).

vii washdata.org/monitoring/inequalities.

i https://ophi.org.uk/multidimensional-poverty-index/data-tables-do-files/.

ii www.education-inequalities.org/indicators/edu4#?sort=mean&dimension=all&group=all&age\_ group=edu4\_2024&countries=all.

iii https://apps.who.int/gho/data/node.main.HE-1540.

iv https://data.unicef.org/.

v www.statcompiler.com/en/.

vi www.savethechildren.net/grid.

viii https://ilostat.ilo.org/.

### Box 12 Initiatives using available data to highlight group-based deprivation and commitment to LNOB (continued)

- SDSN's LNOB index for Africa. Composite of (vertical) inequalities in income and wealth, access to public services and infrastructure, gender inequalities and access to food, health, education and other aspects of human development. The aim is to highlight inequalities that the average values that dominate their overall index of SDG performance may hide (The SDGs Center for Africa and SDSN 2020).
- DFI and Oxfam's Commitment to Reducing Inequality Index (CRII). Measures government commitments to reducing vertical inequality through public services, taxation and workers' rights (DFI and Oxfam, 2018).

#### Box 13 The Inclusive Data Charter and its impact on official statistics

At the international level, the Global Partnership for Sustainable Development Data (GPSDD) launched an Inclusive Data Charter in 2018 to 'mobilize political commitments and meaningful actions to deepen disaggregation'.<sup>i</sup> One year later, IDC 'champions' had already recorded numerous accomplishments, including:

- The UN Population Fund (UNFPA)'s decision that all the censuses it had agreed to support in the 2020 census round should contain core questions on migration and disability.
- Colombia's National Administrative Department of Statistics' provision of additional SDG indicators disaggregated to a subnational level.
- Sightsavers Pakistan works with the Pakistan Bureau of Statistics to incorporate new data sources on PWDs into the Pakistan Living Standards Measurement Survey (Global Partnership for Sustainable Development Data, 2019).

i www.data4sdgs.org/initiatives/inclusive-data-charter.

Experiment with mobile phone-based methods of survey administration that offer regular and cost-effective data collection that can be mobilised relatively quickly – e.g. as the World Bank has shown in its monitoring of welfare following crises, most recently Covid-19 (World Bank, 2020e). Challenges include time lags between data collection and publication, its high-level representativeness and the need to ensure all groups, including PWDs, are able to participate in digital data collection (see UNICEF, 2020a). Similar initiatives might be considered to monitor the status of left-behind groups.

**Invest in citizen-generated data** that can be collected frequently and at low cost, which

has the additional benefit of empowering communities to influence policy. Per Stuart et al. (2015: 41): 'The ultimate in demand-driven development data is the poor or vulnerable gathering – and using – those data themselves'. Notable examples include:

• World Vision's Citizen Voice and Action database assembles data from communitybased audits of public services in 15 countries, which is used as a basis for citizens, government and service providers to commit to an 'action plan' to improve the service being monitored (World Vision International, 2019).

- Citizen volunteers who are given basic training to administer NGO surveys on learning outcomes in India, Mali, Mexico, Nigeria, Pakistan, Senegal, Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda (known as UWEZO in the three East African countries); Carr-Hill (2017) argues that such citizen-led surveys provide better coverage of hard-to-reach populations than standard household surveys because of the local knowledge of enumerators and/or their ability to move more freely in insecure areas.
- The Community-Based Monitoring System (CBMS) project, started in the Philippines and implemented in some 29 countries across Africa, Asia and Latin America, through which community members and local officials track poverty and development issues at the household level by conducting community-level censuses. This information has proved crucial in many locations for local budgeting interventions addressing specific group needs (see PEP, 2020).
- UNICEF's U-report, which gathers opinions and information from young people in 68 countries through simple phone-based interfaces and relays the information back to communities and policy-makers (UNICEF, 2020b).

Other more ambitious initiatives and data sources also have the potential to enhance the evidence base on the welfare of at-risk groups, but they will take time to materialise.<sup>66</sup> These recommendations notwithstanding, we underline once more that policy should not be held hostage to what is deemed a lack of adequate data.

## 4.4 Financing: levels, disparities and ways forward

Targeted spending is a core element of the LNOB agenda - however, as with data, we argue that most MICs already have the capacity to finance LNOB-oriented policy. In this section, we highlight four points related to financing: 1) on average, MICs have the ability to finance basic universal service coverage, that can be aligned with the LNOB agenda; 2) in practice, disparities in subnational financing mean that left-behind groups often receive fewer resources than betteroff communities; 3) left-behind groups need more than average per capita funding owing to their special needs, but the returns may also be relatively higher; and 4) most countries have the possibility to raise new revenue and/or reallocate existing revenues to benefit left-behind groups.

### 4.4.1 Ability of MICs to fund universal policies

Our analysis of the data on actual social spending within MICs suggests that the progressive realisation of basic universal service coverage is likely to be a viable option in many of these countries. We examine spending on education and health in relation to recommended thresholds in each area reflected in international agreements or recommendations (Figure 23).

LIC and MIC governments committed to allocate 15–20% of their budgets, and 4–6% of GDP, towards education, with an emphasis on basic education, following on from the 2000 Dakar Framework for Action.<sup>67</sup> Per UNESCO (2015: 242), a threshold of 3.8% of GDP denotes a 'healthy' level of spending on education. According to the latest data, on average MICs directed 15.7% of their spending towards education (15.4% in UMICs and 16.2% in LMICs). Nonetheless, the 90 MICs reporting this data exhibit considerable variation: while 48 countries (53%) report at least 15%, 10 report levels below 10%, and 21 report

<sup>66</sup> Big data is a salutary example: it is innovating rapidly – e.g. with detailed satellite imagery being used to produce spatially disaggregated population estimates (Wardrop et al., 2018) and call data records producing granular poverty maps (see Steele et al., 2017) – yet is not yet in a position to inform official statistics in most countries, and there have been calls for greater attention to the ethical and political implications of its use.

<sup>67</sup> This specific target was proposed by UNESCO's High Level Group on Education for All (EFA) in 2006.



Figure 23 Share of countries meeting prescribed spending targets and average spending on education and health as a share of GDP

Note: The red bars in the second panel indicate international benchmarks, as described in the text (5.0% of GDP for health and 3.8% of GDP for education). All averages assign each country an equal weight. Source: Author elaboration of data in WHO Global Health Database (n.d.); Chatham House (2014); UNESCO (2015); World Bank (2020d).

levels of 20% or higher. At the extreme, Costa Rica devoted 30% of its spending to education in 2017 (World Bank, 2020d). For GDP, the trends are broadly similar: the MIC average is 4.5% of GDP (4.4% in UMICs, 4.5% in LMICs), and 43 of the 70 countries with data (61%) spent 3.8% or more, while 11 countries (16%) spent 6% or more.<sup>68</sup>

For health, following the 2001 Abuja Declaration, African heads of state agreed to allocate 15% of their budgets towards health. For 2017, average spending was 11% across 55 UMICs and 8% across 45 LMICs (computed from WHO's Global Health Expenditure Database); 11 UMICs and two LMICs (El Salvador and Nicaragua) report spending of 15% or more, while at the extreme, Costa Rica devoted 27% of its budget to health. Nonetheless, WHO (2019) reports that MICs are rapidly converging towards higher levels of spending, with health spending having grown 6.3% yearly between 2000 and 2017, above the rate of economic growth.

The same report also argues that an increase equivalent to 1% of GDP in public spending on primary health care would massively bolster public health spending per capita, by 37% for LMICs and 35% for UMICs (WHO, 2019: 41, Table 4.1). Per person spending would grow in LMICs from \$61 to \$84, and in UMICs from \$193 to \$261. To put this in context, Chatham House (2014), on the basis of WHO calculations, recommends that countries spend 5.0% of GDP or at least \$86 per person on essential health services each year, most of which are provided at the primary health care level; they note (p. x): 'Most middle-income countries should be able to reach both targets without external support'. At present, health expenditure accounts for an average of 6.0% of GDP in 100 MICs - 5.3% in LMICs and 6.6% in UMICs; 59 countries (59%)

<sup>68</sup> Computed from data in World Bank (2020d). The figures on the share of GDP spent on education assign each country equal weight. The corresponding population-weighted average for MICs is 4.1% (3.4% for LMICs and 4.7% for UMICs).

report levels of 5.0% or higher.<sup>69</sup> In other words, modest additional rises in spending in some countries, focusing on primary health services, could have sizeable effects.

### 4.4.2 Subnational disparities in spending

Within countries, the evidence points to significant subnational disparities in spending such that spending tends to favour wealthier and urban communities. UNESCO (2015: 258) reports that 'many countries continue to disburse funding on the basis of equal amounts per child, thereby failing to take into account differences among schools, regions and the needs of disadvantaged groups'. There is thus an apparent need to review comprehensively public expenditure allocation formulae that address subnational disparities in order to ensure that public expenditures facilitate policies to address LNOB.

On the basis of a review of subnational spending on health and education in 82 of the world's poorest countries, including all LICs, LMICs and LDCs, Marcus et al. (2019) find:

little evidence from the data that is publicly available that either government or donor funding allocations are responding to the distribution of poverty within countries ... On average, poorer regions receive 15% less than the national average for education and in only one of the six countries where data is available is education spending higher in the poorer regions. In other countries targeting is likely to be even worse, since countries which are trying to increase funding to poorer subnational regions are more likely to publish their data.

Nepal offers a positive example: the country's budget allocation has been praised for its propoor emphasis – e.g. its government-financed development grants are allocated according to a formula that includes a weighted cost of services index, while its health care system prioritised the needs of poor households in rural areas. Even so, budget allocations tended 'to disproportionately favour some geographical groups over others, with seemingly little targeting of health outcomes', and were directed towards remote populations 'at the expense of other coverage-deprived populations in less remote zones' (Blampied et al., 2016: 66, 68). Widely, it seems, there are gains to be made from more equitable subnational spending.

# 4.4.3 Higher returns in targeting marginalised groups through national spending and ODA

As noted earlier, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights requires governments to 'take steps ... especially economic and technical, to the maximum of [their] available resources, with a view to achieving progressively the full realization of the rights' embodied therein (cited in Picanyol and Silva-Leander, 2018: 15). There is also an instrumental logic. While targeting marginalised groups tends to be more costly than reaching other populations, some evidence points to the potential of such investments to yield relatively higher returns. Sources of group-based inequality are diverse. It follows that the needs of marginalised groups will differ, as will the costs of fulfilling these needs. For example, PWDs may require additional health care, while engaging in routine activities may incur higher costs owing to the need for assistive devices, additional services and/or care-givers (UNESCO, 2020). The evidence on the extra costs associated with living with a disability are mostly from HICs: in the United Kingdom, the cost was estimated at almost half of the income of PWDs (John et al., 2019), while historical information from Europe and North America suggests that it costs 2 to 2.5 times more to educate students with disabilities than other students (Chambers et al., 2004; OECD, 2000).<sup>70</sup> For 'hard to reach' populations, providing infrastructure and services can be costly. They tend to live in remote areas with

<sup>69</sup> Computed from World Bank (2020d). The figures on the share of GDP spent on health assign each country equal weight. The corresponding population-weighted average for MICs is 4.7% (3.9% for LMICs and 5.6% for UMICs).

<sup>70</sup> All sources here are cited in UNESCO (2020: 106).

a lower population density, making services less responsive to economies of scale and more expensive to supply (Greenhill and Rabinowitz, 2017), and may need additional support, such as transport, or interpreters where they do not speak the majority language (e.g. see McDonnell and Samman, 2020).

Making adaptations in the delivery of programmes to meet marginal populations' needs can raise the unit costs of programmes. For example, in the case of education, mobile and 'satellite' schools can be more resourceintensive than providing a mainstream education. Persuading teachers and health workers to live in remote areas through financial incentives, housing and access to electricity/water and/or training can impose additional costs (Tidemand et al., 2014; Greenhill and Rabinowitz, 2017). There is a perceived trade-off between equity and efficiency in public spending, whereby efficiency is measured by the average outcome or the average number of people reached, while equity is the outcome for a given population.

Although evidence on returns to investments directed towards left-behind groups within countries is scant (UNESCO, 2019; McDonnell and Samman, 2020), there is some evidence that targeted investments may yield relatively high economic and social returns. For example, returns to education are higher for girls than boys in most countries and all regions (Psacharopoulos and Patrinos, 2018). Per UNESCO (2019: 86), for the Philippines the 'very poor' have five times the relative return of the non-poor on sanitation investments. According to Carrera et al. (2017), UNICEF investments in the health of the poorest children saved 1.8 times the number of lives as equivalent investments in the health of non-poor children. Sabates et al. (2020) report that the cost-effectiveness of a programme targeting the most marginalised girls in government secondary schools in deprived rural areas of Tanzania was similar to interventions designed for more advantaged populations, who were easier (and less costly) to reach. In a similar vein, Manuel et al. (2019: 32) use World Bank data for Tanzania to show that 'efficiency savings of 40% could be made by switching education funding from the best-resourced to less well-resourced

districts (that is, the same funding could achieve 40% greater outcomes)'.

Aid disproportionately benefits wealthier areas within countries (Ohler and Nunnenkamp, 2014; Custer et al., 2017; Öhler et al., 2017; Briggs, 2018a, all cited in Briggs, 2018b; ). Briggs (2018b) shows that, conditional on population density, aid across a wide range of development partners targets the relatively wealthy within countries, as well as within regions. It may be that development partners defer subnational targeting choices to aid recipients and/or that aid is flowing to the places where it can be used most effectively; nevertheless, 'if donors are sincere about reaching first those who are furthest behind, then subnational aid targeting will have to change dramatically to achieve this goal' (ibid.: 204). In Nigeria, Kotsadam et al. (2018) report that aid projects tend to be established in areas with lower infant mortality than non-aid locations, suggesting that it may not necessarily reach those populations in greatest need. The converse - given average spending levels and the biased subnational distribution of spending – is that:

much more can be done to transform the prospects of those most at risk of being left behind by better targeting investment in human capital that both builds peoples' wellbeing and boosts their economic potential (Manuel et al., 2019: 8).

There is thus considerable evidence of 'elite capture' of state resources at the expense of disadvantaged groups. Charitable and philanthropic development assistance tends to be more focused on sectors that are integral to the LNOB agenda, notably health, education and humanitarian assistance (Greenhill and Rabinowitz, 2017), though this typically lags for education relative to health (Foundation Center, 2016, cited in Manuel et al., 2019: 15).

### 4.4.4 Ways forward on financing: national and international

The evidence highlights multiple possibilities for raising additional revenue or reallocating existing revenues to benefit left-behind groups. Commonly cited proposals include taxation (direct taxation and the taxation of national and international corporations); the elimination of universal subsidies applied to consumer goods and services such as fuel and energy, from which higher-income groups typically benefit most; and ensuring stronger budget execution (including through reduced leakage) (Ortiz et al., 2017; Bastagli et al., 2020; Gentilini et al., 2020). Taxation schemes in particular offer opportunities for progressivity, for instance through a shift from indirect taxes on consumption to direct taxation, increasing the efficiency of tax collection and 'taxing back' some proportion of benefits from wealthy households (see Bastagli et al., 2020). Zubairi and Rose (2015) suggest that, to address unequal access to education, countries should ensure that at least 20% of GDP comes from taxes, and at least 60% from personal income taxes.

Two frequent constraints to greater public spending are the share of budgets allocated to defence and (especially) debt servicing (Greenhill and Rabinowitz, 2017). For MICs, debt servicing costs are considerable; UN DESA (2020) estimates that they account for almost a quarter of public revenues in the median MIC. The comparison between levels of spending on social sectors and military expenditure is often invoked (e.g. Greenhill and Rabinowitz, 2017; Bastagli et al., 2020). For example, in 2018 MICs allocated 1.9% of their GDP, on average, to military expenditure. The share was 3% or higher in 15 countries (17% of the 87 countries with data) and 5% or higher in three countries: Libya (15.5%), Algeria (5.3%) and Lebanon (5%) (World Bank 2020d). It follows that international support for reduced debt service and national reductions in defence spending could free up resources that could be reallocated to left-behind groups.

Greenhill and Rabinowitz (2017) outline several elements of a pro-poor financing strategy:

• Sectoral allocations. 'The first way that financing can better support those left behind

is through allocation to the sectors that matter most for these groups' (p. 15). This may require going beyond social sectors to recognise broader interdependencies – e.g. road-building can be integral to progress in public health (Kharas et al., 2015, cited in ibid.).

- Sub-sectoral allocations. Within sectors, governments should increase investment in primary services that are more accessible to, and used more by, lower-income households, such as pre/primary education and primary health care. However, in education and health, spending tends to be pro-rich focused on tertiary education and secondary and tertiary health care.<sup>71</sup>
- Allocations to sub-national entities and programmes. When countries decentralise social service spending, national governments should ensure through funding formulae that poorer areas or communities receive a higher per capita allocation. Within programmes, governments should seek to ensure that the higher needs of disadvantaged and marginalised groups (including those facing intersecting inequalities) are covered.

One way to operationalise an LNOB perspective is to incorporate the principle of equity along with efficiency within budgeting tools. Equity budgeting frameworks help to focus the distributional impact of public sector spending by analysing its specific impacts on groups such as children (Cummins, 2016) or on racial equity (Alliance for Innovation, 2019). Meanwhile, Benefit Incidence Analysis (BIA) (UNICEF and OPM, 2015, cited in Picanyol and Silva-Leander, 2018) allows measurement of the distribution of a benefit or service across a population or against dimensions such as gender, geographical area and ethnic group.

As noted, ODA is a relatively small share of most MIC budgets. Nonetheless, it is argued that ODA should explicitly target the poorest communities because aid projects are 'uniquely positioned to reach high risk areas with low economic returns', and development partners have an ethical imperative to ensure this happens (Mosley, 1987; Chandy et al., 2014; Briggs,

<sup>71</sup> For education, see Ilie and Rose (2017) and Mustapha and Krause (2016); for health, Davoodi et al. (2010), cited in Greenhill and Rabinowitz (2017).

2017, all cited in Custer, 2017: 11). Marcus et al. (2019: 9) recommend that, while development partners' record on education and health spending is mixed, they ought to commit to 'providing the poorest subnational regions with greater per-person spend than the national average, while recognising the need to address inequalities within regions'. Per Greenhill and Rabinowitz (2017: 21), development partners should also ensure that spending prioritises 'sectors and sub-sectors with the greatest impact on those left behind', namely social sectors, and pre/primary education and primary health care. Evidence from Nigeria points to the potential for targeted aid spending to reduce group-based inequalities and benefit left-behind groups (Box 14).

### 4.5 Conclusions

While international consensus formed the concept of LNOB, there has been little consensus since 2015 on investing in resources to guide and facilitate it. This is needed if agreement on a rhetorical principle is to be turned into measurable progress that can be empirically informed and evidence-based.

There have been some changes in donor recognition, while countries' VNRs point to very different and inconsistent realignment at the national level.

Our report has tried to scan and report on progress in a descriptive way, and be prescriptive on how to capture and respond to the LNOB agenda. But we have been limited in what we can do in a single summary report. Clearly, more needs to be done to assist, recognise and reward national programmes that have demonstrated measurable results. A 'how to' approach to help policy-makers identify and respond to LNOB is only very weakly in place, if at all.

There are those who regard LNOB as an insufficient response to structural inequality, and there are those who think it is an imprecise call for change that can be interpreted so blandly to ensure only marginal change. We have aimed for the middle ground by demonstrating what is possible, optimal and doable for LNOB as it currently - and imperfectly - stands. The time for rhetoric has largely ended, and it is now five vears into expected implementation. Wariness is understandable. LNOB's different interpretations can be complex and difficult to understand, but the agenda it sets up is simple: identify those who are falling behind or falling out of progress in human development, and respond with a reprioritisation of focus and resources.

### **Recommendations**

Our recommendations span concepts, evidence, policy and future research needs. All are very general in nature and descriptive because they stand in place of a prescribed, detailed and well-resourced approach to making LNOB actionable and evidence-based, at international and national levels.

#### Box 14 Can aid reduce group-based inequalities? Evidence from Nigeria

Nigeria is a major recipient of ODA, and has what have been described as 'the most extensive group inequalities documented on the continent' (Østby and Urdal, 2014). Drawing on a wealth of geographical aid data and extensive DHS data from 1953 to 2013, Kotsadam et al. (2018) seek to document how ODA affects neonatal, infant and child mortality. Their results 'indicate very clearly that geographical proximity to aid projects reduces neonatal, infant, and child mortality. Moreover, aid contributes to reduce systematic inter-group, or horizontal, inequalities in a setting where such differences loom large. In particular, we find that aid more effectively reduces infant mortality in less privileged groups like children of Muslim women, and children living in rural, and in Muslim-dominated areas' (p. 59). They also report that aid has effects on wealth, female employment and education for Muslim mothers.

### Concept

- Interrogate further the relevance and use of the LNOB approach as a means of bridging debates about vertical and horizonal inequalities and links between inequality and poverty.
- Clarify the insights that an LNOB focus adds to well-established debates around social exclusion, poverty dynamics and chronic poverty.

### **Evidence**

- Bring together existing evidence and invest further in constructing:
  - A centralised repository that contains an inventory of datasets, indicators, methodological work, practitioners' knowledge and advisory notes, to advance the identification and measurement of LNOB.
  - An evaluation database and meta-evaluations on 'what works, for whom, and where?'
  - A compilation of 'political resources'. These might include human rights basis and foundations for LNOB that can be used by governments and CSOs; case studies on political economy (e.g. how change happened, how governments have decided to and been able to take forward the needs of marginalised communities with little political capital, how they have been able to dedicate financing towards LNOB sectors and communities); and evaluations of VNRs (inclusions and omissions, quality considerations, etc.).
- Invest in 'quick wins' to increase the evidence base on left-behind groups, particularly through making administrative data accessible and through citizen-generated initiatives that collect community-level data and strengthen the accountability of local governments by supporting communities to use the data they collect to hold policy-makers to account.
- Raise awareness of what we already know about which groups are most at risk of being left behind in each region or country, or within each SDG goal area. This would ideally take the form of a recurrent UN-sponsored report that explores different approaches to applying the LNOB concept across the world,

what effects it has had and what would be an 'acceptable' level of progress by 2030.

### **Policy**

- Embed LNOB concerns in national and international policy processes:
  - Review of tools and rankings intended to facilitate study of the impact of fiscal systems on vertical and horizontal inequalities, and poverty, to identify those best suited to evaluate the distributional impact of reform on the most disadvantaged groups or areas and to benchmark countries' policies relative to one another.
  - The HLPF process could support a track allowing countries to report on LNOB implementation through a dedicated VNR section and corresponding HLPF session that requires identifying left-behind groups, outlining policy responses and acknowledging populations missing from data and programming. Reporting would be not only to the HLPF, but also to their own citizens.

### **Further research**

- Additional analysis to identify groups most at risk of being left behind and where progress is been achieved; and dissemination of the research to stimulate public deliberation and inform policy-making.
- Generate a richer understanding of the challenges and trade-offs inherent in the LNOB agenda, and how these might be addressed. As the earlier discussion in this chapter attests, these are plentiful and diverse some are illusory, while others have a stronger empirical foundation. In the former case, work is needed on messaging around LNOB, and in the latter, on negotiating delicate trade-offs.
- Interrogate how countries can make LNOB fundamental in 'building back better' from Covid-19. As noted at the start of this report, the global pandemic is having a disproportionate impact on disadvantaged populations, putting them at risk of falling into poverty traps that magnify the impacts of shocks and the long-term consequences of ill-health and disability, loss of schooling and

education, and the inability to save or borrow (Hallegatte et al., 2018: 2). A rapid and inclusive recovery that prioritises support to the most affected populations would benefit these groups and their societies.

• LNOB in left-behind countries should be a new focus and priority for future work. This report has deliberately focused on the analytical elements, metrics and policies that could comprise an LNOB agenda in MICs, while noting that LICs/LDCs would require a different focus (Box 15). New research would seek to identify the key elements of a 'leave no country behind' agenda, and the metrics and policy imperatives that follow from this.

#### Box 15 Leave no country behind

A 'leave no country behind' agenda would focus on countries where a majority of people experience absolute deprivations and are increasingly being left behind those living elsewhere (frequently LICs, LDCs and conflict-affected and fragile states). In 1980, inter-country inequality accounted for around 80% of total inequality (Milanovic, 2016). Despite subsequent declines (especially when population weighted, owing to dramatic progress in China and India), between-country differences remain acute: the average person born in the United States earned 93 times more than the average person born in the world's poorest country (ibid.). Moreover, 'the absolute and relative gap between the poorest countries and the world's richest countries has continued to widen' (Klasen and Fleurbaey, 2018). Indeed, some 30 high-poverty countries have seen 'little to no poverty reduction in recent years' owing to low government effectiveness, a weak private sector, conflict and violence and natural hazards and environmental risks (Gertz and Kharas, 2018). As extreme poverty continues to fall globally, poverty in 2030 is projected to be concentrated in sub-Saharan Africa (nearly 80%) and in OECD-designated Fragile and Conflict-affected States (85%). With Covid-19, the call to 'leave no country behind' resonates even more strongly: assessments suggest that the pandemic will 'exacerbate the geographical concentration of poverty', notably in LDCs (Valensisi, 2020).

### References

- Abraham, D. (1994) '*Habermas and the public sphere* by Craig Calhoun (book review)' *German Studies Review* 17: 613 (https://repository.law.miami.edu/fac\_articles/220/).
- Acharya, K., Paudel, Y.R. and Dharel, D. (2019) 'The trend of full vaccination coverage in infants and inequalities by wealth quintile and maternal education: analysis from four recent demographic and health surveys in Nepal' *BMC Public Health* 19(1): 1673.
- Adams, B., Boyd, C. and Judd, K. (2020) 'Heard at the 2020 UN High-level Political Forum'. UN *Monitor*, 24 July (https://twn.my/title2/unsd/2020/unsd200711.htm).

Adams-Prassl, A., Boneva, T., Golin, M. and Rauh, C. (2020) *Inequality in the impact of the coronavirus shock: evidence from real time surveys*. IZA Discussion Papers No. 13183. Bonn: Institute of Labor Economics (IZA) (www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/216495/1/dp13183.pdf).

- Angdembe, M.R., Dulal, B.P., Bhattarai, K. and Karn, S. (2019) 'Trends and predictors of inequality in childhood stunting in Nepal from 1996 to 2016' *International Journal for Equity in Health* 18(1): 42.
- Alkire, S. and Foster, J. (2011) 'Counting and multidimensional poverty measurement' *Journal of Public Economics* 95: 476–487.

Alkire, S., Conconi, A. and Seth, S. (2014) Multidimensional destitution: an ordinal counting

- *methodology for constructing linked subsets of the poor.* OPHI Research in Progress 42a. Oxford: OPHI (www.ophi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/RP42a.pdf).
- Alkire, S., Foster, J., Seth, S. et al. (2015) *Multidimensional poverty measurement and analysis*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Alkire, S., Kanagaratnam, U. and Suppa, N. (2020) 'The global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) 2020'. MPI Methodological Note 49. Oxford: University of Oxford (www.ophi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/OPHI\_MPI\_MN\_49\_2020.pdf).
- Alkire, S., Roche, J.M. and Vaz, A. (2017) 'Changes over time in multidimensional poverty: methodology and results for 34 countries' *World Development* 94: 232–249 (https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.01.011).
- Alkire, S. and Samman, E. (2014) *Mobilising the household data required to progress toward the SDGs*. OPHI Working Paper 72. Oxford: University of Oxford (www.ophi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/OPHIWP072.pdf).
- Alkire, S. and Santos, M.E. (2014) 'Measuring acute poverty in the developing world: robustness and the scope of the Multidimensional Poverty Index' *World Development* 59: 251–274.
- Alliance for Innovation (2019) 'Racial equity budgeting tools'. Webpage (www.transformgov.org/ programs-and-projects/racial-equity-budgeting-tools).
- Anttonen, A. and Sipilä, J. (2014) *Varieties of universalism*. Draft paper prepared for the UNRISD Conference, 'New directions in social policy: alternatives from and for the global South', April. Geneva: UNRISD.
- Archibong, B. (2018) 'Historical origins of persistent inequality in Nigeria' Oxford Development Studies 46(3): 325–347.
- Atkinson, A.B. (2007) 'Measuring top incomes: methodological issues' in A. Atkinson and T. Piketty (eds) *Top incomes over the twentieth century: a contrast between continental European and English-speaking countries*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Atkinson, A.B. and Brandolini, A. (2010) 'On analyzing the world distribution of income' World Bank *Economic Review* 24: 1–37.

- Atkinson, A.B. and Lugo, M.A. (2010) *Growth, poverty and distribution in Tanzania*. Working Paper 10/0831. London: International Growth Centre, London School of Economics (http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/36376/1/Growth poverty and distribution in Tanzania.pdf).
- Atkinson, A.B. and Marlier, E. (2010) *Analysing and measuring social inclusion in a global context*. New York: UN DESA (www.un.org/esa/socdev/publications/measuring-social-inclusion.pdf).
- Bajgar, M., Janský, P. and Kalíšková, K. (2018) 'The poor outside the lamplight: on the prevalence of poverty among population groups not included in household surveys' *Post-Communist Economies* 31(2) (https://doi.org/10.1080/14631377.2018.1506624).
- Barber, R.M., Fullman, N., Sorensen, R.J. et al. (2017) 'Healthcare access and quality index based on mortality from causes amenable to personal health care in 195 countries and territories, 1990–2015: a novel analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015' *The Lancet* 390(10091): 231–266.
- Bardasi, E., Beegle, K., Dillon, A. and Serneels, P. (2011) 'Do labor statistics depend on how and to whom the questions are asked? Results from a survey experiment in Tanzania' *World Bank Economic Review* 25(3): 418–447.
- Barrientos, A. (2013) 'The rise of social assistance in Brazil' Development and Change 44(4): 887–910.
- Bastagli, F. (2020) 'UBI and work' in U. Gentilini, M.E. Grosh, J.P Rigolini et al. (eds) *Exploring Universal Basic Income: a guide to navigating concepts, evidence, and practices*. Washington DC: World Bank (www.researchgate.net/publication/337866657\_Universal\_basic\_income\_and\_work).
- Bastagli, F., Samman, E., Both, N. et al. (2020) *Universal child benefits: policy issues and options*. London and New York: ODI and UNICEF (www.odi.org/publications/16997-universal-childbenefits-policy-issues-and-options).
- Basu, K. (2013) *Shared prosperity and the mitigation of poverty: in practice and in precept.* Washington DC: World Bank.
- Baulch, B. and Hoddinott, J. (2000) 'Economic mobility and poverty dynamics in developing countries' *The Journal of Development Studies* 36(6): 1–24.
- Baulch, B., Thi, N., Hoa, M. et al. (2009) *Ethnic minority poverty in Vietnam*. Working Paper 64272.
  Washington DC: World Bank (http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/495591468321292112/ pdf/642720WP0P107600361533B0PUBLIC0-doc.pdf).
- Bennett, J. (2018) *Leave No One Behind guidelines for project planners and practitioners*. Bonn: Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ).
- Bessell, S. (2015) 'The Individual Deprivation Measure: measuring poverty as if gender and inequality matter' *Gender and Development* 23(2): 223–240.
- Bhardwaj, R. (2018) Leave No One Behind in humanitarian programming: an approach to understanding intersectional programming. Learning Paper 1. Birmingham: Islamic Relief Worldwide (https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/Learning-paper-1-Leave-no-onebehind-in-humanitarian-programming-An-approach-to-understanding-intersectional-programming\_ web.pdf).
- Bhushan, S., Fällman, K., Sriskandarajah, D. and Jamann W. (2018) 'Putting the last first? Civil society's role in leaving no one behind' in OECD (2018) *Development co-operation to leave no one behind: a snapshot of DAC member approaches*. Paris: OECD (www.oecd.org/dac/DCR2018-Leave-No-one-Behind.PDF).
- Bidadanure, J.U. (2019) 'The political theory of universal basic income' *Annual Review of Political Science* 22: 481–501.
- Blinder, A.S. (1973) 'Wage discrimination: reduced form and structural variables' *Journal of Human Resources* 8(4): 436–455.
- Blampied, C., Greenhill, R., Jalles D'Orey, M.A. et al. (2016) *Leaving no one behind in the health sector: an SDG stocktake in Kenya and Nepal*. ODI Report. London: ODI (www.odi.org/ publications/10675-leaving-no-one-behind-health-sector-sdg-stocktake-kenya-and-nepal).
- Blundell, R., Costa Dias, M., Joyce, R. and Xu, X. (2020) 'Covid-19 and inequalities' *Fiscal Studies* 41(2): 291-319.

Boerma, J.T., Bryce, J., Kinfu, Y. et al. (2008) 'Mind the gap: equity and trends in coverage of maternal, newborn, and child health services in 54 countdown countries' *Lancet* 371(9620): 1259–1267.

Bottan, N., Hoffmann B. and Vera-Cossio, D. (2020) 'The unequal impact of the coronavirus pandemic: evidence from seventeen developing countries' *PLoS ONE* 15(10): e0239797 (https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0239797).

- Brewer, M., Clark, T. and Wakefield, M. (2002) 'Social security in the UK under New Labour: what did the Third Way mean for welfare reform?' *Fiscal Studies* 23(4): 505–537.
- Briggs, R.C. (2018a) 'Leaving no one behind? A new test of subnational aid targeting' *Journal of International Development* 30(5): 904–910 (https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.3357).
- Briggs, R.C. (2018b) 'Poor targeting: a gridded spatial analysis of the degree to which aid reaches the poor in Africa' *World Development* 103: 133–148 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017. 10.020).
- Brown, C., Ravallion, M. and van de Walle, D. (2017) 'Reaching poor people' *Finance and Development* 54(4): 48–51.
- Buckley, P. and Barua, A. (2020) 'Covid-19's impact on US income inequality: it's going to get worse before it gets better'. New York: Deloitte Insights (www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/insights/us/articles/6786\_IbtN-COVID-19-and-inequality/DI\_IbtN-COVID-19-and-inequality.pdf).
- Carey, G. and Crammond, B. (2017) 'A glossary of policy frameworks: the many forms of "universalism" and policy "targeting" *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 71(3): 303–307 (https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2014-204311).
- Carr-Hill, R. (2013) 'Missing millions and measuring development progress' World Development 46: 30–44 (https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WORLDDEV.2012.12.017).
- Carr-Hill, R. (2017) 'Improving population and poverty estimates with citizen surveys: evidence from East Africa' *World Development* 93: 249–259 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2016.12.017).
- Carrera, C., Begkoyian, G., Sharif, S. et al. (2017) *Narrowing the gaps: the power of investing in the poorest children*. New York: UNICEF (www.unicef.org/publications/files/UNICEF\_The\_power\_of\_investing\_in\_the\_poorest\_children.pdf).
- Carter, M.R. and Barrett, C.B. (2006) 'The economics of poverty traps and persistent poverty: an asset-based approach' *Journal of Development Studies* 42(2): 178–199 (https://doi.org/ 10.1080/00220380500405261).
- Centre for Economic and Social Rights (2018) *Input to High Commissioner's report on civil society space in multilateral institutions*. Geneva: UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (www.ohchr.org/Documents/AboutUs/CivilSociety/Procedures/CivilSociety/ CenterEconomicSocialRights.pdf).
- Chaplin, D., Twigg, J. and Lovell, E. (2019) 'Intersectional approaches to vulnerability reduction and resilience-building' *Resilience Intel* 12, April (www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/12651.pdf).
- Chatham House (2014) *Shared responsibilities for health: a coherent global framework for health financing*. Final Report of the Centre on Global Health Security Working Group on Health Financing. London: Chatham House (www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/field/field\_document/20140521HealthFinancing.pdf).
- Chattopadhyay, S. and Manea, M. (2019) "Leave no one behind" index 2019'. Briefing note. London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/11441-leave-no-one-behind-index-2019).
- Chavez-Villegas, C. and Samman, E. (2015) *Exclusion in household surveys: causes, impacts and ways forward*. ODI Report. London: ODI (www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/9643.pdf).
- Chen, S. and Ravallion, M. (2012) *More relatively-poor people in a less absolutely-poor world*. Policy Research Working Paper 6114. Washington DC: World Bank (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/11876/WPS6114.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y).

- Ciaian, P. and Kancs, D. (2016) *Causes of the social and economic marginalisation: the role of social mobility barriers for Roma*. EERI Research Paper Series No. 03/2016. Brussels: Economics and Econometrics Research Institute (EERI) (https://ideas.repec.org/p/eei/rpaper/eeri rp 2016 03.html).
- Clinton, W. (2006) Key propositions for building back better: a report by the United Nations Secretary-General's Special Envoy for Tsunami Recovery, WJ Clinton.
- Cobham, A. and Sumner, A. (2013) 'Palma vs Gini: measuring post-2015 inequality'. Blog, 5 April. Washington DC: Center for Global Development (www.cgdev.org/blog/palma-vs-gini-measuringpost-2015-inequality).
- Conway, K., Akseer, N., Subedi, R.K. et al. (2020) 'Drivers of stunting reduction in Nepal: a country case study' *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 112(2, September): 844S–859S (https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqaa218).
- Cowell, F.A. (2003) *Theil, inequality and the structure of income distribution.* Distributional Analysis Research Programme Paper 67. London: Suntory and Toyota International Centres for Economics and Related Disciplines, London School of Economics (http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/id/eprint/2288).
- CPRC Chronic Poverty Research Centre (2014) *Findings from the Chronic Poverty Research Centre*, 2000–2011 Manchester: CPRC (www.chronicpovertynetwork.org/resources/2014/9/cprcsummary).
- Cummins, M. (2016) *Child-focused Public Expenditure Measurement: a compendium of country initiatives*. PF4C Working Paper 2. New York: UNICEF (www.unicef.org/sites/default/files/2019-12/C-PEM\_Compendium\_FINAL.pdf).
- Custer, S., DiLorenzo, M., Masaki, T. et al. (2017) *Beyond the tyranny of averages: development progress from the bottom up*. Williamsburg VA: AidData at the College of William & Mary (www.aiddata.org/publications/beyond-the-tyranny-of-averages-development-progress-from-the-bottom-up).
- Daly, M. and Silver, H. (2008) 'Social exclusion and social capital: a comparison and critique' *Theory and* Society 37(6): 537–566 (https://doi.org/10.1007/s11186-008-9062-4).
- Deere, C.D. (2017) 'Women's land rights, rural social movements, and the state in the 21st-century Latin American agrarian reforms' *Journal of Agrarian Change* 17(2): 258–278 (https://doi.org/ 10.1111/joac.12208).
- DFI Development Finance International and Oxfam (2018) *The Commitment to Reducing Inequality Index 2018: a global ranking of governments based on what they are doing to tackle the gap between rich and poor.* Washington DC and Oxford: Development Finance International and Oxfam (www.oxfam.org/en/research/commitment-reducing-inequality-index-2018).
- Development Initiatives (2017) *The P20 initiative: data to Leave No One Behind*. Bristol, UK: Development Initiatives (https://devinit.org/resources/p20-initiative-data-to-leave-no-one-behind/).
- Di Francesco, B. and McDonnell, I. (2018) Leave No One Behind: how are Development Assistance Committee members answering the pledge of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development? Paris: OECD (https://doi.org/10.1787/22220518).
- Diwakar, V. and Shepherd, A. (2018) *Sustaining escapes from poverty*. ODI Working Paper 539. London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/11214-sustaining-escapes-poverty).
- Elson, D. (2018) *Push no one behind*. CDP Background Paper No. 43. New York: UNDESA (www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/wp-ontent/uploads/sites/45/publication/ CDP\_BP43\_June\_2018.pdf).
- Engel, J., Glennie, J., Adhikari, S.R. et al. (2013) *Nepal's story: understanding improvements in maternal health*. London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/7897-nepals-story-understanding-improvements-maternal-health).
- Espey, J. with Swanson, E., Badiee, S. et al. (2015) *Data for development: a needs assessment for SDG monitoring and statistical capacity development*. New York: Sustainable Development Solutions Network (https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/index.php?page=view&type=400&nr= 2017&menu=35).

- Estevan, F., Gall, T. and Morin, L.P. (2019) 'Redistribution without distortion: evidence from an affirmative action programme at a large Brazilian university' *The Economic Journal* 129(619): 1182–1220 (https://doi.org/10.1111/ecoj.12578).
- Fehling, M., Nelson, B.D. and Venkatapuram, S. (2013) 'Limitations of the millennium development goals: a literature review' *Global Public Health* 8: 1109–1122 (https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2 013.845676).
- Ferreira, F.H.G., Galasso, E. and Negre, M. (2018) Shared prosperity: concepts, data, and some policy examples. Policy Research Working Paper 8451. Washington DC: World Bank (http://hdl.handle.net/ 10986/29861).
- Ferreira, F.H. and Peragine, V. (2015) *Equality of opportunity: theory and evidence*. Washington DC: World Bank (https://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/pdf/10.1596/1813-9450-7217).
- Finn, A. and Leibbrandt, M. (2018) *The evolution and determination of earnings inequality in postapartheid South Africa*. WIDER Working Paper 2018/83. Helsinki: WIDER (https://doi.org/10.35188/ UNU-WIDER/2018/525-1).
- Foster, J., Greer, J. and Thorbecke, E. (1984) 'A class of decomposable poverty measures' *Econometrica* 52: 761–776 (https://ideas.repec.org/a/ecm/emetrp/v52y1984i3p761-66.html).
- Foster, J., Seth, S. Lokshin, M. and Sajaia, Z. (2013) A unified approach to measuring poverty and inequality: theory and practice. Washington DC: World Bank (https://doi.org/ 10.1596/978-0-8213-8461-9).
- Fukuda-Parr, S. (2010) 'Reducing inequality the missing MDG: a content review of PRSPs and bilateral donor policy statements' *IDS Bulletin* 41: 26–35 (https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1759-5436.2010.00100.x).
- Fukuda-Parr, S. (2019) 'Keeping out extreme inequality from the SDG Agenda the politics of indicators' *Global Policy* 10 (S1): 61–69 (https://doi.org/10.1111/1758-5899.12602).
- Fukuda-Parr, S. and Hegstad, T.S. (2019) "Leaving No One Behind" as a site of contestation and reinterpretation' *Journal of Globalization and Development* 9(2) (https://doi.org/10.1515/jgd-2018-0037).
- Fukuda-Parr, S., Bruckner, M., Hegestad, T. et al. (2018) Voluntary National Review reports: what do they report? New York: United Nations Committee for Development Policy (https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/20549CDPbp201846.pdf).
- Furceri, D., Loungani, P. and Ostry, J.D. (2020) 'COVID-19 will raise inequality if past pandemics are a guide'. Online article. VoxEU and CEPR (https://voxeu.org/article/covid-19-will-raiseinequality-if-past-pandemics-are-guide).
- Gates Foundation (2019) *Goalkeepers report: the stories behind the data*. Seattle: Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.
- General Assembly resolution A/RES/70/1: Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. New York: United Nations, 2015.
- Gentilini, U., Grosh, M.E., Rigolini, J.P. and Yemtsov, R.G. (eds.) (2020) *Exploring Universal Basic Income: a guide to navigating concepts, evidence, and practices.* Washington DC: World Bank Group (www.researchgate.net/publication/337866657\_Universal\_basic\_income\_and\_work).
- Gertz, G. and Kharas, H. (2018) *Leave no country behind: ending poverty in the toughest places*. Global Economy and Development Working Paper 110. Washington DC: Brookings Institution (https://think-asia.org/bitstream/handle/11540/7983/leave-no-country-behind\_global-working-paper. pdf?sequence=1).
- GIZ Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (2019) 'GIZ's understanding of what it means to implement the 2030 Agenda principle of leaving no one behind'. Bonn: GIZ.
- Glenday, G., Bharali, I. and Wang, Z. (2019) *Enhancing domestic revenues: constraints and opportunities a cross-country comparative study of tax capacity, effort and gaps.* Durham NC: Center for Policy Impact in Global Health and Duke University Center for International Development (https://centerforpolicyimpact.org/our-work/domestic-revenue-mobilization/).

- GPSDD Global Partnership for Sustainable Development Data (2019) 'One year of the inclusive data charter: what have we achieved, changed and learned?' Summary paper. GPSDD (www.data4sdgs.org/resources/inclusive-data-charter-one-year-2019-monitoring-reports).
- Government of Ireland (2019) *A better world: Ireland's policy for international development*. Dublin: Government of Ireland (www.irishaid.ie/media/irishaid/aboutus/abetterworldirelandspolicyforintern ationaldevelopment/A-Better-World-Irelands-Policy-for-International-Development.pdf).
- Greenhill, R. and Engen, L. (2018) *How can Norway implement 'leave no-one behind', as a guiding principle, in its aid and development policy*? London and Oslo: ODI and Save the Children Norway (www.reddbarna.no/nyheter/ny-rapport-hvordan-kan-norge-skape-endring-for-barna-verden-svikter).
- Greenhill, R. and Rabinowitz, G. (2017) *Financing 'leave no one behind': policy options in the social sectors*. Working Paper 522. London: ODI (www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/12168.pdf).
- Groce, N.E. and Mont, D. (2017) 'Counting disability: emerging consensus on the Washington Group questionnaire' *Lancet Glob Health* 5(7): e649-e650 (https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2214-109X(17)30207-3).
- Gugushvili, D. and Hirsch, D. (2014) Means-testing or universalism: what strategies best address poverty? A review contributing to Joseph Rowntree Foundation's development of an anti-poverty strategy. Leicestershire: Loughborough University and Centre for Research in Social Policy (https://repository.lboro.ac.uk/articles/report/Means-testing\_or\_Universalism\_what\_strategies\_best\_address\_poverty\_/9598025).
- Guha, S. and Itty, P. (2018) 'Institutional guidance for leaving no one behind from the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation' in *Case studies on leaving no one behind: a companion volume to the Development Co-operation Report 2018.* Paris: OECD (https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264309333-en).
- Gwatkin, D.R. and Ergo, A. (2011) 'Universal health coverage: friend or foe of health equity?' *The Lancet* 377: 2160–2161 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)62058-2).
- Halder, S.R. and Mosley, P. (2004) 'Working with the ultra-poor: learning from BRAC experiences' *Journal of International Development* 16(3): 387–406 (https://doi.org/10.1002/jid.1084).
- Hall, A. (2006) 'From Fome Zero to Bolsa Família: social policies and poverty alleviation under Lula' Journal of Latin American Studies 38(4): 689–709 (http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/21244/1/From%20 Fome%20Zero%20to%20Bolsa%20Familia%20%28LSERO%29.pdf).
- Hallegatte, S., Rentschler, J. and Walsh, B. (2018) *Building back better: achieving resilience through stronger, faster, and more inclusive post-disaster reconstruction*. Washington DC: World Bank (www.gfdrr.org/sites/default/files/publication/Building%20Back%20Better.pdf).
- Hankivsky, O. and Cormier, R. (2011) 'Intersectionality and public policy: some lessons from existing models' *Political Research Quarterly* 64(1): 217–229 (https://doi.org/10.1177/1065912910376385).
- Hanna, R. and Olken, B.A. (2018) 'Universal basic incomes versus targeted transfers: anti-poverty programs in developing countries' *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 32(4): 201–226 (https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.32.4.201).
- Hayes, A. and Caria, S. (2019) 'How USAID's solicitations and resulting awards include underrepresented groups'. Briefing Paper. Washington DC: Chemonics (www.chemonics.com/wpcontent/uploads/2019/07/USAID\_Solicitations\_Awards\_Include\_UnderrepresentedGroups\_ 05.2019.pdf).
- Herbert, S. (2019) *Leaving no one behind: perspectives and directions from DFID multi-cadre conferences.* K4D Emerging Issues Report. Brighton, UK: Institute of Development Studies (www.gov.uk/research-for-development-outputs/leaving-no-one-behind-perspectives-and-directions-from-dfid-multi-cadre-conferences).
- Hillman, N. (2018) 'Is "Progressive Universalism" the answer? The new student funding arrangements in Wales'. HEPI Policy Note 8. Oxford: Higher Education Policy Institute (https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED587224).

- Holmes, O. (2017) 'UN report on Rohingya hunger is shelved at Myanmar's request'. The Guardian, 17 October (www.theguardian.com/world/2017/oct/17/un-report-on-rohingya-hunger-is-shelved-at-myanmars-request).
- Howard, N. and Witbooi, M. (2018) 'The power of speaking out: an interview with South Africa's pioneering activist for domestic workers' rights'. OpenDemocracy, 9 February (www.opendemocracy. net/en/beyond-trafficking-and-slavery/power-of-speaking-out-interview-with-south-africa-s-pioneer/).
- Hoy, C. (2015) *Leaving no one behind: the impact of pro-poor growth*. ODI Report. London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/9997-leaving-no-one-behind-impact-pro-poor-growth).
- Hoy, C., Klasen, S., Samman, E. et al. (2016) *Middle-income transitions and inequality: is there a link?* Development Progress Dimension Paper 05. London: ODI (www.odi.org/ publications/10368-middle-income-transitions-and-inequality-there-link).
- Huber, J. (2017) 'Why an intersectional approach to gender quotas is a must: an example from Nepal'. International Foundation for Electoral Systems (www.ifes.org/news/why-intersectionalapproach-gender-quotas-must-example-nepal-0).
- Human Rights Watch (2013) 'Claiming rights: domestic workers' movements and global advances for labor reform'. Human Rights Watch (www.hrw.org/report/2013/10/27/claiming-rights/ domestic-workers-movements-and-global-advances-labor-reform).
- Independent Evaluation Group (2010) *Analyzing the effects of policy reforms on the poor: an evaluation of the effectiveness of World Bank support to poverty and social impact analyses.* Washington DC: World Bank (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/2484).
- IISD International Institute for Sustainable Development (2020a) 'Matching the HLPF's ambition to performance: prospects for the review' Winnipeg: IISD (http://sdg.iisd.org/commentary/guest-articles/matching-the-hlpfs-ambition-to-performance-prospects-for-the-review/).
- IISD (2020b) 'CSO coalition finds greater focus on "Leaving No One Behind" in national SDG planning'. Winnipeg: IISD (http://sdg.iisd.org/news/cso-coalition-finds-greater-focus-on-leaving-no-one-behind-in-national-sdg-planning/).
- IISD (2020c) 'It's time to talk about expectations for super year 2020' Policy brief. Winnipeg: IISD (https://sdg.iisd.org/commentary/policy-briefs/its-time-to-talk-about-expectations-for-super-year-2020/).
- IPA Innovations for Poverty Action (2020) 'The ultra poor graduation approach'. Webpage. Washington DC: IPA (www.poverty-action.org/impact/ultra-poor-graduation-model).
- Jacques, O. and Noël, A. (2020, pre-print) 'Targeting within universalism' *Journal of European Social Policy* (https://doi.org/10.1177/0958928720918973).
- Jenkins, S.P., Lynn, P., Jäckle, A. and Sala, E. (2008) 'The feasibility of linking household survey and administrative record data: new evidence for Britain' *International Journal of Social Research Methodology* 11(1): 29–43 (https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570701401602).
- Jones, N., Pincock, K., Baird, S. et al. (2020) 'Intersecting inequalities, gender and adolescent health in Ethiopia' *International Journal for Equity in Health* 19(1): 97 (https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12939-020-01214-3).
- Kabeer, N. (2010) *Can the MDGs provide a pathway to social justice? The challenge of intersecting inequalities*. New York: United Nations (www.mdgfund.org/sites/default/files/MDGs\_and\_Inequalities\_Final\_Report.pdf).
- Kabeer, N. (2016) "Leaving no one behind": the challenge of intersecting inequalities' in J. Gaventa, M. Leach and P. Justino (eds) World social science report. Challenging inequalities: pathways to a just world. Paris: UNESCO (https://doi.org/10.1111/issj.12095).
- Kabeer, N. and Santos, R. (2017) Intersecting inequalities and the Sustainable Development Goals: insights from Brazil. Working Paper 14. London: LSE Inequalities Institute (http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/101851/).

- Kakwani, N.C., Wagstaff, A. and van Doorslaer, E. (1997) 'Socioeconomic inequalities in health: measurement, computation and statistical inference' *Journal of Econometrics* 77(1): 87–104 (https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-4076(96)01807-6).
- Kanbur, R. (2006) 'The policy significance of inequality decompositions' *The Journal of Economic Inequality* 4(3): 367–374 (https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs10888-005-9013-5).
- Kharas, H., McArthur, J.W. and Ohno, I. (2019) 'Getting specific to leave no one behind on sustainable development' in ibid. (eds) *Leave no one behind: time for specifics on the Sustainable Development Goals*. Washington DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Kindornay, S. (2019) 'Progressing national SDG implementation: an independent assessment of the voluntary national review reports submitted to the United Nations High-level Political Forum in 2018'. Ottawa: Canadian Council for International Co-operation.
- Klasen, S. and Fleurbaey, M. (2018) *Leaving no one behind: some conceptual and empirical issues*. CDP Background Paper No. 44. New York: UNDESA (https://ideas.repec.org/p/une/cpaper/044.html).
- Klasen, S. and Lange, S. (2012) 'Getting progress right: measuring progress towards the MDGs against historical trends'. Discussion Paper No. 87. Gottingen: Courant Research Centre (https://ideas.repec.org/p/got/gotcrc/087.html).
- Kotsadam, A., Østby, G., Rustad, S.A. et al. (2018) 'Development aid and infant mortality. Micro-level evidence from Nigeria' *World Development* 105: 59–69 (https://doi:10.1016/j. worlddev.2017.12.022).
- Labonte, R. (2004) 'Social inclusion/exclusion: dancing the dialectic' *Health Promotion International* 19(1): 115–121 (https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dah112).
- Laborde, D., Martin, W.J. and Vos, R. (2020) 'Estimating the poverty impact of COVID-19: the MIRAGRODEP and POVANA framework'. Technical note. Washington DC: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) (ww.researchgate.net/publication/342068871\_Estimating\_the\_Poverty\_Impact\_of\_COVID-19\_The\_MIRAGRODEP\_and\_POVANA\_frameworks\_1).
- Lakner, C., Gerszon Mahler, D., Negre, M. et al. (2020) *Global poverty monitoring: how much does reducing inequality matter for global poverty?* Washington DC: World Bank (http://iresearch.worldbank.org/PovcalNet/).
- Langer, A., Mustapha, A.R. and Stewart, F. (2007) *Horizontal inequalities in Nigeria, Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire: issues and policies.* CRISE Working Paper No. 45. Oxford: University of Oxford (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/57a08bf0e5274a31e0000eb8/wp45.pdf).
- Langer, A. and Stewart, F. (2015) Regional imbalances, horizontal inequalities, and violent conflict. Insights from four West African countries. Washington DC: World Bank (http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/768071468191326719/pdf/98900-WP-AFR-P148420-Box-393185B-PUBLIC-Regional-Imbalances-FINAL.pdf).
- Lenhardt, A. and Samman, E. (2015) *In quest of inclusive progress: exploring intersecting inequalities in human development*. Development Progress Research Report 4. London: ODI (www.odi.org/ publications/10041-quest-inclusive-progress-exploring-intersecting-inequalities-human-development).
- Li, Z., Li, M., Subramanian, S.V. and Lu, C. (2017) 'Assessing levels and trends of child health inequality in 88 developing countries: from 2000 to 2014' *Global Health* Action 10(1): 1408385 (https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2017.1408385).
- Limbu, T. (2018) 'Nepal's house of cards: are women included or co-opted in politics?' Blog, 2 February. London: LSE (https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/southasia/2018/02/02/nepals-house-of-cards-arewomen-included-or-co-opted-in-politics-gender-female-representation-caste/).
- Lindgren, M. (2015) The elusive quest for the subsistence line. How much does the cost of survival vary between populations? Comparative Institutional Analysis Working Paper 2015: 1. Sweden: Lund University.
- Love, J.L. and Baer, W. (eds) (2009) *Brazil under Lula: economy, politics and society under the worker president*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

- Lucci, P., Khan, A., Turner, J. and Sims, J. (2019) *Is the World Bank leaving no one behind?* Working Paper 561. London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/11383-world-bank-leaving-no-one-behind).
- Lustig, N. (ed.) (2018) CEQ handbook: estimating the impact of fiscal poverty on inequality and poverty. Tulane University and Brookings University Press (https://commitmentoequity.org/publications-ceq-handbook).
- Lustig, N., Lopez-Calva, L.F. and Ortiz-Juarez, E. (2012) *Declining inequality in Latin America in the 2000s: the cases of Argentina, Brazil, and Mexico*. Washington DC: World Bank (https://ideas.repec.org/a/eee/wdevel/v44y2013icp129-141.html).
- Lynch, A., Berliner, T. and Mariotti, C. (2016) Who is being left behind in sub-Saharan Africa? An illustration in Benin and Nigeria. ODI Report. London: ODI (www.odi.org/ publications/10288-who-being-left-behind-sub-saharan-africa-asia-and-latin-america).
- Madiz, C. (2019) 'Thematic review: perspectives of society. Major group on children and youth intervention' UN SDG Knowledge Platform (https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/index.php?page=view&type=20000&nr=5675&menu=2993).
- Mangenot, M. (2019) 'Civil society needs more space in forums like the HLPF'. Blog, 27 August. Global Partnership for Education (www.globalpartnership.org/blog/civil-society-needs-more-space-forums-hlpf).
- Mangubhai, J.P. and Capraro, C. (2015) "Leave no one behind" and the challenge of intersectionality: Christian Aid's experience of working with single and Dalit women in India' *Gender & Development* 23(2): 261–277 (https://doi.org/10.1080/13552074.2015.1054206).
- Manuel, M., Desai, H., Samman, E. and Evans, M. (2018a) *Financing the end of extreme poverty*. ODI Report. London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/11187-financing-end-extreme-poverty).
- Manuel, M., Grandi, F., Manea, S. et al. (2018b) "Leave no one behind" index 2018'. ODI Briefing Note. London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/11159-leave-no-one-behind-index-2018).
- Manuel, M., Coppard, D., Dodd, A. et al. (2019) *Subnational investment in human capital*. London and Bristol, UK: ODI and Development Initiatives (www.odi.org/publications/11308-subnational-investment-human-capital).
- Manuel, M., Carson, L., Samman, E. and Evans, M. (2020) 'Financing the reduction of extreme poverty post-Covid-19'. ODI Briefing Note. London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/ 17516-financing-reduction-extreme-poverty-post-covid).
- Marcus, R., Mdee, A. and Page, E. (2016) Anti-discrimination policies and programmes in low- and middle-income countries: experiences in political participation, education and labour markets. London: ODI (www.chronicpovertynetwork.org/resources/2016/6/17/anti-discrimination-policiesand-programmes-in-low-and-middle-income-countries-experiences-in-political-participationeducation-and-labour-markets).
- McDonnell, A. and Samman, E. (2020) *Ensuring no one is 'left behind' in health: an evidence review of constraints and ways forward*. Working Paper 587. London: ODI (www.odi.org/ publications/17141-ensuring-no-one-left-behind-health-evidence-review-constraints-and-ways-forward).
- McDonnell, A., Urrutia, A.F. and Samman, E. (2019) *Reaching univeral health coverage: a political economy review of trends across 49 countries*. ODI Working Paper 570. London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/16508-reaching-universal-health-coverage-political-economy-review-trends-across-49-countries).
- McKay, A. (2002) *Defining and measuring inequality*. London: ODI (www.odi.org/ publications/2920-defining-and-measuring-inequality).
- McLean, C. (2016) *Justice for all? Basic income and the principles of gender equity*, London: Institute for Public Policy Research (www.ippr.org/juncture/and-justice-for-all-basicincome-and-the-principles-of-gender-equity).
- Mdee, A., Otieno, P. and Akuni, J. (2012) 'Now I know my rights!' Exploring group membership and rights-based approaches for people living with HIV/AIDS in Northern Tanzania. JEFCAS

Working Paper 4. Bradford: University of Bradford (https://jefcas.files.wordpress.com/2012/01/ jefcasworkingpaper4.pdf).

- Mehata, S., Paudel, Y.R., Dariang, M. et al. (2017) 'Trends and inequalities in use of maternal health care services in Nepal: strategy in the search for improvements' *BioMed Research International* 2017: 5079234 (www.hindawi.com/journals/bmri/2017/5079234/).
- Milanovic, B. and Lakner, C. (2013) *Global income distribution from the fall of the Berlin Wall to the Great Recession*. Policy Research Working Paper No. 6719. Washington DC: World Bank (http://econ.worldbank.org).
- Milanovic, B. (2016) *Global inequality: a new approach for the age of globalization*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Ministry of Health (2018) 'President Uhuru launches Universal Health Coverage Pilot Program Nairobi'. Press release, 13 December (www.health.go.ke/president-uhuru-launches-universal-health-coverage-pilot-program-nairobi-kenya-december-13-2018/).
- Molina, I., Rao, J.N.K. and Guadarrama, M. (2019) 'Small area estimation methods for poverty mapping: a selective review' *Statistics and Applications* 17(1): 11–22 (https://researchportal.uc3m. es/individual/act524631).
- Munro, K. (2018) *Leave No One Behind: how the development community is realising the pledge*. London: Bond (www.bond.org.uk/sites/default/files/resource-documents/leave\_no\_one\_behind\_ how\_the\_development\_community\_is\_realising\_the\_pledge.pdf).
- Nepali, S., Simkhada, P. and Davies, I. (2019) 'Trends and inequalities in stunting in Nepal: a secondary data analysis of four Nepal demographic health surveys from 2001 to 2016' *BMC Nutrition* 5(1): 19 (https://doi.org/10.1186/s40795-019-0283-x).
- Neri, M. (2014) *Poverty reduction and wellbeing: Lula's real*. Rio de Janeiro: Fundação Getulio Vargas.
- Newhouse, D., Suárez Becerra, P. and Evans, M. (2017) 'New global estimates of child poverty and their sensitivity to alternative equivalence scales' *Economics Letters* 157: 125–128 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2017.06.007).
- Nicholson, D., Yates, R., Warburton, W. and Fontana, G. (2015) *Delivering universal health coverage: a guide for policymakers*. Report of the WISH Universal Health Coverage Forum. London: Imperial College (www.imperial.ac.uk/media/imperial-college/institute-of-global-health-innovation/public/ Universal-health-coverage.pdf).
- Norton, A., Mariotti, C., Shepherd, A. and Kabeer, N. (2014) 'What can be done to address intersecting inequalities? Social justice post-2015'. Briefing 93. London: ODI (www.odi.org/sites/odi. org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/9214.pdf).
- Oaxaca, R. (1973) 'Male-female wage differentials in urban labour market' *International Economic Review* 9(3): 693–709 (https://inequality.stanford.edu/publications/media/details/ male-female-wage-differentials-urban-labor-markets).
- OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2007) 'The rationale for ex ante Poverty Impact Assessment' in *Promoting pro-poor growth: policy guidance for donors*. Paris: OECD (https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264024786-28-en).
- OECD (2015) In it together: why less inequality benefits all. Paris: OECD (https://doi.org/ 10.1787/9789264235120-en).
- OECD (2016) OECD reviews of health systems. Paris: OECD (https://doi.org/10.1787/ 9789264230491-en).
- OECD (2017) 'Better governance for gender equality'. Flyer. Paris: OECD (www.oecd.org/gov/gender-public-life-flyer.pdf).
- OECD (2018) Development co-operation report 2018: joining forces to leave no one behind. Paris: OECD (https://doi.org/10.1787/dcr-2018-en).
- OECD (2020) *States of fragility 2020*. Paris: OECD (www.oecd.org/dac/states-of-fragility-fa5a6770-en.htm).

- Oh, J.H. (2019) 'Educational expansion and health disparities in Ethiopia, 2005–2016' Social Science and Medicine 235: 112316 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.05.021).
- OHCHR Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights (2008) 'Frequently asked questions on economic, social and cultural rights'. Fact Sheet No. 33. Geneva: OHCHR.
- OHCHR (2018) OHCHR Management Plan 2018–2021. Geneva: OHCHR (www.ohchr.org/ Documents/Publications/OMP-2018-2021-Short-English.pdf).
- OMH Office of Minority Health (2019) 'Infant mortality and African Americans' (https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl=4&lvlid=23).
- OPHI and UNDP Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative and United Nations Development Programme (2020) *Charting pathways out of multidimensional poverty: achieving the SDGs* (https://ophi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/G-MPI\_Report\_2020\_Charting\_Pathways.pdf).
- Ortiz, I., Cummins, M. and Karunanethy, K. (2017) *Fiscal space for social protection and the SDGs: options to expand social investments in 187 countries.* Extension of Social Security (ESS) Working Paper no. 48. Geneva: International Labour Organization (www.social-protection.org/gimi/ RessourcePDF.action?ressource.ressourceId=51537).
- Østby, G. and Urdal, H. (2014) Conflict and educational inequality: evidence from 30 countries in sub-Saharan Africa. Report. Washington DC: USAID (http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf\_docs/PA00JW56.pdf).
- Painter, A. and Thoung, C. (2015) *Creative citizen, creative state: the principled and pragmatic case for a Universal Basic Income*. London: RSA (www.thersa.org/globalassets/reports/rsa\_basic\_income\_20151216.pdf).
- PAL Network People's Action for Learning Network (2019) 'Left behind in school'. Evidence Brief #1 in the Leeds/PAL series (https://palnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/2019\_PAL\_Left-Behind-in-School\_Evidence-Brief-\_1-in-the-LeedsPAL-series.pdf).
- Panday, K. (2019) 'More reservation quotas sought for ethnic groups'. The Himalayan Times, 19 February (https://thehimalayantimes.com/nepal/more-reservation-quotas-sought-for-ethnic-groups/).
- Paswan, B. (2017) 'Data reveals local elections a disaster for gender equality'. The Record, 24 October (www.recordnepal.com/wire/features/data-reveals-local-elections-a-disaster-for-gender-equality/).
- PEP Partnership for Economic Policy (2020) 'Community-based Monitoring System'. Webpage (www.pep-net.org/about-cbms).
- Picanyol, C. and Silva-Leander, S. (2018) *Equity budgeting tool: how to analyse equity in public budgeting and contribute to leaving no one behind*'. Bonn and Eschborn: GIZ (www.poverty-inequality.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/GIZ-Equity-budgeting-tool-2018-EN.pdf).
- Piketty, T. (2014) *Capital in the twenty-first century*. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.
- Prasai, D.P. (2013) A review of studies on Nepal's national free health care programme. Report submitted to Primary Health Care Revitalisation Division Department of Health Services, Ministry of Health and Populations. Kathmandu: Nepal Health Sector Support Programme (www.nhssp.org. np/NHSSP\_Archives/gesi/Free\_care\_review\_november2013.pdf).
- Pritchett, L. and Sandefur, J. (2020) 'Girls' schooling and women's literacy: schooling targets alone won't reach learning goals' *International Journal of Educational Development* 78: 102242 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2020.102242).
- Psacharopoulos, G. and Patrinos, H.A. (2018) *Returns to investment in education a decennial review of the global literature*. Policy Research Working Paper No. 8402. Washington DC: World Bank (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/29672).
- Rao, K.D., Makimoto, S., Peters, M. et al. (2019) 'Vulnerable populations and universal health coverage' in H. Kharas, J.W. McArthur and I. Ohno (eds) *Leave no one behind: time for specifics on the Sustainable Development Goals*. Washington DC: Brookings Institution Press.
- Rappler.com (2019) 'What is QC's ordinance against LGBTQ+ discrimination all about?'. Rappler.com, 14 August (www.rappler.com/newsbreak/iq/things-to-know-quezon-city-ordinance-against-lgbtq-discrimination).

- Ravallion, M. (2016) 'Are the world's poorest being left behind?' *Journal of Economic Growth* 21(2): 139–164 (https://doi.org/10.1007/s10887-016-9126-7).
- Ravallion, M. (2018) 'SDG1.1: Are we on track to eradicating extreme poverty by 2030?' Economics and Poverty Blog, 19 September (https://economicsandpoverty.com/2018/09/19/ sdg1-1-are-we-on-track-to-eradicating-extreme-poverty-by-2030/).
- Ravallion, M. (2020) *SDG1: The last three percent*. Working Paper 527. Washington DC: Center for Global Development.
- Regmi, P., Upreti, M.D.I., Subedi, H.N. et al. (2013) *Study on access to maternal, neonatal and child health services in remote areas of Nepal.* Consolidated report of findings. Kathmandu and Washington DC: Nepal Health Sector Support Programme and World Bank.
- Reidpath, D.D., Morel, C.M., Mecaskey, J.W. and Allotey, P. (2009) 'The Millennium Development Goals fail poor children: the case for equity-adjusted measures' *PLoS Med* 6(4): e1000062 (https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000062).
- Richardson, C. and Duffy, S. (2020) 'An introduction to basic income plus. Version 1.0 for consultation'. Sheffield: Centre for Welfare Reform (www.centreforwelfarereform.org/uploads/ attachment/739/an-introduction-to-basic-income-plus.pdf).
- Roberton, T., Carter, E.D., Chou, V.B. et al. (2020) *Early estimates of the indirect effects of the coronavirus pandemic on maternal and child mortality in low-and middle-income countries.* Amsterdam: Elsevier (https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30229-1).
- Rodríguez Takeuchi, L. and Mariotti, C. (2016) Who is being left behind in Latin America? An *illustration in Brazil and Guatemala*. London: ODI (www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/ publications-opinion-files/10282.pdf).
- Rodríguez Takeuchi, L. and Samman, E. (2015) *Patterns of progress on the MDGs and implications for target setting post-2015*. Research Report 01. London: ODI (www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/ odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/9531.pdf).
- Rosenblatt, D. and McGavock, T.J. (2013) A note on the simple algebra of the shared prosperity *indicator*. Policy Research Working Paper 6645. Washington DC: World Bank (www.researchgate. net/publication/276266265\_A\_Note\_on\_the\_Simple\_Algebra\_of\_the\_Shared\_Prosperity\_Indicator).
- Rothwell, J. (2020) 'The unequal distribution of economic damage from Covid-19' Gallup blog, 1 June (https://news.gallup.com/opinion/gallup/311714/unequal-distribution-economic-damage-covid.aspx).
- Sabates, R., Rose, P., Alcott, B. and Delprato, M. (2020) 'Assessing cost-effectiveness with equity of a programme targeting marginalised girls in secondary schools in Tanzania' *Journal of Development Effectiveness* (https://doi.org/10.1080/19439342.2020.1844782).
- Sánchez-Ancochea, D. (2020) 'The two faces of income inequality: who'll be hardest hit by the pandemic?' UNESCO Inclusive Policy Lab. Paris: UNESCO (https://en.unesco.org/ inclusivepolicylab/news/two-faces-income-inequality-wholl-be-hardest-hit-pandemic).
- Sandefur, J. and Glassman, A. (2015) 'The political economy of bad data: evidence from African survey and administrative statistics' *The Journal of Development Studies* 51(2): 116–132 (https://doi.org/1 0.1080/00220388.2014.968138).
- Sarwar, M.B. (forthcoming) 'Understanding challenges to implementing the "principle" in international development interventions'. ODI Briefing Papers. London: ODI.
- Sarwar, M.B. and Nicolai, S. (2018) 'What do analyses of Voluntary National Reviews for Sustainable Development Goals tell us about "leave no one behind"?' London: ODI (www.odi.org/ publications/11147-what-do-analyses-voluntary-national-reviews-sustainable-development-goalstell-us-about-leave-no-one).
- Save the Children (2012) 'Ending poverty in our generation: Save the Children's vision for a post-2015 framework'. London: Save the Children (https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/library/ ending-poverty-our-generation-save-childrens-vision-post-2015-framework).
- SDC Swiss Development Corporation (2019) SDC guidance: leave no one behind (www.shareweb.ch /site/Poverty-Wellbeing/leave-no-one-behind/Shared%20Documents/ sdc-guidance-leave-no-one-behind\_EN.pdf).

- Seery, E. and Caistor Arendar, A. (2014) *Even it up: time to end extreme inequality*. Oxford: Oxfam International (www.eldis.org/document/A69590).
- Sen, A. (1983) 'Poor, relatively speaking' Oxford Economic Papers 35(2): 153169 (www.jstor.org/ stable/2662642).
- Senit, C. A. (2020) 'Leaving no one behind? The influence of civil society participation on the Sustainable Development Goals' *Environment and Planning C: Politics and Space* 38(4): 693–712 (https://doi.org/10.1177/2399654419884330).
- Silver, H. (1994) 'Social exclusion and social solidarity: three paradigms' *International Labour Review* 133: 531 (https://gsdrc.org/document-library/social-exclusion-and-social-solidarity-three-paradigms/).
- Southern Voice (2020) 'Global State of the SDGs: three layers of critical action'. Southern Voice (http://southernvoice.org/state-of-the-sdgs/).
- Silver, H. (2015) 'Social exclusion'. Report (www.researchgate.net/profile/Hilary\_Silver/ publication/332426012\_Social\_Exclusion/links/5cd2d5d092851c4eab8a2064/Social-Exclusion.pdf).
- Skocpol, T. (1991) 'Targeting within universalism: politically viable policies to combat poverty in the United States' in C. Jencks and P.E. Peterson (eds) *The urban underclass*. Washington DC: The Brookings Institution, 411–436.
- Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (2016) 'The capability approach'. Webpage. (https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/capability-approach/#FunCap).
- Steele, J.E., Sundsøy, P.R., Pezzulo, C. et al. (2017) 'Mapping poverty using mobile phone and satellite data' *Journal of The Royal Society Interface* 14(127): 20160690 (https://doi.org/10.1098/ rsif.2016.0690).
- Stewart, F. (2000) 'Crisis prevention: tackling horizontal inequalities' Oxford Development Studies 28(3): 245–262 (www.qeh.ox.ac.uk/publications/crisis-prevention-tackling-horizontal-inequalities-0).
- Stewart F. (2005) 'Horizontal inequalities: a neglected dimension of development' in A.B. Atkinson, K. Basu, J. Bhagwati et al. (eds) Wider perspectives on global development. Studies in Development Economics and Policy. London: Palgrave Macmillan (https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230501850\_5).
- Stewart, F. (2013) 'Approaches towards inequality and inequity: concepts, measures and policies'. Office of Research Discussion Paper No. 2013-01. Florence: UNICEF Office of Research (www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/stewart%20inequality\_inequity\_layout\_fin.pdf).
- Stewart, F. (2016) 'The dynamics of horizontal inequalities'. UNDP Human Development Report Think Piece. New York: UNDP.
- Stewart, F., Brown, G. and Mancini, L. (2010) *Monitoring and measuring horizontal inequalities*. CRISE Report 4. Oxford: University of Oxford.
- Stewart F. and Langer A. (2008) 'Horizontal inequalities: explaining persistence and change' in
  F. Stewart (ed.) *Horizontal inequalities and conflict: conflict, inequality and ethnicity*. London: Palgrave Macmillan (https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230582729\_4).
- Stewart, F. and Samman, E. (2013) 'Inequality and development: an overview' in B. Currie-Alder, R. Kanbur, D.M. Malone and R. Medhora (eds) *International development: ideas, experience, and prospects.* Oxford: Oxford University Press (https://idl-bnc-idrc.dspacedirect.org/bitstream/ handle/10625/51548/IDL-51548.pdf?sequence=1).
- Stuart, E., Samman, E., Avis, W. and Berliner, T. (2015) The data revolution: finding the missing millions. Development Progress Research Report 3. London: ODI (www.odi.org/ publications/9476-data-revolution-finding-missing-millions).
- Stuart, E., Bird, K., Bhatkal, T. et al. (2016) *Leaving no one behind: a critical path for the first 1,000 days of the Sustainable Development Goals*. ODI Report. London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/10489-leaving-no-one-behind-critical-path-first-1000-days-sustainable-development-goals).

- Stuart, E. and Samman, E. (2017) 'Defining "leave no one behind".' ODI Briefing Note. London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/10956-defining-leave-no-one-behind).
- Sumner, A. (2011) 'The new bottom billion: what if most of the world's poor live in middle-income countries?' CGD Briefing. Washington DC and London: Center for Global Development (www.cgdev.org/publication/new-bottom-billion-what-if-most-worlds-poor-live-middle-income-countries).
- Sumner, A. (2012) Where do the world's poor live? A new update. IDS Working Paper 393. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/ j.2040-0209.2012.00393.x).
- Sumner, A. (2013) Global poverty, aid, and middle-income countries: are the country classifications moribund or is global poverty in the process of 'nationalizing'? WIDER Working Paper No. 2013/062. Helsinki: The United Nations University World Institute for Development Economics Research (UNU-WIDER) (www.wider.unu.edu/publication/global-povertyaid-and-middle-income-countries).
- Sumner, A. (2016) *Global poverty: deprivation, distribution, and development since the Cold War.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sumner, A., Suryahadi, A., Thang, N. et al. (2012) *Poverty and inequalities in middle-income South Asia*. Brighton, UK: Institute of Development Studies.
- Tamang, M.S. (2017) 'Social movements and inclusive peace in Nepal' *Accord* 26 (www.c-r.org/accord/ nepal/social-movements-and-inclusive-peace-nepal).
- TAP Network Transparency, Accountability, and Participation Network (2019) 'Contributing to Voluntary National Reviews (VNR)'. SDG Accountability Handbook (https://secureservercdn.net/166.62.112.219/9bz.99d.myftpupload.com/wp-content/ uploads/2019/05/Contributing-to-Voluntary-National-Reviews.pdf).
- The International Commission on Financing Global Education Opportunity (2016) *The learning generation: investing in education for a changing world*. New York: The International Commission on Financing Global Education Opportunity (https://report.educationcommission.org/).
- The SDGs Center for Africa and SDSN Sustainable Development Solutions Network (2020) *Africa* SDG Index and Dashboards Report 2020. Kigali and New York: SDG Center for Africa and SDSN (https://s3.amazonaws.com/sustainabledevelopment.report/2020/2020\_africa\_index\_and\_ dashboards.pdf).
- Theil, H. (1967) Economics and information theory. Amsterdam: North-Holland.
- Tidemand, P., Sola, N., Maziku, A. et al. (2014) *Local government authority (LGA) fiscal inequities and the challenges of 'disadvantaged' LGAs in Tanzania*. ODI Report. London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/8481-local-government-authority-lga-fiscal-inequities-challenges-disadvantaged-lgas-tanzania).
- Townsend, P. (1979) Poverty in the United Kingdom. London: Allen Lane and Penguin Books.
- Townsend, P. (2009) 'Investment in social security: a possible UN model for child benefit' in P. Townsend (ed.) *Building decent societies: rethinking the role of social security in development*. Basingstoke: Palgrave MacMillan: 151–166.
- Treers, V. (2018) 'Civil society participation in the voluntary national reports at the HLPF-2018'. Blog, 20 August. Soroptimist International (www.soroptimistinternational.org/civil-societyparticipation-in-the-voluntary-national-reports-at-the-hlpf-2018/).
- Uehara, A. (2019) In Nepal, an uphill battle for gender parity'. Online article. swissinfo.ch, 25 September (www.swissinfo.ch/eng/glass-ceiling-in-the-himalayas\_in-nepal--an-uphill-battle-for-gender-parity/45235458).
- United Nations (2013) A new global partnership: eradicate poverty and transform economies through sustainable development. New York: UNDP.
- United Nations (2020) 'Education during Covid-19 and beyond'. Policy brief. New York: United Nations.

- UN DESA United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2016) 'Employment opportunities: do race and ethnicity matter?' in *Report on the world social situation*. New York: UN DESA (http://bit.ly/RWSS2016).
- UN DESA (2019) 'Handbook for preparation of Voluntary National Reviews: the 2020 edition'. New York: UN DESA (https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/25245Handbook\_ 2020\_EN.pdf).
- UN DESA (2020) 'Covid-19 and sovereign debt'. Policy brief. New York: UN DESA (www.un.org/ development/desa/dpad/publication/un-desa-policy-brief-72-covid-19-and-sovereign-debt/).
- UN Women (2017) "Leaving no one behind" in action'. Brief. New York: UN Women (www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2017/3/leaving-no-one-behind-in-action#view).
- UNDP United Nations Development Programme (2012) 'A policy framework for addressing inequality in developing countries' in *Humanity divided: confronting inequality in developing countries:* 7. New York: UNDP.
- UNDP (2018) 'What does it really mean to "Leave No One Behind"?' Discussion paper. New York: UNDP (www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/poverty-reduction/what-does-it-mean-to-leave-no-one-behind-.html).
- UNDP (2019) 'Policies for reducing inequalities in human development in the 21st century: we have a choice' in *Human Development Report 2019: beyond income, beyond averages, beyond today inequalities in human development in the 21st century.* New York: UNDP (https://doi.org/10.18356/ d639f01b-en).
- UNDP (2020) 'Goal 10 Targets'. Webpage. New York: UNDP (www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/ sustainable-development-goals/goal-10-reduced-inequalities/targets.html).
- UNESCO United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (2014) *Education for All global monitoring report 2013/14*. Paris: UNESCO (https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000225654).
- UNESCO (2015) Education for All global monitoring report 2015: 2000–2015: achievements and challenges. Paris: UNESCO.
- UNESCO (2019) The United Nations world water development report 2019: leaving no one behind. Paris: UNESCO (https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000367306?posinset=3&queryid=32 fe5631-4129-42a8-83f3-c938400c2190).
- UNESCO (2020) *Global education monitoring report*, 2020: *inclusion and education all means all*. Paris: UNESCO (https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000373718).
- UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund (2014) *Global initiative on out-of-school children Turkey report*. New York: UNICEF.
- UNICEF (2020a) *Producing disability-inclusive data: why it matters and what it takes.* New York: UNICEF (https://data.unicef.org/resources/producing-disability-inclusive-data-why-it-matters-and-what-it-takes/).
- UNICEF (2020b) 'U-report'. Website, accessed 19 January 2021 (www.unicef.org/ innovation/U-Report).
- USAID US Agency for International Development (2019) *Mission, vision and values*. Washington DC: USAID (www.usaid.gov/who-we-are/mission-vision-values).
- Uzochukwu, B.S., Okeke, C.C., Ogwezi, J. et al. (2020) 'Exploring the drivers of ethnic and religious exclusion from public services in Nigeria: implications for sustainable development goal 10' *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy* (www.emerald.com/insight/content/ doi/10.1108/IJSSP-02-2020-0036/full/html).
- Valensisi, G. (2020) 'COVID-19 and global poverty: are LDCs being left behind?' *The European Journal of Development Research* 32(5): 1535–1557 (https://link.springer.com/article/10.1057/ s41287-020-00314-8).

- Varughese, A.R. and Bairagya, I. (2020) 'Group-based educational inequalities in India: have major education policy interventions been effective?' *International Journal of Educational Development* 73: 102159.
- Viana, M. and Perera, S. (2018) 'Transforming the politics of the HLPF: an urgent need to move beyond reviews'. Online article. Realizing Sexual and Reproductive Justice (RESURJ), 16 October (http://resurj.org/post/transforming-politics-hlpf-urgent-need-move-beyond-reviews).
- Victora, C.G., Vaughan, J.P., Barros, F.C. et al. (2000) 'Explaining trends in inequities: evidence from Brazilian child health studies' *The Lancet* 356(9235): 1093–1098.
- VoA Voice of America (2017) 'Europe's Roma do not have equal education'. Online article. VoA, 21 November (https://learningenglish.voanews.com/a/europes-roma-still-struggle-to-get-good-education/4108678.html).
- Vu, T.M. and Yamada, H. (2018) 'Decomposing Vietnamese gender equality in terms of wage distribution' *Pacific Economic Review* 23(5): 705–731 (https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0106.12269).
- Wagstaff, A., Bredenkamp, C. and Buisman, L.R. (2014) 'Progress on Global Health Goals: are the poor being left behind?' *World Bank Research Observer* 29:2 (137–162) (https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lku008).
- Wardrop, N.A., Jochem, W.C., Bird, T.J. et al. (2018) 'Spatially disaggregated population estimates in the absence of national population and housing census data' *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 115 (14): 3529–3537 (www.pnas.org/content/115/14/3529).
- Watkins, K. (2013) 'Leaving no one behind: an equity agenda for the post-2015 goals'. London: ODI (www.odi.org/blogs/7924-leaving-no-one-behind-equity-agenda-post-2015-goals).
- WEDO Women's Environment and Development Organization (2017) 'Funding feminist inspiration at an uninspiring HLPF'. Online article. WEDO, 4 August (https://wedo.org/finding-feminist-inspiration-uninspiring-hlpf/).
- Wehrmeister, F.C., Restrepo-Mendez, M.C., Franca, G.V. et al. (2016) 'Summary indices for monitoring universal coverage in maternal and child health care' *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 94(12): 903.
- Wignaraja, G., Tyson, J., Prizzon, A., and te Velde, D.W. (2018) *Asia in 2025: development prospects and challenges for middle-income countries*. ODI Report. London: ODI (www.odi.org/ publications/11202-asia-2025-development-prospects-and-challenges-middle-income-countries).
- Wilby, P. (2007) 'A new revolutionary slogan'. New Statesman, 18 October (www.newstatesman.com/ uk-politics/2007/10/poor-families-brown-children).
- Wirth, M., Sacks, E., Delamonica, E. et al. (2008) "Delivering" on the MDGs? Equity and maternal health in Ghana, Ethiopia and Kenya' *East African Journal of Public Health* 5(3): 133.
- Witter, S., Khadka, S., Nath, H. and Tiwari, S. (2011) 'The national free delivery policy in Nepal: early evidence of its effects on health facilities' *Health policy and planning* 26(suppl\_2): ii84–ii91 (https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czr066).
- World Bank (2015) A measured approach to ending poverty and boosting shared prosperity: concepts, data, and the twin goals. Policy Research Report. Washington DC: World Bank.
- World Bank (2016) Forward look: a vision for the World Bank Group in 2030. Washington DC:
   World Bank Group (https://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/545241485963738230/DC2016-0008.pdf).
- World Bank (2018) Piecing together the poverty puzzle. Poverty and shared prosperity. Washington DC: World Bank (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/30418/978146481 3306.pdf).
- World Bank (2019) 'Middle income countries overview'. Webpage. Washington DC: World Bank (www.worldbank.org/en/country/mic/overview).
- World Bank (2020a) Poverty and distributional impacts of COVID-19: potential channels of impact and mitigating policies. Washington DC: World Bank (http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/ en/980491587133615932/Poverty-and-distributional-impacts-of-COVID-19-and-policy-options.pdf).
- World Bank (2020b) 'Poverty'. Webpage. Washington DC: World Bank (www.worldbank.org/en/topic/poverty/overview).

- World Bank (2020c) *Gender dimensions of the Covid-19 pandemic*. Washington DC: World Bank (https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/33622/Gender-Dimensions-of- the-COVID-19-Pandemic.pdf?sequence=1).
- World Bank (2020d) 'World development indicators'. Washington DC: World Bank (https://databank.worldbank.org/reports.aspx?source=World-Development-Indicators).
- World Bank (2020e) *High-frequency monitoring systems to track the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic*. Washington DC: World Bank (www.worldbank.org/en/topic/poverty/brief/ high-frequency-monitoring-surveys).
- WHO World Health Organization (2019) *Primary health care on the road to universal health coverage 2019 monitoring report*. Geneva: WHO (www.who.int/healthinfo/universal\_health\_coverage/report/uhc\_report\_2019. pdf?ua=1).
- WHO (2020) 'Composite coverage index (%)'. Geneva: WHO (www.who.int/data/gho/data/ indicators/indicator-details/GHO/composite-coverage-index-(-)).
- World Vision International (2019) *Putting people at the centre of the data revolution: the case for citizen generated data for SDG accountability*. Working Paper. World Vision International (www.wvi.org/ publications/case-study/social-accountability/case-citizen-generated-data-sdg-accountability).
- Zubairi, A. and Rose, P. (2015) 'Raising domestic resources for equitable education'. Background paper prepared for the International Commission on Financing Global Education. Cambridge: Research for Equitable Access and Learning (REAL) Centre, University of Cambridge (www.educationequity2030.org/resources-2/2017/3/23/raising-domestic-resources-for-equitableeducation#:~:text=Raising%20Domestic%20Resources%20for%20Equitable%20Education%20 This%20paper,in%20education%20requires%20attention%20not%20only%20to%20the).



ODI is an independent, global think tank, working for a sustainable and peaceful world in which every person thrives. We harness the power of evidence and ideas through research and partnership to confront challenges, develop solutions, and create change.

**ODI** 203 Blackfriars Road London SE1 8NJ

+44 (0)20 7922 0300 info@odi.org

odi.org odi.org/facebook odi.org/twitter